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This Official Statement does not constitute an offering of any security other than the original offering of the
Series 2020 Bonds identified on the cover. No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the
Issuer to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Official Statement and,
if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the
Issuer. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, and there shall
not be any sale of the Series 2020 Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make such offer,
solicitation or sale.
Except where otherwise indicated, all information contained in this Official Statement has been provided by
the Issuer. Information in this Official Statement has been obtained by the Issuer from sources believed to be reliable.
The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this
Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has
been no change in the affairs of the Issuer since the date hereof.
Upon execution and delivery, the Series 2020 Bonds will not be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or any state securities law and will not be listed on any stock or other securities exchange, and no indenture
will be qualified with respect to the Series 2020 Bonds under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. Neither the
United States Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other federal, state or other governmental entity or agency
will have passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Official Statement or approved the Series 2020 Bonds for sale.
Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
First Tryon Advisors (the “Financial Advisor”) is not obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken to make,
an independent verification or to assume responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the information
contained in this Official Statement and the Appendices thereto. The Financial Advisor is an independent advisory firm
and is not engaged in the business of underwriting, trading or distributing municipal or other public securities.
U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, Registrar and Paying Agent (as such terms are defined herein),
has not provided, or undertaken to determine the accuracy of, any of the information contained in this Official
Statement and makes no representation or warranty, express or implied, as to (i) the accuracy or completeness of such
information, (ii) the validity of the Series 2020 Bonds, or (iii) the tax-exempt status of the interest on the Series 2020C
Bonds.
For purposes of compliance with Rule 15c2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission,
as amended (“Rule 15c2-12”), and in effect on the date hereof, this Preliminary Official Statement constitutes an
official statement of the Issuer that has been deemed final by the Issuer as of its date except for the omission of no
more than the information permitted by Rule 15c2-12.
No quotations or summaries or explanation of provisions of law and documents herein purport to be complete,
and reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete statements of their provisions. This Official
Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the Issuer and the purchasers or owners of the
Series 2020 Bonds. Any statements made in this Official Statement involving estimates or matters of opinion, whether
or not expressly so stated, are intended merely as estimates or opinions and not as representations of fact. The cover
pages hereof and the Appendices attached hereto are part of this Official Statement.
The information in the section “THE SERIES 2020 BONDS – Book-Entry Only System” herein has been
obtained from The Depository Trust Company, and no representation is made by the Issuer as to the completeness
or accuracy of such information.
References herein to laws, rules, regulations, resolutions, agreements, reports, and other documents do not
purport to be comprehensive or definitive. All references to such documents are qualified in their entirety by reference
to the particular document, the full text of which may contain qualifications of and exceptions to statements made
herein. Where full texts have not been included as appendices to this Official Statement, they will be furnished on
request.

References to website addresses presented herein are for informational purposes only and may be in the
form of a hyperlink solely for the reader’s convenience. Unless specified otherwise, such web sites and the
information or links contained therein are not incorporated into, and are not part of, this Official Statement for
purposes of, and as that term is defined in, Rule 15c2-12.
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information
This Official Statement contains forecasts, projections and estimates that are based on current expectations
but are not intended as representations of fact or guarantees of results. If and when included in this Official
Statement, the words “expects,” “forecasts,” “projects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “estimates, “budgets” and
analogous expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements as defined in the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and any such statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, which could cause
actual results to differ materially from those contemplated in such forward-looking statements. These forwardlooking statements speak only as of the date of this Official Statement. The Issuer disclaims any obligation or
undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect
any change in the Issuer’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions, or circumstances on
which any such statement is based.
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SUMMARY STATEMENT
The following Summary Statement is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information and financial
statements contained elsewhere in this Official Statement and the Appendices hereto (collectively, the “Official
Statement”). Unless otherwise defined in this Summary Statement, all capitalized terms used in this Summary Statement
shall have the meanings ascribed to them elsewhere in the Official Statement and in “Appendix B – Summary of
Certain Provisions of the Bond Resolution.” The offering of the Series 2020 Bonds to potential investors is made only
by means of this entire Official Statement, and no person is authorized to detach this Summary Statement from the
Official Statement or to otherwise use it without the entire Official Statement.
The Issuer

Renewable Water Resources, a special purpose district and political subdivision of the State of
South Carolina, formerly known as Western Carolina Regional Sewer Authority (the
“Issuer”), provides sewer transportation (trunk line) and wastewater treatment service
throughout much of Greenville County and portions of Anderson, Laurens, Pickens and
Spartanburg Counties, comprising a part of the Greenville Metropolitan Statistical Area
(“Greenville MSA”). The Issuer also provides wastewater collection service to 1,253 direct
retail customers in northern Greenville County and northeastern Anderson County. The
Greenville MSA is a business center for a large section of the State of South Carolina. See
“THE ISSUER” and “Appendix A – Economic and Demographic Data for Greenville County”
herein.

The Series 2020 Bonds The $22,775,000* Renewable Water Resources, South Carolina, Sewer System Refunding
Revenue Bonds, Series 2020C (the “Series 2020C Bonds”) and the $23,945,000* Renewable
Water Resources, South Carolina, Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020D
(Federally Taxable) (the “Series 2020D Bonds,” and together with the Series 2020C Bonds,
the “Series 2020 Bonds”) are being issued by the Issuer, initially in book-entry only form, in
principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. See “THE SERIES 2020
BONDS” herein.
Dated Date and Date
of Delivery of Series
2020 Bonds

The Series 2020 Bonds will be initially dated their date of delivery, and will bear interest from
such date. It is expected that the Series 2020 Bonds will be available for delivery through the
facilities of The Depository Trust Company in New York, New York on or about October 6,
2020.

Interest Payments

Interest on the Series 2020 Bonds (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day
months) will be payable at the rates set forth on the inside front cover page hereof on each
January 1 and July 1, commencing January 1, 2021, through maturity.

Maturities

The Series 2020C Bonds mature serially on January 1, 2022 through 2031, as indicated on the
inside front cover page hereof. The Series 2020D Bonds mature serially on January 1, 2021
through 2024, as indicated on the inside front cover page hereof.

Redemption

The Series 2020 Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.

Purpose of the Issue

The Series 2020 Bonds are being issued to (i) refund the Refunded Bonds (as such term is
defined herein), and (ii) pay the costs and expenses of issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds. See
“PLAN OF REFUNDING” and “SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” herein.

Security

The Series 2020 Bonds, including interest thereon, are payable solely from, and secured by a
pledge and lien on, that portion of the Gross Revenues of the System as shall remain after the

*
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payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses (as such terms are defined herein), which
pledge and lien is junior and subordinate to the pledge and lien securing the Issuer’s Senior
Lien Bonds (as defined herein) and on a parity with the pledge and lien securing the Issuer’s
Parity Bonds (as defined herein) which will remain outstanding after the issuance of the Series
2020 Bonds. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and “FINANCIAL FACTORS” herein.
Tax Status of Interest
on the Series 2020
Bonds

In the opinion of Pope Flynn, LLC, Bond Counsel to the Issuer, under existing law, assuming
continuing compliance by the Issuer with certain covenants and the accuracy of certain
representations, interest on the Series 2020C Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal
income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative
minimum tax. Interest on the Series 2020D Bonds is not excluded from gross income for
federal income tax purposes. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the Series 2020 Bonds and the
interest thereon are exempt from all State, county, municipal, school district, and other taxes
and assessments imposed within the State of South Carolina, except estate, transfer, and
certain franchise taxes. See “TAX MATTERS” herein for a description of these and other tax
considerations.

Professionals Involved
in the Offering

Pope Flynn, LLC, Columbia, South Carolina, is serving as Bond Counsel to the Issuer. Pope
Flynn, LLC is also serving as Disclosure Counsel to the Issuer in connection with the offer and
sale of the Series 2020 Bonds. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Issuer by
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough, LLP, Greenville, South Carolina. First Tryon Advisors
serves as Financial Advisor to the Issuer. U.S. Bank National Association is serving as
Trustee, Paying Agent and Registrar (as such terms are defined herein).

Authorization

The Series 2020 Bonds are being issued pursuant to the provisions of Article X, Section
14(10) of the South Carolina Constitution, Title 6, Chapter 17 of the Code of Laws of South
Carolina 1976, as amended, and other applicable law, and resolutions adopted by the
Commission of the Issuer. See “AUTHORIZATION AND PURPOSE OF THE SERIES 2020
BONDS – Authorization” herein.

Continuing Disclosure

The Issuer has undertaken, pursuant to a covenant to comply with Rule 15c2-12 promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, for the benefit of holders of the Series
2020 Bonds, to provide certain financial information and operating data relating to the Issuer
by not later than seven months after the end of each fiscal year, commencing with the report
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 (the “Annual Information”), and to provide
notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events, if deemed by the Issuer to be
significant. The Annual Information will be filed by or on behalf of the Issuer with the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) through its Electronic Municipal Market
Access (“EMMA”) system (and with the State Information Depository, if any, established by
the State of South Carolina). The notices of such material events will be filed by or on behalf
of the Issuer with the MSRB (and with such State Information Depository, if any). These
covenants have been made in order to assist the original purchaser of the Series 2020 Bonds in
complying with United States Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) (the
“Rule”). The nature of the information to be provided in the Annual Information and the
notices of certain significant events is set forth under the caption “CONTINUING
DISCLOSURE” herein.

General

This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information contained herein is
subject to change. Copies of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement will
be deposited with the MSRB, and will be available through the EMMA system at
www.emma.msrb.org.
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RENEWABLE WATER RESOURCES, SOUTH CAROLINA
SEWER SYSTEM REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS
$22,775,000* SERIES 2020C
*
$23,945,000 SERIES 2020D (FEDERALLY TAXABLE)
INTRODUCTION
This Official Statement of the Renewable Water Resources, a special purpose district and political subdivision
of the State of South Carolina, formerly known as Western Carolina Regional Sewer Authority (the “Issuer”), which
includes the cover pages hereof and the Appendices hereto, provides information relating to the Issuer and its
$22,775,000* Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020C (the “Series 2020C Bonds”) and its
$23,945,000* Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020D (Federally Taxable) (the “Series 2020D Bonds,”
and together with the Series 2020C Bonds, the “Series 2020 Bonds”). The Series 2020 Bonds, the Parity Bonds and
any Additional Bonds (as such terms are hereinafter defined) are referred to herein collectively as the “Bonds.”
Included in this Official Statement are brief descriptions of the Series 2020 Bonds and the security therefor, the Issuer,
the sewer transportation and wastewater treatment system of the Issuer (the “System”) and the resolutions pursuant to
which the Series 2020 Bonds are authorized by the Issuer. Also included is certain financial information relating to the
Issuer. All summaries of documents herein are qualified by reference to such documents in their entirety.
AUTHORIZATION AND PURPOSE OF THE SERIES 2020 BONDS
Authorization
The Series 2020 Bonds are issued pursuant to Article X, Section 14(10) of the South Carolina Constitution,
Title 6, Chapter 17 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Enabling Act”), and other applicable
law, a bond resolution adopted by the Renewable Water Resources Commission, the governing body of the Issuer (the
“Commission”) on June 14, 2010 (the “Bond Resolution”) and a series resolution adopted by the Commission on July
27, 2020 (the “Series Resolution,” which together with the Bond Resolution, will be referred to herein as the
“Resolution”).
Purpose
The Series 2020C Bonds are being issued to provide funds to be applied, together with other moneys of the
Issuer, to (a) refund the Issuer’s: (i) outstanding principal amount of the $19,571,443 final principal amount Sewer
System Revenue Bond, Series 2005A (Lower Reedy WWTP Expansion II Project) (the “2005A Bond”); (ii)
outstanding principal amount of the $27,800,000 final principal amount Sewer System Revenue Bond, Series 2006
(Durbin Creek WWTP Upgrade and Expansion Project) (the “2006 Bond”); (iii) outstanding principal amount of
the $2,850,550 final principal amount Sewer System Revenue Bond, Series 2009A (Gravity Sewer and Manhole
Rehabilitation – Phase 1 Project) (the “2009A Bond”); (iv) outstanding principal amount of the $2,509,938 final
principal amount Sewer System Revenue Bond, Series 2009B (Gravity Sewer and Manhole Rehabilitation – Phase
2) (the “2009B Bond”); and (v) outstanding principal amount of the $26,800,000 original principal amount Taxable
Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2010B (Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds), dated December 7,
2010 (the “2010B Bonds”); and (b) pay the costs and expenses of issuance of the Series 2020C Bonds.
The Series 2020D Bonds are being issued to provide funds to be applied, together with other moneys of the
Issuer, to (a) advance refund the callable principal amount of the $71,395,000 original principal amount Sewer
System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2012 (the “2012 Bonds”) maturing after January 1, 2022 (the “Refunded
2012 Bonds,” and together with the 2005A Bond, the 2006 Bond, the 2009A Bond, the 2009B Bond and the 2010B
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Bonds, the “Refunded Bonds”); and (b) pay the costs and expenses of issuance of the Series 2020D Bonds. See
“PLAN OF REFUNDING” and “SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” herein.
THE SERIES 2020 BONDS
Form and Denomination
The Series 2020 Bonds will be dated their date of delivery and will mature and bear interest in the amounts
and at the rates (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) set forth on the inside front cover
page of this Official Statement. Interest on the Series 2020 Bonds will be payable at the rates set forth on the inside
front cover page of this Official Statement on each January 1 and July 1, commencing January 1, 2021, until maturity.
The Series 2020 Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds in the denomination of $5,000 or integral multiples
thereof, not exceeding the principal amount of the Series 2020 Bonds maturing in each year and each will be registered
in the name of the holder (the “Holder”) as set forth on the registry book maintained at the designated corporate trust
office of U.S. Bank National Association, as registrar (in such capacity, the “Registrar”). The Series 2020 Bonds
initially will be held in a book-entry only system administered by The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York
(“DTC”), whose nominee, Cede & Co., will be the initial Holder of the Series 2020 Bonds. Principal of and redemption
premium, if any, and interest on, the Series 2020 Bonds held in book-entry form shall be payable as described herein
under the heading “THE SERIES 2020 BONDS – Book-Entry Only System.”
Should the Series 2020 Bonds no longer be held in book-entry only form, interest will be paid by check of U.S.
Bank National Association, as paying agent (in such capacity, the “Paying Agent”), mailed to each owner of the Series
2020 Bonds at the address shown on the registry book maintained by the Registrar on the fifteenth day of the calendar
month next preceding each interest payment date (each a “Record Date”) or, upon request of any Holder of $1,000,000
or more in aggregate principal amount of Series 2020 Bonds, by wire transfer to an account specified in such request.
Principal on Series 2020 Bonds not held in book-entry only form will be payable at the corporate office of the
Registrar.
Redemption
The Series 2020 Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.
Registration and Transfer Provisions
Series 2020 Bonds Subject to the Book-Entry Only System. For so long as DTC acts as securities depository for
the Series 2020 Bonds, the registration and transfer of ownership interests in Series 2020 Bonds shall be accomplished by
book entries made by DTC and the Participants and, where appropriate, the Indirect Participants, as described herein
under the heading “THE SERIES 2020 BONDS – Book-Entry Only System.”
Series 2020 Bonds Not Subject to Book-Entry Only System
Should the Series 2020 Bonds no longer be held in book-entry-only form, each Series 2020 Bond may be
registered only upon the registration books of the Issuer kept for that purpose by the Holder thereof in person or by his
duly authorized attorney upon surrender thereof and an assignment with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to
the Trustee, duly executed by the Holder or his duly authorized attorney. Upon the transfer of any such registered Series
2020 Bond, the Issuer shall cause to be issued, in the name of the transferee, a new registered Series 2020 Bond of the
same aggregate principal amount as the unpaid principal amount of the surrendered Series 2020 Bond. There shall be
no charge to the Holder for such exchange or transfer of Series 2020 Bond except that the Trustee may make a charge
sufficient to reimburse it for any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or
transfer. Neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall be required to register, transfer or exchange Series 2020 Bond after the
Record Date until the subsequent bond payment date or after the mailing of any notice of redemption, or to register,
transfer or exchange any Series 2020 Bond called for redemption.
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The Issuer and the Trustee may deem and treat the person in whose name any Series 2020 Bond shall be
registered upon the registration books of the Issuer as the absolute owner of such Series 2020 Bond, whether such
Series 2020 Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal of,
premium (if any) and interest on such Series 2020 Bond and for all other purposes, and all such payments so made to
any such Holder or, upon his order, shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Series
2020 Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid, and neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall be affected by any
notice to the contrary.
Book-Entry Only System
DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2020 Bonds. The Series 2020 Bonds will be issued as
fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Series 2020 Bond in the aggregate
principal amount of each series and maturity of the Series 2020 Bonds will be deposited with DTC.
DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the
New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of
the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial
Code and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues,
corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s
participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct
Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized bookentry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement
of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks,
trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities
Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations that clear
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (the “Indirect
Participants”). DTC has a rating of AA+ from S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc. (“S&P”). The
DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More
information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.
Purchases of the Series 2020 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants,
which will receive a credit for the Series 2020 Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual
purchaser of each Series 2020 Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect
Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase.
Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as
well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial
Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of beneficial ownership interests in the Series 2020 Bonds are to be
accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial
Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Series 2020
Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Series 2020 Bonds is discontinued.
To facilitate subsequent transfers, all of the Series 2020 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC
are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be requested by
an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of the Series 2020 Bonds with DTC and their registration in the
name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no
knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2020 Bonds. DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the
Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series 2020 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial

3

Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf
of their customers.
Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the bonds within an issue are being redeemed,
DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be
redeemed.
Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Series
2020 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its usual
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus
Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series
2020 Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).
Payments of principal and premium (if any) of, and interest on the Series 2020 Bonds will be made to Cede
& Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to
credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the
Issuer or the Trustee, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.
Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices,
as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and
will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Trustee or the Issuer, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest to
Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the
responsibility of the Issuer or the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of
Direct and Indirect Participants.
DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2020 Bonds at any
time by giving reasonable notice to the Trustee or the Issuer. Under such circumstances, in the event that a
successor depository is not obtained, Series 2020 Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.
The Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry only transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, the Series 2020 Bond certificates will be printed and delivered to
DTC.
The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from
sources the Issuer believes to be reliable, but the Issuer takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.
SECURITY FOR THE BONDS
Pledge of Revenues
All Bonds shall be payable solely from, and secured by, a pledge of that portion of the Gross Revenues
(hereinafter defined) of the System as remain after the payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses (as defined
in Appendix B), which pledge and lien is junior and subordinate in all respects to the pledge and lien on Gross
Revenues securing the Issuer’s outstanding Senior Lien Bonds (as hereinafter defined), which will remain outstanding
after the issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds. Such pledge and lien securing the Bonds shall at all times and in all
respects be on a parity with the pledges and liens made to secure the Series 2020 Bonds, the Parity Bonds and any
Additional Bonds, but shall be and remain superior to pledges and liens made to secure any Junior Lien Bonds (as
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defined in Appendix B), other bonds or other obligations payable from the revenues of the System. The Issuer has
agreed in the Bond Resolution to issue no additional obligations prior to or on a parity with the Senior Lien Bonds. See
“FINANCIAL FACTORS – Outstanding Bonds and Other Obligations of the System.” THE SERIES 2020 BONDS
WILL NOT CONSTITUTE A GENERAL OBLIGATION OF THE ISSUER AND NEITHER THE FULL
FAITH, THE CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE ISSUER, THE STATE OF SOUTH
CAROLINA NOR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE PLEDGED
THERETO.
“Gross Revenues” is defined by the Bond Resolution as (a) all receipts and revenues (except customers’
deposits) derived from the operation of the System including, without limiting the foregoing, service fees (tap-in fees,
connection fees, availability fees and impact fees); (b) all proceeds from the sale or other disposition of any property
owned directly or beneficially by the Issuer in connection with the operation of the System; (c) all interest and other
income received directly or indirectly from the investment of any moneys or accounts relating to the System; excluding,
however, investment income restricted to a purpose inconsistent with the payment of operating expenses or debt
service, and specifically excluding (whether or not so restricted) interest earned on any construction fund or
construction account created with the proceeds of Bonds; and (d) all other unencumbered money to which the System
may become entitled from any source whatsoever, but specifically excluding government grants and
aids-to-construction.
Rate Covenant
In the Bond Resolution, the Issuer covenants and agrees that it will, at all times, prescribe and maintain and
thereafter collect rates and charges for the services and facilities furnished by the System which, together with other
income, are reasonably expected to yield annual Net Earnings (as defined in Appendix B) in each fiscal year equal to at
least 110% of the Combined Annual Principal and Interest Requirement (as defined in Appendix B) on all Bonds and
Senior Lien Bonds outstanding in such fiscal year; and, promptly upon any material change in the circumstances which
were contemplated at the time such rates and charges were most recently reviewed, but not less frequently than once in
each fiscal year, shall review the rates and charges for its services and shall promptly revise such rates and charges as
necessary to comply with the foregoing requirement. Prior to the beginning of each fiscal year, the Issuer shall adopt an
annual budget including amended rate schedules, if any, for such fiscal year which shall set forth in reasonable detail
the estimated revenues and operating and capital expenses of the System for such fiscal year. The Issuer may at any
time adopt an amended budget for the remainder of the then current fiscal year.
The Issuer further covenants and agrees in the Resolution to maintain rates and charges for all services
furnished by the System which shall at all times be sufficient: (a) to provide for the punctual payment of the principal of
and interest on all Senior Lien Bonds, all outstanding Bonds and all Junior Lien Bonds that may from time to time be
outstanding; (b) to maintain each Debt Service Fund (as defined in Appendix B) and thus provide for the punctual
payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds; (c) to provide for the payment of the Operation and Maintenance
Expenses; (d) to maintain each required Debt Service Reserve Fund (as defined in Appendix B) in the manner
prescribed by the Resolution and each debt service reserve fund established with respect to any Senior Lien Bond in the
manner required under the Senior Bond Resolution (as defined in Appendix B); (e) to build and maintain the System,
allowing for contingencies, and for improvements and extensions to the System, other than Operation and Maintenance
Expenses; (f) to pay all amounts owing under any reimbursement agreement with any Credit Facility Issuer or in
respect of any Liquidity Facility to any Liquidity Facility Issuer or in connection with any DSRF Funding Instrument
(as such terms are defined in Appendix B); (g) to pay all Financial Swap Payments (as defined in Appendix B); and (h)
to discharge all obligations imposed by the Enabling Act and by the Bond Resolution.
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Additional Bonds
The Bond Resolution provides for the issuance from time to time of additional bonds on a parity in all respects
as to the pledge of and lien on the portion of Gross Revenues pledged to secure the Parity Bonds and the Series 2020
Bonds (the “Additional Bonds”), as more specifically described under the caption “Additional Bonds and Other
Obligations” in Appendix B hereto.
All Additional Bonds shall be issued in compliance with the following provisions:
Either (a) Net Earnings during the most recent fiscal year for which audited financial statements of the
Issuer are completed, as certified by the Chief Financial Officer, the Certified Public Accountants, the Consulting
Engineers or the Financial Consultants (as such terms are defined in Appendix B), as the same may be adjusted to
reflect (i) any rate increases currently adopted and to be in effect prior to or coincident with the issuance of such
Bonds and determined pro forma as though such rate increases had been in continuous effect during such preceding
fiscal year, (ii) 100% of the estimated Net Earnings, as certified by the Chief Financial Officer, the Certified Public
Accountants, the Consulting Engineers or the Financial Consultant, to be received from a system or facilities to be
acquired by the proceeds of such proposed Series of Bonds and which are then in existence and whose customers
are currently or will become customers of the System as of the third anniversary of the date of issuance of the
proposed Series of Bonds, (iii) 80% of the estimated Net Earnings, as certified by the Chief Financial Officer, the
Certified Public Accountants, the Consulting Engineers or the Financial Consultant, to be received from a new
system or facilities to be constructed with the proceeds of such proposed Series of Bonds and which are to become a
part of the System as of the third anniversary of the date of issuance of the proposed Series of Bonds, and (iv)
amounts, less sums charged to defray operational and maintenance costs, expected to be received in the first fiscal
year following the completion of any project being financed from long-term contracts which extend for the life of
such proposed Series of Bonds and which will be executed upon or prior to the issuance of such proposed Series of
Bonds (the adjustments referred to in clause (i) through (iv) above, the “Permitted Adjustments”), shall be not less
than 110% of the maximum Combined Annual Principal and Interest Requirements on all Bonds Outstanding and
Senior Lien Bonds outstanding (within the meaning of the Senior Lien Bond Resolution) and on such proposed
Series of Bonds; or
(b) (i) Net Earnings, as the same may be adjusted by any of the Permitted Adjustments and to reflect, for
the applicable portion of the forecast period referred to in clause (ii) below, any rate increases currently adopted and
to be in effect during any portion of such forecast period, (i) during the most recent fiscal year for which audited
financial statements of the Issuer are completed, as certified by the Chief Financial Officer, the Certified Public
Accountants, the Consulting Engineers or the Financial Consultant, shall be not less than 110% of the Combined
Annual Principal and Interest Requirements during such fiscal year on all Bonds Outstanding and Senior Lien
Bonds outstanding (within the meaning of the Senior Lien Bond Resolution); and (ii) for each of the three fiscal
years following the later of the date of the delivery of the Bonds of such proposed Series, or the period (if any) for
which interest is funded from the proceeds of such Bonds, Net Earnings, as shall have been forecasted by the
Accountants, the Consulting Engineers or the Feasibility Consultants, will be not less than 110% of the Combined
Annual Principal and Interest Requirements on all Bonds then proposed to be Outstanding and Senior Lien Bonds
outstanding (within the meaning of the Senior Lien Bond Resolution), in each of such three fiscal years.
Whenever subsections (a) or (b) above require a certification for the most recent fiscal year for which
audited financial statements are completed, the Issuer may, in its discretion, provide for a special audit and a
certification based upon such special audit, in lieu of the audit for such fiscal year, provided such special audit
covers 12 consecutive calendar months of the 18 full consecutive calendar months preceding the date of issuance of
the proposed Series of Bonds.
In the case of Additional Bonds issued for the purpose of refunding any Bonds or Senior Lien Bonds either:
(1) the Annual Principal and Interest Requirement of the refunding Bonds shall not exceed the Annual Principal and
Interest Requirement of the refunded Bonds or Senior Lien Bonds, as the case may be, until a time subsequent to the
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last maturity of Bonds not refunded and which remain outstanding following the issuance of the refunding Bonds, or
(2) the Issuer shall comply with one of the earnings tests described in the preceding paragraphs.
For further description of the foregoing provisions, see “– Additional Bonds and Other Obligations” in
Appendix B hereto.
Junior Lien Bonds and Special Facilities Bonds
The Bond Resolution provides that the Issuer may from time to time issue Special Facilities Bonds (as defined
in Appendix B) and Junior Lien Bonds on the terms and conditions set forth therein. See Appendix B under the caption
“– Additional Bonds and Other Obligations.”
Flow of Funds
The Gross Revenues of the System except customers’ deposits and that money the disposition of which is
controlled by other provisions of the Bond Resolution are declared in the Bond Resolution to be a part of the
General Revenue Fund and shall from time to time be promptly deposited in a bank or depositary in an account
which will reflect the fact that they are a part of the General Revenue Fund. Dispositions from the General Revenue
Fund shall be made in the following order of priority.
Payments for Senior Lien Bonds
Until such time as no Senior Lien Bond shall remain outstanding within the meaning of the Senior Bond
Resolution, provision shall first be made for the payment of principal of and interest on the Senior Lien Bonds in the
manner provided in the Senior Bond Resolution.
Deposits for Operation and Maintenance Fund
There shall be deposited monthly in the Operation and Maintenance Fund the monthly portion of the
annual amount budgeted to pay Operation and Maintenance Expenses for the ensuing month and any amount
determined for an operational reserve, and there shall be paid from the Operation and Maintenance Fund the current
month’s Operation and Maintenance Expenses.
Other Senior Bond Resolution Payments
Until such time as no Senior Lien Bonds shall remain outstanding within the meaning of the Senior Bond
Resolution, provision shall be made for (a) first, the replenishment of each debt service reserve fund established for
the Senior Lien Bonds in the manner provided in the Senior Bond Resolution, (b) second, the funding of the
depreciation and contingent fund established pursuant to the Senior Bond Resolution, in the manner provided in the
Senior Bond Resolution, and (c) third, in the manner provided in the Senior Bond Resolution, the reimbursement of
interest on amounts advanced by the provider of any surety bond, line of credit or letter of credit as contemplated in
the Senior Bond Resolution.
Payments for Bonds and Related Amounts
Provision shall then be made for the payment of the principal of and interest on all Bonds then Outstanding
and the other amounts referred to in the Bond Resolution, all without priority of any Bonds or such other obligations
over others but ratably as to each Series of Bonds and such other obligations. With regard to the Bonds, and except
as may be provided in paragraph (d) below:
(a)
There shall be deposited into the respective Debt Service Funds to be maintained by the Trustee
the monthly fraction of the aggregate amount of interest to become due on the respective Series of Bonds on the
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next ensuing interest payment date; provided, however, that (i) if provision has been made for the payment of all or
part of the next installment of interest to become due on any particular Series of Bonds, pursuant to any other
provision of the Bond Resolution, or any Series Resolution (as defined in Appendix B), or by reason of investment
earnings, then, in such event, the deposits required by this paragraph may be omitted, or reduced accordingly; and
(ii) with respect to any Series of Bonds constituting Variable Rate Bonds (as defined in Appendix B), each monthly
deposit into the applicable Debt Service Fund shall be determined by assuming that the variable interest rate most
recently in effect with respect to such Variable Rate Bonds shall continue in effect to the next ensuing interest
payment date on such Variable Rate Bonds, or by such other means (if any) that may be set forth in the Series
Resolution applicable to such Series of Variable Rate Bonds.
(b)
There shall be deposited into the respective Debt Service Funds the monthly fraction of the
aggregate amount of principal of the respective Series of Bonds becoming due and payable on the next ensuing
principal maturity date (whether at stated maturity or by sinking fund installments), so that on each principal
maturity date the amount of principal to be paid shall have been accumulated and be on hand; provided, however,
that if provision has been made for the payment of all or part of the next installment of principal to become due on a
Series of Bonds, pursuant to any other provision of the Bond Resolution, or any Series Resolution, or by reason of
investment earnings, then, in such event, the deposits required by this paragraph with respect to such Series may be
omitted, or reduced accordingly.
(c)
If, on the occasion when the deposits required by paragraphs (a) and (b) above are to be made, (i)
the sum total of the deposits required thereby plus previous monthly deposits and the remaining deposits to be made
prior to the next succeeding principal and interest payment dates will be less than the sum required to effect the
payment of the next succeeding installment of either principal or interest, or both, as the case may be, a sum equal to
such deficiency shall be added to the deposits so to be made, and (ii) the sum total of the deposits required thereby
plus previous monthly deposits and the remaining deposits to be made prior to the next succeeding principal and
interest payment dates (taking into account, with respect to deposits relating to Variable Rate Bonds, the interest rate
assumption applicable at the time of such monthly deposit) will be greater than the sum required to effect the
payment of the next succeeding installment of either principal or interest, or both, as the case may be, the Issuer
shall be entitled to a credit in making such monthly deposits in the amount of such excess to be applied against such
monthly deposit requirements in forward chronological order.
(d)
Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) above, in lieu of the requirements of
said paragraphs, a Series Resolution may provide for a different periodic funding mechanism of the applicable Debt
Service Fund with regard to the payment of principal of and interest on a particular Series of Bonds. In such event,
deposits shall be made to such Debt Service Fund at the times and in the amounts prescribed by such Series
Resolution.
(e)
There shall be paid from the General Revenue Fund to any Credit Facility Issuer and Liquidity
Facility Issuer amounts necessary to reimburse such entities for payments made in respect of the Bonds, as such
amounts are determined.
(f)
There shall be paid from the General Revenue Fund to any Financial Swap Counterparty in
respect of a Secured Financial Swap Agreement (as such terms are defined in Appendix B) amounts owing to such
persons in respect of Financial Swap Payments, as such amounts are determined.
Debt Service Reserve Funds
A Series Resolution may (but is not required to) provide for the establishment of a Debt Service Reserve
Fund with the Trustee for the benefit of any Series of Bonds outstanding. Each such Debt Service Reserve Fund
shall, subject to the other provisions of the Bond Resolution, be maintained in an amount equal to the applicable
Reserve Requirement for a particular Series of Bonds, as determined pursuant to the Series Resolution. Each such
fund is intended to insure the timely payment of principal of and interest on only the applicable Series of Bonds.
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The Bond Resolution makes provision for the period of time over which any deficiency in a Debt Service Reserve
Fund shall be funded in order to replenish amounts on deposit therein to the applicable Reserve Requirement.
No Debt Service Reserve Fund will be established for the benefit of the Series 2020 Bonds.
Reimbursement of Interest on Amounts Advanced for Debt Service Reserve Fund
Provision shall then be made for payment of interest on amounts advanced by the provider of any DSRF
Funding Instrument.
Payment for Junior Lien Bonds
Provision shall then be made for the payment of any other indebtedness which is junior and subordinate to
the Bonds in the order of priority contemplated by the proceedings authorizing their issuance.
Use of Surplus Money
All money remaining after making the foregoing payments, shall be disposed of for any lawful purpose in
such manner as the Issuer shall from time to time determine.
For a further description of the foregoing provisions and the funds and accounts created pursuant to the Bond
Resolution and the Senior Bond Resolution, see Appendix B under the captions “Establishment and Flow of FundsBond Resolution” and “Flow of Funds-Senior Bond Resolution,” respectively.
PLAN OF REFUNDING
The Series 2020C Bonds are being issued to provide funds to be applied, together with other moneys of the
Issuer, to refund the 2005A Bond, 2006 Bond, 2009A Bond, 2009B Bond and 2010B Bonds and to pay certain costs
and expenses of issuance of the Series 2020C Bonds. The Series 2020D Bonds are being issued to provide funds to be
applied, together with other moneys of the Issuer, to advance refund the Refunded 2012 Bonds and to pay costs of
issuance of the Series 2020D Bonds. The Issuer has determined that a substantial savings can be achieved through the
refunding of the Refunded Bonds.
In order to accomplish the refunding of the 2010B Bonds and the Refunded 2012 Bonds, a portion of the
proceeds from the sale of Series 2020 Bonds, together with other moneys of the Issuer, will be deposited into escrow
funds (the “Escrow Funds”) held by U.S. Bank National Association, as escrow agent (the “Escrow Agent”), pursuant
to an Escrow Deposit Agreement between the Issuer and the Escrow Agent (the “Escrow Deposit Agreement”). The
amounts so deposited will be invested in United States Treasury securities (the “Defeasance Obligations”), the
maturing principal of and interest on which will provide funds sufficient to pay, when and as due, the principal of,
redemption premium and interest on the 2010B Bonds and the Refunded 2012 Bonds to their respective redemption
dates. See “VERIFICATION OF ARITHMETIC AND MATHEMATICAL ACCURACY OF ESCROW” herein for
information regarding verification of the accuracy and sufficiency of the amounts deposited into the Escrow Funds.
The Defeasance Obligations will be irrevocably pledged under the Escrow Deposit Agreement to the payment
when and as due of the principal of, redemption premium and interest on the 2010B Bonds and the Refunded 2012
Bonds and will not be available to pay principal of and interest on Series 2020 Bonds.
The 2005A Bond, the 2006 Bond, the 2009A Bond and the 2009B Bond were purchased by the South
Carolina Water Quality Revolving Fund Authority (the “Authority”), and are currently held by the Authority as
borrowings from the South Carolina Water Pollution Control Revolving Fund (the “SRF”). In order to effect the
refunding of the 2005A Bond, the 2006 Bond, the 2009A Bond and the 2009B Bond, a portion of the proceeds of the
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Series 2020C Bonds, together with other moneys of the Issuer, will be deposited with U.S. Bank National Association,
as Trustee, and applied on the date of delivery of the Series 2020C Bonds to the payment thereof.
The Refunded Bonds will be legally defeased upon the completion of refunding.
SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS
The following table sets forth the estimated sources and uses of funds to be derived from the sale and issuance
of the Series 2020 Bonds.
Series 2020C

Series 2020D

Sources of Funds
Principal Amount
Original Issue Premium
Issuer Moneys(1)
Total Sources
Uses of Funds
Escrow Deposit
Payment of Bonds
Issuance Expenses(2)
Total Uses
(1)
(2)

Comprises the amount on deposit in the debt service funds for the Refunded Bonds and an Issuer equity contribution.
Includes underwriting, legal and financial advisory fees, initial Trustee’s fees, rating agency fees and other costs of issuance.

FINANCIAL FACTORS
Effective July 1, 2016, the Issuer changed its fiscal year end from June 30 to December 31 to align
financial and budgeting data with operational and performance data. This change resulted in a short (six-month)
fiscal accounting period ended December 31, 2016 between the 12-month fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 and the
12-month fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. References in this Official Statement to a fiscal year followed by a
year shall mean the fiscal year ended on June 30 or December 31, as applicable, of the year stated; provided that
references to fiscal year 2016 shall mean the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 and references to “Short Year 2016”
shall mean the six-month period ended December 31, 2016.
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank]
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Summary of Revenues and Expenses
The following information has been derived from the Issuer’s audited financial statements for fiscal years
2017, 2018, and 2019. The Issuer’s financial statements for fiscal year 2019 are included as Appendix C to this Official
Statement.
Three Fiscal Years Statement of Revenues and Expenses and
Changes in Net Position
2017

2018

2019

$ 74,867,453
7,490,645
6,575,000
566,086
89,499,184

$ 78,519,523
7,889,536
9,860,000
481,012
96,750,071

$ 80,412,141
7,634,487
10,189,658
554,635
98,790,921

Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses before
depreciation
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Operating income

34,807,935
26,806,997
61,614,932
27,884,252

38,730,144
27,795,178
66,525,322
30,224,749

42,177,170
28,998,433
71,175,603
27,615,318

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment revenue
Interest expense
Amortization
Debt issuance costs
Non-project expenses
Other revenue
Net non-operating expenses

778,177
(7,031,615)
(27,131)
(297,140)
(348,064)
1,834,163
(5,091,610)

1,090,705
(6,304,478)
(27,131)
(1,286,301)
(646,783)
314,172
(6,859,816)

1,931,849
(5,593,035)
(27,131)
(182,772)
(3,153,453)
256,335
(6,768,207)

Operating Revenues
Domestic and commercial customers
Industrial customers
New account fees
Septic haulers and other
Total operating revenues

Capital Project Cost
Reimbursement(1)
Increase in Net Position
Total Net Position, Beginning of Year
Change in Accounting Principle(2)
Total Net Position, End of Year

583,747
23,376,389
314,387,753
$
337,764,142

2,011,797
25,376,730
337,764,142
(12,172,217)
$ 350,968,655

368,073
21,215,184
350,968,655
$ 372,183,839

(1)
Capital project cost reimbursements are made only when the Issuer enters into a contract with one or more entities to construct
mutual projects.
(2)
The Issuer implemented GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other
than Pensions (“GASB 75”), effective January 1, 2018. GASB 75 required the establishment of a net other post-retirement
benefits (“OPEB”) liability based upon actuarially calculated amounts representing OPEB benefits accrued by current employees
and retirees of the Issuer. As of January 1, 2018, the balance of the OPEB liability was restated from $6,138,707 to $18,556,497,
while deferred outflows from subsequent contributions to the OPEB was restated from $0 to $245,573. As a result, the
unrestricted net position for the Issuer as of January 1, 2018 was decreased by $12,172,217, from $337,764,142 to $325,591,925.
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The following sets forth summaries of revenues, expense and changes in net position of the Issuer for the sixmonth periods ended June 30, 2019 and 2020. The summaries have been compiled by the Issuer from unaudited results
of operations and have not been derived from audited financial information. Please note the following financial
information is not comparable to that presented on the previous page since certain adjustments and accruals, including
those for depreciation, amortization, post-retirement benefit liability and investment market valuation, which are only
recorded at year-end, have not been made.
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position
For the Six Months Ended June 30(1)

Operating Revenues
Domestic and commercial customers
Industrial customers
New account fees
Septic haulers and other
Total operating revenues
Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses before depreciation
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Net operating income

2019

2020

$ 39,421,730
3,804,952
4,257,825
309,259
47,793,766

$ 39,484,344
3,769,217
6,460,647
324,746
50,038,954

17,767,496
17,767,496
30,026,270

18,299,194
18,299,194
31,739,760

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment revenue
Interest expense
Amortization
Debt issuance costs
Non-project expenses
Other revenue
Net non-operating expenses

810,817
(664,712)
(182,772)
(200,998)
32,029
(205,636)

Capital Project Cost Reimbursements

14,966

2,333

$ 29,835,600

$ 30,930,189

Increase in Net Position

444,795
(642,177)
(97,488)
(545,722)
28,688
(811,904)

(1)

Excluding adjustments and accruals, including those for depreciation, amortization, post-retirement benefit liability
and investment market valuation, which are recorded at year-end.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Generally
Operating revenues increased by 10.4% from fiscal year 2017 to fiscal year 2019 primarily due to
increased customer counts, flow volumes, and new account charges. Operating revenues, consisting of domestic
and commercial accounts, industrial customers NAF (hereinafter defined), and septic hauling, totaled $89.5 million
in fiscal year and $98.8 million in fiscal year 2019.
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Operating expenses increased by 15.5% from fiscal year 2017 to 2019 primarily due to increased utility
costs, solids disposal, customer billing expense, software support, and depreciation. Operating expenses (consisting
of technical operations costs, administrative costs, and depreciation) totaled $61.6 million in fiscal year 2017 and
$71.2 million in fiscal year 2019.
Operating income decreased by less than 1% over the three-year period, totaling $27.6 million in fiscal
year 2019 as compared to $27.9 million in fiscal year 2017.
Non-operating revenue and expenses (consisting of investment earnings, interest expense of long-term
debt, and amortization of debt issuance and non-project related expenses), collectively netted to $6.8 million in
fiscal year 2019 as compared to $5.1 million in fiscal year, 2017, representing a 32.9% increase in expenses.
Net position increased 10.2% from fiscal year 2017 to fiscal year 2019 and totaled $337.8 million in fiscal
year 2017 and $372.2 million in fiscal year 2019.
Six Months Ending June 30, 2020
Operating revenues increased $2.2 million or 4.7% for the six-month period ending June 30, 2020, as
compared to the six-month period ending June 30, 2019. Domestic and commercial revenue increased
approximately $0.1 million to $39.5 million for the six-month period ending June 30, 2020, versus the same period
ending June 30, 2019. The increase in domestic and commercial revenue is primarily attributable to the addition of
the retail collection revenue stream. Additionally, there has been an increase in the number of trunk and treatment
customers, but the increases have been offset by a decrease in consumption. Industrial revenue decreased
approximately 1.0% to $3.8 million for the six-month period ending June 30, 2020, compared to the six months
ending June 30, 2019. This slight decrease is primarily due to decreases in consumption. NAF have increased $2.2
million or 51.7% for the six-month period ending June 30, 2020, compared to the same period in 2019.
Operating expense increased $0.5 million or 3.0% for the six-month period ending June 30, 2020 versus
the same period ending June 30, 2019. Approximately, $0.2 million of the increase is attributable to increases in
salaries and fringe benefits. Outside technical operations cost were $0.7 million higher for the six-months ending
June 30, 2020 versus the same period ending June 30, 2019, but well within the fiscal year 2020 budget due to
planned initiatives and labor augmentation. These increases were offset by a $0.3 million decrease in electricity
expense and $0.3 million decrease in solids disposal.
Recent Developments – COVID-19
On March 14, 2020, Governor Henry McMaster requested that all utilities in South Carolina not suspend or
disconnect any essential services for nonpayment for the duration of the current state of emergency declared by his
office due to COVID-19. See “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS – Global Health Risk” herein. Approximately
two months later, on May 13, 2020, Governor McMaster sent a letter to the Office of Regulatory Staff requesting
that providers of utility services proceed with developing and implementing plans for phasing in normal business
operations, while working with customers who need assistance to refer them to local organizations or arrange
payment plans that will avoid or minimize penalties and service interruptions.
As noted in “THE ISSUER – Billing and Collection Practices” herein, the Issuer has entered into
agreements with ten local water utilities for billing and collection functions. Many of these billing entities
suspended late-fees and service terminations for past due billing in response to the Governor’s pronouncement.
Despite such suspension, all of the Issuer’s customers are still responsible for paying their past-due amounts.
In addition to past due service fees and accrued late fees, the Issuer has incurred roughly $55,000 in other
COVID-19 related expenses for the six-month period ending June 30, 2020 and has submitted a reimbursement
request to the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) related to these expenditures.
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Budgets for Fiscal Years 2019 and 2020
The following sets forth the Issuer’s final budget for fiscal year 2019 and the current budget for
fiscal year 2020:
2019

2020

$ 80,077,234
7,882,605
8,000,000
434,289
96,394,128

$ 80,809,400
7,800,000
8,000,000
405,000
97,014,400

Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses before depreciation
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Operating income

38,515,777
28,124,545
66,640,322
29,753,806

41,590,447
28,540,120
70,130,567
26,883,833

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment revenue
Interest expense
Amortization
Debt issuance costs
Non-project expenses
Other revenue
Net non-operating expenses

560,000
(5,658,843)
(5,098,843)

1,000,000
(5,980,640)
(4,980,640)

Operating Revenues
Domestic and commercial customers
Industrial customers
New account fees
Septic haulers and other
Total operating revenues

Capital Project Cost Reimbursements
Increase in net position

-

-

$ 24,654,963

$ 21,903,193

Outstanding Bonds and Other Obligations of the System
Pursuant to State law, the Issuer may issue two forms of debt, general obligation debt (subject to the
approval of the County Councils in the Issuer’s service area) and revenue debt. The Issuer has in the past issued
general obligation debt in its own name and has assumed general obligation debt previously issued by certain sewer
subdistricts and municipalities. The Issuer currently has no general obligation debt outstanding and no present
intention to issue general obligation debt.
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Parity Bonds. Pursuant to the Bond Resolution, the Issuer has issued the following Series of Bonds
(collectively referred to herein as the “Parity Bonds”), which Parity Bonds were outstanding at June 30, 2020, in the
amounts indicated:
Original
Amount
Principal
Outstanding at
Issue Date
Amount
June 30, 2020
Parity Bonds
2005A Bond(1)
2006 Bond(1)
2009A Bond(1)
2009B Bond(1)
2010A Refunding Revenue Bonds
2010B Bonds
2012 Bonds
2015A Refunding Revenue Bond
2016A State Revolving Fund Loan(1)
2016B State Revolving Fund Loan(1)
2017A Refunding Revenue Bond
2017B State Revolving Fund Loan(1)
2017C State Revolving Fund Loan(1)
2018A Revenue Bonds
2019A State Revolving Fund Loan(1)
2019B State Revolving Fund Loan(1)
2019C State Revolving Fund Loan(1)
2020A State Revolving Fund Loan
2020B State Revolving Fund Loan
Total Outstanding

June 10, 2005
November 14, 2006
December 9, 2009
December 9, 2009
July 9, 2010
December 7, 2010
March 20, 2012
October 7, 2015
March 25, 2016
March 25, 2016
March 14, 2017
December 4, 2017
December 4, 2017
October 11, 2018
May 17, 2019
May 17, 2019
May 17, 2019
May 19, 2020
May 19, 2020

$ 19,571,443
27,800,000
1,645,131
2,509,938
4,715,000
26,800,000
71,395,000
13,465,000
4,572,731
13,807,197
11,736,000
1,529,876
42,392,434
25,055,000
1,498,064
15,882,883
13,411,050
2,852,613
10,664,665

$

7,813,468
13,881,522
2,850,550
1,445,680
63,630,000
3,975,000
39,270,000
12,282,000
4,157,197
12,828,047
9,264,000
1,417,940
19,127,966(2)
25,055,000
508,778(2)
3,871,884(2)
4,431,007(2)
-(2)
-(2)
$ 225,810,039

(1)

See Note 8 to the Issuer’s financial statements for fiscal year 2019 included as Appendix C for additional information with respect
to these loans from the SRF (including the 2020A State Revolving Fund Loan and the 2020B State Revolving Fund Loan,
collectively, the “SRF Bonds”). See also “PLAN OF REFUNDING.”
(2)
SRF Bonds pending draw down of loan amount; final principal amounts subject to total aggregate draws.

Senior Lien Bonds. The Issuer presently has outstanding $9,400,000 principal amount of its $69,695,000
original principal amount Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005B dated March 15, 2005 (the
“Senior Lien Bonds”). The lien securing the Bonds is junior and subordinate to the lien securing the Senior Lien
Bonds. The final maturity is scheduled for March 1, 2021. Thereafter, there will no longer be any Senior Lien
Bonds outstanding. The Issuer has agreed in the Bond Resolution to issue no additional obligations prior to or on a
parity with the Senior Lien Bonds.
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Debt Service Requirements
The following table shows the debt service requirements on the outstanding Senior Lien Bonds, the Parity Bonds and the Series 2020 Bonds, for the
fiscal years indicated.
Series 2020C Bonds
Fiscal
Year
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043
2044
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049
2050
Totals

Senior Lien
Bonds
$9,646,750

$9,646,750

Parity(1)
Bonds
$ 23,010,793
31,965,839
32,268,484
31,480,893
30,813,692
8,990,903
8,052,711
7,739,981
6,425,837
5,987,790
5,703,045
5,664,461
5,664,461
5,664,461
5,664,461
5,664,461
5,664,461
5,641,430
5,553,484
5,147,624
2,849,892
2,156,856
2,156,856
2,156,856
2,156,856
2,156,856
1,959,257
1,371,039
1,371,039
685,519
$261,790,300

Principal

Interest

(1)

Series 2020D Bonds
Total

Includes debt service on the Refunded Bonds and assumes full funding of SRF Bonds pending disbursement.
Note: Totals may not add due to rounding.
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Principal

Interest

Total

Total Debt
Service

Historical Coverage
The following table sets forth summaries of Net Earnings, debt service and debt service coverage of the
Issuer for the past three fiscal years. The information presented has been compiled by the Issuer from the Issuer’s
actual results of operations for the fiscal years indicated.

2017

Fiscal Year
2018

2019

Operating and Investment Income
Less: Total Operating Expenses before
Depreciation
Net Earnings(1)

$ 90,277,361

$ 97,840,776

$ 100,722,770

34,807,935
$ 55,469,426

38,730,144
$ 59,110,632

42,177,170
$ 58,545,600

Debt Service on Senior Lien Bonds
Senior Lien Debt Service Coverage

$ 11,107,463
5.0x

$ 11,420,902
5.2x

$

Debt Service on Bonds
Total Debt Service Coverage

$ 28,547,755
1.9x

$ 29,112,612
2.0x

$ 28,667,330
2.0x

9,491,538
6.2x

(1)

As such term is defined in the Bond Resolution.

Other Post-Employment Benefits
Retirement Plans
Substantially all of the Issuer’s employees are under the South Carolina Retirement System (“SCRS”), a costsharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the South Carolina Public Employee Benefit
Authority. The plan is funded on a matching basis, using an actuarial method, by the employees and the Issuer.
The Issuer is required to make contributions on behalf of its employees into the SCRS. The Issuer’s expense
is funded on an actuarial basis determined by the State, and the Issuer is assessed on an annual basis for its share of the
SCRS’s pension costs which has resulted in increases in the Issuer’s pension costs as shown in the table below. The
table below sets forth the Issuer’s actual pension contributions for fiscal years 2017, 2018 and 2019.
Fiscal Year

SC Retirement System

2017
$ 1,448,857

2018
$ 1,793,576

2019
$ 1,942,662

Beginning July 1, 2017, the employer contribution rate increased to 13.56%. Employer rates will continue to
increase annually by 1% through July 1, 2022, which will result in the employer rates totaling 18.56% (as part of the
State’s emergency response to the current COVID-19 situation, the 1% increase for the 12-month period beginning July
1, 2020 has been delayed). Act No. 13 of 2017 also increases and caps the employee contribution rates to 9%, permits
after June 30, 2027 a decrease in employer and employee contribution rates in equal amounts if the ratio between the
actuarial value of retirement system assets and the actuarial value of retirement system liabilities is equal to or greater
than 85%, lowers the assumed annual rate of return on pension investments from 7.50% to 7.25%, and for some years
reduced the funding period of unfunded liabilities from 30 years to 20 years.
The Issuer also provides health, dental, life and disability benefits to its employees and retirees. For the fiscal
years 2017, 2018 and 2019, the Issuer’s OPEB contributions were $482,530, $412,174 and $576,585, respectively.
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GASB Statement No. 68
GASB Statement No. 68 (“GASB 68”) was issued by the Government Accounting Standards Board in June
2012. The objectives of GASB 68 include improved accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments
for pensions, and improved information provided by state and local government employers about financial support for
pensions that is provided by other entities. State and local governments that participate in a cost-sharing multiple
employer are required to recognize a liability for their proportionate share of the net pension liability of that plan.
Pursuant to GASB 68, the Issuer is required to report a net pension liability for its participation in the SCRS
on financial statements prepared on the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting (i.e.,
the Statement of Net Position) and present more extensive note disclosures. At December 31, 2019, the Issuer reported
as its proportionate share of the net pension liability to SCRS $27,918,386.
Additional Information
See Notes 12 and 13 to the Issuer’s financial statements for fiscal year 2019 included as Appendix C for more
information with respect to employee benefit and OPEB liability.
THE ISSUER
General Description and Governmental Structure
The Issuer is a special purpose district and political subdivision of the State of South Carolina originally
created under the name of the “Greater Greenville Sewer District” by Act No. 362 of the Acts of the General
Assembly of the State of South Carolina in 1925. As originally constituted, Act No. 362 provided for the Greater
Greenville Sewer District to be governed by a commission known as the “Greater Greenville Sewer District
Commission.” In 1926, by Act No. 784, the Commission of the Greater Greenville Sewer District was empowered
“to establish, extend, enlarge, maintain, conduct and operate sewer systems, sewer lines and sewer mains; to make
any and all regulations which they consider necessary to effectuate this Act; and generally to do all things necessary
to create and maintain a sewerage system in the District.” In 1967 by Act No. 745, the General Assembly of South
Carolina vested in the then Greater Greenville Sewer District the function of operating the trunk sewer and
treatment facilities of each subdistrict. However, actual ownership of these facilities remained with the various
political units until 1969 when the General Assembly enacted Act No. 688. This authorized the acquisition by the
Issuer of the trunk sewer lines and treatment facilities owned by the included subdistricts in return for the
assumption by the Issuer of certain indebtedness. Since 1969, each subdistrict has continued to be responsible for
the construction, operation and maintenance of the sewer lateral or collector lines in its respective service area. The
name Greater Greenville Sewer District was changed to Western Carolina Regional Sewer Authority by Act No.
393 of 1974, and changed to Renewable Water Resources by Act No. 102 of 2009. Act No. 311 of 2010 authorizes
the Issuer to use and market a variety of wastewater treatment by-products including, but not limited to, the ability
to provide retail services related to renewed water, wastewater or stormwater, as well as the authority to generate
and sell energy obtained through alternate sources. Further, Act No. 311 grants the Commission authority to set
rates and prices related to the generation of products derived from its water and energy resources. In 2016, Act No.
298 expanded the Issuer’s service area in Greenville County to the North Carolina border. In 2018, Act No. 284
extended the Issuer’s service area in the Enoree basin in Spartanburg County. In 2019, the Issuer acquired existing
retail collection, trunk and treatment assets in the northern portion of Greenville County, as well as retail collection
assets in the northeast portion of Anderson County.
As described above, the South Carolina General Assembly has made, and may make in the future, from
time to time, legislative changes to the power, authority, and service territory of the Issuer. It can be anticipated that
further legislative enactments relating to the Issuer’s operations, activities, and service territory may occur in the
future. The Appalachian Council of Governments, the regional planning authority for Anderson, Cherokee,
Greenville, Oconee, Pickens, and Spartanburg counties (the “Appalachian Region”), is designated by the South
Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”) as the planning agency to review wastewater
projects for conformance with Appalachian 208 Regional Water Quality Management Plan (the “208 Plan”). The
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Issuer is a designated Water Quality Management Agency pursuant to the 208 Plan and is responsible for the
construction, operation, and maintenance of the publicly-owned wastewater resource recovery facilities (“WRRF”) in
the Enoree, Reedy, and Saluda Basin Planning Areas of the Appalachian Region. The Issuer’s activities are accounted
for as an enterprise fund, and costs are recovered through user fees.
The Issuer is dedicated to enhancing the quality of life in its service area by providing high quality
wastewater treatment services. The mission of the organization is to protect the public health and water quality of
the Upstate waterways while providing the necessary infrastructure to support the local economy.
The Issuer is governed by the Commission which comprises 11 members. The members of the Commission
are appointed by the Governor upon the recommendation of the legislative delegation representing any portion of a
county from which the member must be appointed. One of the members is required to be from Anderson County, one
member is required to be from Laurens County, two members are required to be from Spartanburg County, and the
remaining seven members are required to be from Greenville County. The following table shows the current members
of the Commission, their dates of original appointment, when their terms expire and their principal occupations. The
Commission currently has three vacancies: one from Greenville County and two from Spartanburg County.
Name
Ray C. Overstreet, Chairman
John T. Crawford, Jr., Vice Chairman
Emily K. DeRoberts, Secretary/Treasurer
Chip Fogleman
Clinton J. Thompson
Daniel K. Holliday
James D. Martin, Jr.
Timothy A. Brett

Date of Original
Appointment
December 31, 2010
December 31, 2015
December 31, 2017
December 31, 2016
December 31, 2016
January 1, 2013
December 31, 2001
December 31, 2017

Current Term Expires
December 31, 2022
December 31, 2023
December 31, 2021
December 31, 2020
December 31, 2020
December 31, 2020
December 31, 2021
December 31, 2021

Principal Occupation
Businessman
Businessman
Businesswoman
Businessman
Businessman
Businessman
Businessman
Businessman

Executive Director. Graham W. Rich, P.E., BCEE, has served as the Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer
since January 2016. Prior to joining the Issuer, Mr. Rich served as Chief Executive Officer of Central Arkansas
Water for nine years. Mr. Rich holds Bachelor’s and Master’s degrees from Clemson University, is a registered
professional engineer and is a board certified environmental engineer with 30 years’ experience as an executive in
the wastewater and water industry.
Chief Operating Officer. Joel H. Jones serves as the Chief Operating Officer of the Issuer, and has served
in various positions since 2012. Mr. Jones received his Bachelor’s degree from Clemson University and his
Master’s degree from Southern Wesleyan University. He has nearly 27 years of experience in the public
wastewater industry with an emphasis on facility operations and compliance.
Chief Administrative Officer. Mary Beth Lampe has served as the Chief Administrative Officer of the
Issuer since 2017. Prior to assuming this position, Ms. Lampe served the Issuer on a contractual basis as its Human
Resource Director. Ms. Lampe has a Bachelor’s degree from Trevecca University and also attended the
Management Academy of Public Health at University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Ms. Lampe has more than
22 years of comprehensive human resource experience.
Administrative Finance Director. Cathy D. Caldwell, CPA, has served as the Administrative Finance
Director of the Issuer since 2007. Ms. Caldwell is a graduate of Furman University with a degree in Accounting and
has over 30 years of combined accounting experience, including 13 years with the Issuer.
Controller. Patricia R. Dennis, CPA, has served as the Controller of the Issuer since 2009. Ms. Dennis is a
graduate of Huntingdon College with a degree in Accounting and has over 20 years of combined accounting
experience, including over 11 years with the Issuer.
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The System
The Issuer is the largest wastewater trunk and treatment provider in the region, serving much of Greenville
County and portions of Anderson, Laurens, Pickens and Spartanburg Counties, which are commonly referred to as the
Upstate. The Saluda River, Reedy River, Enoree River and Tyger River basins are the four drainage basins in the
Issuer’s service area. Wastewater within the region is collected from 17 public partners that construct and maintain
approximately 2,400 miles of sewer retail collection lines. The Issuer owns and maintains approximately 54 miles of
sewer retail collection lines. These collection lines connect into the Issuer’s 343-mile interceptor system. The Issuer
owns and operates nine WRRFs which treat an average flow of 43.9 million gallons per day. The Issuer also provides
wastewater collection service to 1,253 direct retail customers in northern Greenville County and northeastern Anderson
County (collectively referred to herein as the “Retail Customers”).
The following table shows the maximum permitted flows and the average and peak facility flows for the
Issuer’s currently operating WRRF, grouped by watershed into which effluent is discharged, for fiscal year 2019.
Summary of Wastewater Resource Recovery Facility Flows
Actual Design
(Permitted)
Flow (MGD)

Annual Average
Flow (MGD)

Actual Average
Peak Monthly
Flow (MGD)

29.0
11.5
40.5

16.4
6.8
23.2

25.0
7.9
32.9

Saluda River Basin
Marietta
Georges Creek
Piedmont Regional
Basin Total

0.7
3.0
4.0
7.7

0.3
1.4
1.7
3.4

0.4
2.2
2.5
5.1

Enoree River Basin
Pelham
Gilder Creek
Durbin Creek
Basin Total

22.5
11.3
5.2
39.0

10.7
4.5
2.0
17.2

15.6
5.7
2.5
23.8

Tyger River Basin
North Greenville
University(2)
Basin Total

0.2
0.2

0.1
0.1

0.1
0.1

Total of All Basins

87.4

43.9

61.9

Water Resource
Recovery Facility
Reedy River Basin
Mauldin Road(1)
Lower Reedy
Basin Total

(1)
The actual permitted wet weather flow of the Mauldin Road WRRF is 70 MGD and its permitted load allocation capacity is 40
MGD; however, the facility’s enhanced biological nutrient removal process is only designed to treat daily average flows of 29 MGD.
(2)
Acquired after the expansion of the Issuer’s service area boundaries under Act No. 298 of 2016 to include the “Northern
Greenville” area of Greenville County.

Budgetary Procedures
The Commission annually adopts an operating and capital budget prior to the new fiscal year. The budget
provides the basis for reporting, which management uses to monitor and control the Issuer’s spending.
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Management receives budget to actual reports monthly and is responsible for providing variance explanations to the
accounting department.
The Commission approves the budget after a public hearing and upon the recommendation of the Chief
Executive Officer. The approved budget will remain in effect for the entire fiscal year.
Rates of the Issuer
The Issuer is empowered by its enabling legislation to set its rates without approval of any other
governmental entity. In order to operate the System, meet growth expectations and increasingly restrictive
regulatory changes, the Issuer generally conducts a rate study every five years to determine the appropriate sewer
user charges. The Issuer’s sewer user charges can be divided into two categories: those applicable to users whose
effluent is collected by the Issuer through its wastewater collection system (the “Trunk and Treatment Charges”),
and those applicable to Retail Customers (“Retail Collection Charges”). The most recent trunk and treatment rate
study recommended, and on April 24, 2017, the Commission implemented, a rate increase for Trunk and Treatment
Charges that became effective January 1, 2018. The Issuer recently initiated a comprehensive rate study that first
resulted in a recommendation for establishing retail rates that was approved by the Commission on June 22, 2020, to
be effective immediately.
An affordability demographic analysis was also performed based on the 2019 framework for household
affordability and financial capability within the Issuer’s service area considering the Issuer’s rates and the other
subdistrict rates. The Issuer is also in the beginning stages of performing condition assessments within their
WRRFs and will utilize this information in balancing capital improvement needs, affordability and customer equity
in determining future rates.
In 2019, the Issuer initiated a partnership with The Salvation Army of Greenville to provide assistance to
low income customers in need of assistance with their water and sewer bills. Also in 2019, the Issuer partnered with
Greenville County Redevelopment Authority and the Community Development Division of the City of Greenville
to provide 50% reimbursement of NAFs paid for qualifying low income housing.
The sewer user charges have provided sufficient funds to meet financial obligations including operating
expenses, debt service and capital expenditures.
The Issuer’s Trunk and Treatment Charges have two components. The first component is a base charge
designed to recover certain fixed costs of operations including administrative costs and sewer line maintenance.
This fixed charge is assessed on a per account basis, regardless of the type of customer served or the amount of
wastewater discharged.
The Issuer’s second Trunk and Treatment Charge component is a volume charge designed to recover all
costs not recovered through the fixed charge. The volume charge is expressed as a charge per thousand gallons of
estimated wastewater discharge. Volume charges for residential and commercial customers are based upon the water
consumption of the customer. Industrial customers are primarily billed on their metered effluent.
For residential customers subject to Trunk and Treatment Charges, the Issuer maintains an adjustment
program known as the Six Month Savings Program, which seeks to lessen the impact of higher summer water
consumption on residential customers’ bills. Under the program, a residential customer’s billed sewer usage during
the summer months is the lower of either (a) actual water consumption or (b) the average of the previous winter
months water consumption. The volume charge is then applied to this adjusted consumption.
Commercial customers whose sewer usage is based upon water consumption are not eligible for the Six
Month Savings Program, but pay volume charges which are discounted 5% (an allowance for water consumed but
not discharged into the System). Industrial customers with metered effluent are billed at the standard volume charge.
The Issuer’s Trunk and Treatment Charges have been developed to be consistent with these adjustment policies.
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The Issuer separately monitors and tests the effluent of industrial users to determine the volume and
content of the wastewater they discharge into the System. Industrial customers who discharge wastewater with
biological oxygen demand (“BOD”) and total suspended solids (“TSS”) in excess of established maximum levels are
charged in accordance with a formula based on the BOD and TSS content of their effluent. The Issuer currently
charges, based on discharge samples, $0.275 per pound of excess BOD and TSS.
The Issuer also charges an unused capacity fee for industrial customers. Historically, industrial customers
of the Issuer have been allotted permanent capacity for which there was no charge other than actual wastewater
treatment flow to the System. This fee requires industry to pay $1.56 per 1,000 gallons per capacity allotted but not
used.
Retail Collection Charges were approved by the Commission on June 22, 2020, and were effective
immediately. These rates are a flat fee based on meter size ranging from $13.81 for a 5/8” meter to $736.48 for an
8” meter.
In addition to the foregoing rates and charges, the Issuer approved the implementation of the New Account
Fee (“NAF”) in March 1995. This fee is generally based on the size of the water meter installed, and is a one-time
fee for new or upsized connections. The current NAF applicable to customers subject to Trunk and Treatment
Charges ranges from $2,500 for a 5/8” residential meter to $400,000 for an 8” commercial meter. The exception to
the meter size basis is NAFs for multi-family and mixed-use developments, which are based on estimated daily
wastewater flows as provided in the DHEC regulations and the capacity cost of $8.33 per gallon based on the rate
study recommendation approved by the Commission April 24, 2017, and effective January 1, 2019. The NAF
generated revenues of approximately $10.2 million in the fiscal year 2019. Retail Customer collection NAFs,
approved by the Commission on June 22, 2020, are based on meter size and range from $900 for a 5/8” meter to
$72,000 for an 8” commercial meter. Retail Customer collection NAFs for multi-family and mixed-use
developments are also based on flow and $3.00 capacity cost per gallon.
The Issuer’s current Trunk and Treatment Charges, which are comprised of a base and volumetric fee and
sewer user charge, effective for service beginning January 1, 2018, are as follows:
Base Fee
Effective Date
January 1, 2018

Base Fee per Month
$ 12.00

Type of User
Residential(1)
Commercial(1)
Industrial(2)

Effective
January 1, 2018
$ 5.86
5.57
5.86

Volumetric Fee

(1)
(2)

Per 1,000 gallons of metered water
Per 1,000 gallons of metered wastewater
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The following chart shows the Trunk and Treatment Charges of the Issuer for residential customers as of
December 31 from 2010 to the present:
Year
(as of December 31,)
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
(1)

Volume Fee per
1,000 gallons
$ 4.61
4.79
4.96
5.18
5.39
5.61
5.61
5.61
5.86
5.86

Base Fee
per Month
$ 9.00
9.40
9.80
10.20
10.60
11.00
11.00
11.00
12.00
12.00

Total Monthly
Charge(1)
$ 28.16
28.56
29.64
30.92
32.16
33.44
33.44
33.44
35.44
35.44

Percent
Increase
4.2%
3.9
3.5
4.4
4.1
4.1
0.0
0.0
4.5
0.0

Based upon consumption of 4,000 gallons per month.

Billing and Collection Practices
The Issuer has entered into agreements with ten local water utilities which have common customers to
provide billing and collection functions. As part of the agreements, the Issuer pays each water utility a fee per bill
and in exchange the water utility has agreed to terminate water service to customers whose wastewater treatment
bills are not timely paid. Total billing expense to the Issuer in fiscal year 2019 totaled approximately $2.9 million.
The agreements are subject to adjustment annually based upon the Municipal Cost Index and experience.
Industrial accounts and accounts which, because of the nature of their water supply or other circumstances,
cannot accurately or fairly be billed based on water usage directly, are billed directly by the Issuer or its billing
agent.
Historical Accounts of the Issuer
The following table shows the total number of accounts of the Issuer in each of the fiscal years shown.
Information for Short Year 2016 is not included in this table.
Fiscal Year
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

Total Accounts
120,558
121,374
122,826
126,054
127,400
130,045
132,391
136,488
139,294
141,708

Percentage Change
1.2%
0.7
1.2
2.6
1.1
2.1
1.8
2.5
2.1
1.7

At present, the Issuer derives the principal portion of its revenue from the wastewater treatment charges for
service rendered to 141,597 residential and commercial accounts and 111 industrial accounts, NAFs and from the
investment of reserve funds. In fiscal year 2019, approximately 81.4% of the Issuer’s operating revenues were collected
from residential and commercial accounts, of which $370,122 or 0.5% was attributable to Retail Customers, and 7.7%
of such revenues were collected from industrial accounts (with the remainder from NAFs and septic haulers and other
miscellaneous revenue).
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The following is a listing of the ten largest industrial accounts and their billing percentage as compared to the
total operating revenues for fiscal year 2019.
Industry
House of Raeford Farms, Inc.
Cytec Carbon Fibers, LLC
Furman University
Cryovac Sealed Air Corporation
Kemet Electronics Corporation
Michelin North America, Inc.
KM Fabrics, Inc.
Roy Metal Finishing Co., Inc.
Bausch & Lomb
General Electric Gas Turbine

Revenue
$ 1,338,583
437,016
351,682
324,291
317,928
296,378
263,630
243,878
230,705
226,813

Total

$ 4,030,904

Percentage of total
operating revenues
1.36%
0.44
0.36
0.33
0.32
0.30
0.27
0.25
0.23
0.23
4.09%

Environmental Compliance
The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) administers the National Pollutant Discharge
Elimination System (“NPDES”) permitting program to address water pollution from point source discharges. The
EPA has delegated NPDES permitting authority to DHEC to protect the waters of the State of South Carolina. Under
the NPDES permitting system, the Issuer is considered a major municipal discharger and holds multiple NPDES
permits. Each NPDES permit has an effective term of five years and expires thereafter. During the reissuance process
the discharger must comply with all conditions of the existing permit until a new permit is reissued. Two of the Issuer’s
NPDES permits have been administratively extended pending the development of a watershed-based plan to reduce
nutrient loading to a receiving stream into which the Issuer discharges treated wastewater. Stricter nutrient discharge
limitations for total phosphorus are anticipated. In formulating and designing the current capital improvement plan
facilities, the Issuer has attempted to incorporate treatment processes which will allow the Issuer to address these
anticipated stricter limitations. In light of these stricter limitations, the Issuer in 2010 received authority to use and
market by-products of waste treatment facilities for alternate energy production.
The Issuer from time to time has entered into Consent Agreements and Orders with DHEC with respect to
construction schedules on DHEC-approved or -mandated projects and/or NPDES permits. In the normal course of the
Issuer's operations, excursions from permit limits occasionally occur as the Issuer operates and maintains the many
components of the System. The Issuer is continually faced with new and more stringent pollution control requirements
imposed by various regulatory agencies and is charged with the responsibility to control infiltration and inflow into its
wastewater collection system. The Issuer generally has been able to upgrade equipment and facilities, build new plants
where necessary and meet any new requirements in a timely manner. Even when the Issuer has not been able to respond
in a timely manner, DHEC has been willing to enter into consent orders with the Issuer, usually administrative consent
orders, or consent court orders, setting and establishing reasonable times for compliance without any significant penalty
or fine. It is anticipated that new water quality standards and new limits may be incorporated into the Issuer's NPDES
permits as renewals are required, and it is predictable that such new requirements may result in additional expense to
the Issuer for compliance. While certain requirements may have to be addressed within short time periods, the Issuer's
experience has been that the applicable regulatory bodies generally afford reasonable times for compliance.
The Issuer is currently under a 1988 State Circuit Court Consent Order consented to by DHEC and the Issuer
(the “1988 Order”), which cited the Issuer and several municipalities and subdistricts whose collector lines connect
with the Issuer's trunk lines within the Reedy River basin for failure to eliminate excessive infiltration and inflow
coming into the System. These subdistricts and municipalities, which are also parties to the 1988 Order, are all within
the Reedy River drainage basin served by the Mauldin Road WRRF. In addressing the complex issues presented, the
Court originally recognized the necessity to allow sufficient time and study for compliance. The Court also waived any
fines or penalties declaring such would be counter-productive to the efforts of the Issuer and the other subdistricts and
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cities which are parties to the 1988 Order. The Court reserved the right to impose such fines or penalties should the
parties fail to act diligently and in good faith. As engineering studies and further evaluation proceeded, it became
apparent that the original scope of undertaking required to correct the infiltration and inflow was underestimated and
that additional study was necessary. The 1988 Order has been amended five times (the latest was March 18, 1998) to
change the schedule for compliance so that the work could be accomplished within a realistic time frame.
The Issuer has undertaken a phased approach, at an estimated total cost to the Issuer of more than $100
million, to establish compliance with the 1988 Order and to make further corrections to the infiltration and inflow
conditions. Phase one involved the construction of the Brushy Creek sewer line which was completed in 1995. Phase
two involved the construction of an additional relief sewer line, the Reedy River sewer line, which was placed in
service in 2001. Additionally, as part of phase two, the Issuer made certain modifications at the Mauldin Road WRRF
which were completed in 2001. In 2018, the Issuer completed the Phase Three Richland Creek Interceptor Upgrade
identified in the 1988 Order. The current infiltration and inflow situation identified in the 1988 Order within the
subdistricts and municipalities has not been completely resolved by those entities.
The sewer subdistricts and municipalities whose flows are treated at the Mauldin Road WRRF have
completed sanitary sewer evaluation studies and are engaged in flow monitoring and sewer system remediation efforts.
The Issuer has signed intergovernmental agreements with all the subdistricts and municipalities which typically provide
for 15-year schedules for completion of the remediation projects responsive to the 1988 Order. In 2018, the Issuer
began the development of a more comprehensive Wet Weather Reduction Program to further refine the work
requirements for the subdistricts and municipalities to eliminate excessive infiltration and inflow from the sewer
systems.
Capital Improvements Defrayed from Earnings of the System
The Issuer upgrades and expands the System on an ongoing basis. The following table indicates the
amount of proceeds from Parity Bonds, contributed capital, and moneys from Issuer operations (“Internal
Reserves”), which were used for capital project purposes, over the past five fiscal years, excluding Short Year 2016.
Parity Bonds

Fiscal Year
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
(1)

SRF
Bonds
$

2,986,498
15,292,458
24,408,489

Other Parity
Bonds
$
27,441,295
1,217,176

Contributed
Capital(1)
$
15,642
583,747
2,011,797
368,073

Internal
Reserves
$ 11,619,001
23,566,224
40,695,401
5,854,144
21,960,280

Total
Capital Project
Expenses
$ 11,619,001
23,581,866
44,265,646
50,599,694
47,954,018

Represents amounts contributed by third parties.

Capital Improvement Planning
The Issuer assembled a community-wide volunteer collaboration (the “Upstate Roundtable”) and tasked it
with developing a strategic plan to align the regional wastewater system capacity and infrastructure with projected
growth, while promoting environmental sustainability. Initially convened in 1994 and reconvened in 2008 and 2018,
this strategic planning group brought together over 100 community, governmental and industry leaders to develop a 20year plan to guide the Issuer. The latest Upstate Roundtable effort was released in March 2020 and work on the
implementation of the plan is underway.
The Issuer maintains a fluid five-year capital improvement program (the “5-year CIP”) that merges the
Issuer’s strategic capital plan with the ongoing objective of maintaining compliance with DHEC regulations and
NPDES permit limitations. The current 5-year CIP calls for approximately $364.6 million over the next five years. The
5-year CIP calls for upgrades at many of the Issuer’s treatment facilities as well as multiple replacement and
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improvement projects of the Issuer’s conveyance system including a gravity sewer tunnel located approximately 100
feet below ground, which will address some of Greenville County’s 100-year sewage needs.
Current Capital Improvement Plan Financing
The current estimated cost of the current 5-year CIP for fiscal years 2020 through 2024 is $364,590,000.
The Issuer presently intends to fund the expenditures through a combination of debt and Internal Reserves.
The following table sets forth the estimated sources of funds used or to be used to defray the cost of the
current 5-year CIP.
2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

Project Costs
WRRF Facilities
Conveyance System
Other Projects and Planning
Total Project Costs

$ 16,970,000
42,550,000
17,860,000
$ 77,380,000

$ 19,240,000
32,890,000
27,190,000
$ 79,320,000

$ 14,470,000
17,460,000
38,930,000
$ 70,860,000

$ 17,250,000
34,140,000
16,300,000
$ 67,690,000

$ 13,330,000
37,500,000
18,510,000
$ 69,340,000

Funding Sources
Debt(1)
Internal Reserves
Total Funding Sources

$ 47,570,000
29,810,000
$ 77,380,000

$ 45,940,000
33,380,000
$ 79,320,000

$ 39,230,000
31,630,000
$ 70,860,000

$ 39,190,000
28,500,000
$ 67,690,000

$ 36,540,000
32,800,000
$ 69,340,000

(1)

Includes SRF Bonds.

In conjunction with the Upstate Roundtable, the Issuer has initiated a comprehensive two-pronged strategy
to address long-term infrastructure planning. The first strategy is the development of master plans for its WRRFs
(the “Facility Master Plans”) which identify each WRRF’s infrastructure needs over the next 20 years. The Facility
Master Plans are currently being reviewed. Recommendations will be prioritized and incorporated in the Issuer’s 5year CIP. The second strategy is the expansion of the Issuer’s Wet Weather Program which is being designed with
subdistricts to identify the most cost-effective inflow and infiltration (“I&I”) removal for shared customers. This
program supports the economic vitality of the Issuer’s region through effective partnerships with its sewer
subdistricts and regulators and will support an increased level of understanding of the impact of I&I. The initial
assessments of the Mauldin Road and Pelham Road WRRFs under the Wet Weather Program have been completed
and are being discussed with the applicable subdistricts.
Litigation Regarding the System
The Issuer is from time-to-time subject to various claims, legal actions and other matters arising out of the
normal conduct of the Issuer’s operations. In particular, the Issuer is occasionally involved in lawsuits related to
acquiring rights-of-way for its use, which requires a determination of amounts of just compensation to be paid to the
owners. Based on prior experience and available information, the Issuer does not anticipate any lawsuits to be
material to the basic financial statements.
Debt Payment Record
The Issuer has not defaulted in the payment of principal or interest or in any other material respect with
respect to any of its securities at any time, nor has the Issuer issued any refunding bonds for the purpose of
preventing a default in the payment of principal or interest on securities (bonds, notes, or other certificates of
indebtedness) then outstanding. The Issuer has not used the proceeds of any bonds for current operating expenses at
any time, nor does the Issuer intend to use the proceeds of any bonds for any such purposes.
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INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS
The following section is intended only as a summary of certain pertinent risk factors relating to an
investment in the Series 2020 Bonds. This summary is not intended to be an exclusive summary of factors to be
considered in connection with making an investment in the Series 2020 Bonds. In order for potential investors to
identify risk factors and make an informed investment decision, they should thoroughly review this entire Official
Statement and the appendices hereto and confer with their own tax and financial advisors when considering a
purchase of the Series 2020 Bonds.
General
The Issuer’s Bonds, including the Series 2020 Bonds, are payable from and secured by a pledge of the
Gross Revenues of the System as remain after the payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses, which
pledge and lien is junior and subordinate in all respects to the pledge and lien on Gross Revenues securing the
Issuer’s outstanding Senior Lien Bonds. Future revenues and expenses of the System are subject to conditions
which may change in the future to an extent that cannot be predicted or determined at this time. No representation
can be made, or assurance given, that the System will realize revenues in amounts sufficient to generate Gross
Revenues of the System as remain after the payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses sufficient to allow
the Issuer to make payments of principal, interest and premium, if any, on the Series 2020 Bonds. Future revenues
and expenses of the System are subject to a variety of economic and other factors and conditions, including without
limitation (a) the inability of the Issuer’s facilities to meet demands on the System, (b) downturns in local, regional,
national and international economies or decreases in economic development at the local or state level, (c)
unanticipated increases in operating or administrative expenses, (d) potential closure, or restrictions on the use, of
the Issuer’s facilities due to unforeseen events or occurrences, acts of war, terrorism, epidemic or disease in foreign
countries or in domestic locations, (e) potential work stoppages due to labor disputes or other causes, (f) the effects
of global economic cycles, and (g) other possible general, national or local political or economic conditions,
including inflation, deflation, general cost increases, international trade embargoes, international trade deficits or
imbalances, deterioration of international trade relations, calls for a global reserve currency as an alternative to the
United States dollar, among other factors. The occurrence of any one or more of the foregoing adverse events, and
the other events described below, including events not enumerated in other sections of this Official Statement, may
materially adversely affect the System’s results of operations, cash flow and financial condition.
Global Health Risk
The outbreak of COVID-19, a respiratory illness caused by a new strain of coronavirus, has affected
global, national, state and local economic activity. In response to the spread of the virus, national, state and local
governments appear to be altering behaviors in a manner that may negatively impact economies. In addition, there
has been significant volatility in the U.S. and global stock and bond markets that has attributed to concerns about
the spread of COVID-19. In light of concerns regarding the spread of COVID-19, on January 31, 2020, the
Secretary of Health and Human Services declared a public health emergency under Section 319 of the Public Health
Service Act (42 U.S.C. 247d). On March 13, 2020, the President of the United States found and proclaimed that,
beginning, March 1, 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak in the United States constitutes a national emergency. On March
13, 2020, the Governor of the State of South Carolina issued Executive Order 2020-08 to declare a “State of
Emergency” in the State, as extended by Executive Order Nos. 2020-15, 2020-23, 2020-29, 2020-35, 2020-40,
2020-42, 2020-44, 2020-48, 2020-50, 2020-53 and most recently by Executive Order 2020-56 dated August 25,
2020.
The Issuer cannot predict whether consequences arising from the spread of COVID-19 or similar diseases
will have a material impact on its financial condition. Overall, the extent of the total impact of COVID-19 on the
Issuer’s operational and financial performance, and on Gross Revenues, will depend on future developments,
including without limitation the duration and spread of the outbreak, travel restrictions, limitations on public
gatherings, and restrictions on operations of public and private entities nation-wide and internationally. While the
total direct impact on the Issuer is currently unknown, the Issuer is reviewing its options for addressing certain
anticipated effects of the spread of COVID-19 that may impact its operations and finances.
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Future outbreaks, epidemics, contagions, pandemics or events outside of the Issuer’s control may further
affect the System and affect the Gross Revenues of the System.
Evolving Provider Relationships
Within Greenville County and elsewhere in the Upstate of South Carolina there has been discussion among
business and political leaders and among the wastewater collection providers with respect to the combination and
consolidation of the services provided by the various providers. These conversations are consistent with State and
federal regulatory objectives regarding consolidation and regionalization of wastewater services.
In the intermediate term, the Issuer believes that these efforts may result in the combinations of assets of
certain of the providers within and outside of the Issuer’s service territory and potentially present opportunities for
the Issuer to acquire system assets and customers from certain of these providers. These discussions are generally
preliminary and conceptual in nature. In considering any opportunities presented to the Issuer for the acquisition of
assets or customers, the Issuer would take into account many factors, including the potential impact on its
operations, necessary capital investments, and strategic objectives. At this point in time, it is not possible to predict
whether any of the foregoing will come to pass.
Climate Change
Planning for climate change in the State and its impact on System operations is an unknown challenge. The
State’s climate is exceedingly variable and projections of future conditions range significantly. While projections in
the State indicate rising average temperatures, precipitation projections are much less clear and often contradictory.
Other potential impacts include changes in the length, intensity, and frequency of droughts and floods. Such
changes may lead to lower supply and higher demand for water. The financial impact of the climate change is not
yet known and therefore its future impact on Gross Revenues as remain after payment of all Operation and
Maintenance Expenses cannot be quantified reliably at this time.
Pension
As described in “FINANCIAL FACTORS – Other Post-Employment Benefits,” and in Note 12 to the
audited financial statements of the Issuer included as Appendix C, eligible employees of the Issuer participate in the
SCRS. As a result of the enactment of Act No. 13, the Issuer’s required contribution rate will increase with the
statutory mandated employer contribution rate increases. Also, the amount of the Issuer’s allocation of the SCRS
liability, a portion of which is allocable to System operations, may increase in amounts that may or may not be
material, depending on a variety of actuarial factors, and which the Issuer cannot predict with any certainty.
Risk of Loss, Damage or Destruction
The Issuer has covenanted in the Resolution that it will cause the System to be continuously insured against
physical loss or damage. The Issuer has further covenanted that the proceeds of such insurance shall be applied to
repair or replace the damaged or destroyed property. There can be no assurance that the proceeds of insurance or
other sources of funds available to the Issuer for purposes of replacing, repairing, rebuilding, or restoring all or any
portion of the System facilities that may be damaged or destroyed will be sufficient for such replacement, repair,
rebuilding or restoration.
Cyber-Security
Computer networks and data transmission and collection are vital to the efficient operations of the System.
Despite security measures, information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or
breached due to employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions. Any such breach could compromise networks
and the information stored there could be disrupted, accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such
disruption, access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in disruptions in operations and the services
provided by the Issuer, legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal
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information, regulatory penalties and the services provided, and cause a loss of confidence in the commercial
operations, which could materially adversely affect the operations of the System. The Issuer utilizes specialized
third parties to maintain the servers and software of the Issuer and to maintain the control systems for the System.
The Issuer maintains an insurance policy for loss stemming from cyber security related claims.
Other General Factors
The System has been, and may in the future be, affected by several other factors which could impact the
financial condition of the System and operations of the Issuer. In addition to the factors discussed elsewhere herein,
such factors include, among other things:

•

Effects of compliance with rapidly changing regulatory and legislative requirements relating to
climate, environmental matters, safety and permitting;

•

The repeal of certain federal statutes that would have the effect of decreasing federal funding or
changing federal tax policy, including the ability to issue tax-exempt obligations; and

•

Effects of changes in the economy, population and demand of customers for services delivered by the
System.
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY CODE

The obligation of the Issuer under the Resolution and the Series 2020 Bonds should be considered with
reference to Chapter 9 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 901, et seq., as amended (the
“Bankruptcy Code”) and other laws affecting creditors’ rights and public instrumentalities generally. Chapter 9
permits a municipality, political subdivision, public agency, or other instrumentality of a state that is insolvent or
unable to meet its debts as such debts mature to file a petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the purpose
of effecting a plan to adjust its debts; directs such a petitioner to file with the court a list of its creditors; provides
that the filing of the petition under that Chapter operates as a stay of the commencement or continuation of any
judicial or other proceeding against the petitioner but does not limit or impair the power of the state to control a
municipality by legislation; directs a petitioner to file a plan for the adjustment of its debts; permits the petitioner in
its plan to modify the rights to payment of its creditors; and provides that the plan must be accepted in writing by or
on behalf of the creditors of each class of claims holding at least two-thirds in amount and more than one-half in
number of the creditors which have accepted or rejected the plan. The plan may be confirmed notwithstanding the
negative vote of one or more classes of claims if the court finds that the plan is in the best interest of creditors, is
feasible, and is fair and equitable with respect to the dissenting classes of creditors. A petitioner has the right to
reinstate or otherwise modify indebtedness under its plan varying from the original maturity schedule of such
indebtedness notwithstanding any provision in the documents under which the indebtedness arose relating to the
insolvency or financial condition of the debtor before the confirmation of the plan, the commencement of a case
under the Bankruptcy Code, or the appointment of or taking possession by a trustee in a case under the Bankruptcy
Code or by a receiver or other custodian prior to the commencement of a case under the Bankruptcy Code.
TAX MATTERS
Federal Income Tax Treatment of Interest on the Series 2020C Bonds
On the date of issuance of the Series 2020C Bonds, Pope Flynn, LLC, in its capacity as Bond Counsel to
the Issuer (“Bond Counsel”), will render an opinion that, under existing law, assuming continuing compliance with
certain covenants made by the Issuer to satisfy pertinent requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”), and the applicable regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Regulations”), and the accuracy
of certain representations, interest on the Series 2020C Bonds (i) is excluded from gross income for federal income
tax purposes and (ii) is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax. See
“Appendix D – Form of Opinion of Bond Counsel” attached hereto.
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The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on current statutes, regulations, judicial decisions, rulings, and other
published guidance of the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”), covers certain matters not directly addressed by
such authorities, and represents Bond Counsel’s judgment as to the proper treatment of the Series 2020C Bonds for
federal income tax purposes. Bond Counsel’s opinion is based upon existing law, which is subject to change. Such
opinion is further based on factual representations made to Bond Counsel as of the date thereof. Bond Counsel
assumes no duty to update or supplement its opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may thereafter come
to Bond Counsel’s attention or to reflect any changes in law that may thereafter occur or become effective.
Moreover, Bond Counsel’s opinion is not a guarantee of a particular result, and is not binding on the IRS or the
courts; rather, such opinion represents Bond Counsel’s professional judgment based on its review of existing law,
and in reliance on the representations and covenants that it deems relevant to such opinion.
The opinion of Bond Counsel described above is subject to the condition that the Issuer comply with all
requirements of the Code and the Regulations, including, without limitation, certain limitations on the use,
expenditure, and investment of the gross proceeds of the Series 2020C Bonds and the obligation to rebate certain
earnings on investments of such gross proceeds to the United States Government, that must be satisfied subsequent
to the issuance of the Series 2020C Bonds in order for interest thereon to be, or to continue to be, excluded from
gross income for federal income tax purposes. The Issuer has covenanted to comply with each such requirement.
Failure to comply with certain of such requirements could cause the inclusion of interest on the Series 2020C Bonds
in gross income for federal income tax purposes, in some cases retroactively to the date of issuance of the Series
2020C Bonds. The opinion of Bond Counsel delivered on the date of issuance of the Series 2020C Bonds is
conditioned on continuing compliance by the Issuer with such requirements, and Bond Counsel has not been
retained to monitor compliance with the requirements subsequent to the issuance of such Series 2020C Bonds.
Other Federal Income Tax Considerations Affecting the Series 2020C Bonds
Prospective purchasers of the Series 2020C Bonds should be aware that ownership of tax-exempt
obligations may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to certain taxpayers, including, without
limitation, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance companies, life insurance companies, certain
foreign corporations, certain S corporations, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits,
and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt
obligations. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion concerning such collateral income tax consequences, and
prospective purchasers of Series 2020C Bonds should consult their tax own advisors as to the applicability thereof.
From time to time, there are legislative proposals in Congress which, if enacted into law, could eliminate or
reduce the exclusion of the interest on the Series 2020C Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes
or which might otherwise adversely affect the benefit or marketability of the Series 2020C Bonds. No prediction can
be made as to whether any such provisions will be enacted as proposed or concerning other future legislation which,
if passed, might affect the tax treatment of interest on the Series 2020C Bonds. Similarly, future clarifications of the
Code by the IRS and court proceedings interpreting the Code could likewise affect the treatment of interest on the
Series 2020C Bonds, as well as the benefit or marketability of the Series 2020C Bonds. Prospective purchasers of
the Series 2020C Bonds should consult their own tax advisers regarding any pending or proposed federal tax
legislation, court proceedings, and IRS actions, as to all of which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion.
The IRS has established an ongoing program to audit tax-exempt obligations to determine whether interest
on such obligations is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. Bond Counsel cannot predict
whether the IRS will commence an audit of the Series 2020C Bonds. Bond Counsel’s engagement with respect to
the Series 2020C Bonds ends with the issuance of the Series 2020C Bonds, and, unless separately engaged, Bond
Counsel is not obligated to defend the Issuer or the holders of the Series 2020C Bonds regarding the tax-exempt
status of the Series 2020C Bonds in the event of an audit examination by the IRS.
Under current procedures, parties other than the Issuer and their appointed counsel, including the holders
of the Series 2020C Bonds, would have little, if any, right to participate in the audit examination process. Moreover,
because achieving judicial review in connection with an audit examination of tax-exempt bonds is difficult,
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obtaining an independent review of IRS positions with which the Issuer legitimately disagrees may not be
practicable.
Any action of the IRS, including but not limited to selection of the Series 2020C Bonds for audit, or the
course or result of such audit, or an audit of bonds presenting similar tax issues may affect the market price for, or
the marketability of, the Series 2020C Bonds, and may cause the Issuer or the holders of the Series 2020C Bonds to
incur significant expense, regardless of the ultimate outcome. Under certain circumstances, the Issuer may be
obligated to disclose the commencement of an audit under the Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the “Continuing
Disclosure Certificate”), a copy of which is attached as Appendix E to this Official Statement.
Federal Income Tax Treatment of Interest on the Series 2020D Bonds
In General. Interest on the Series 2020D Bonds (including any original issue discount accruing thereon, as
discussed below) is not excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and will be taxable as ordinary
income.
Medicare Surtax. Section 1411 of the Code generally imposes a tax of 3.8% on the “net investment
income” of certain individuals, trusts, and estates, consisting of certain items of unearned income, offset by certain
allowable deductions. The categories of unearned income taken into account for these purposes generally include
taxable interest, and would therefore include interest and any original issue discount on the Series 2020D Bonds
(but not on the Series 2020C Bonds), as well as any gains from the disposition of Series 2020 Bonds of either
Series.
Other Federal Income Tax Considerations Affecting the Series 2020D Bonds
Defeasance. If the Issuer deposits moneys or securities in escrow so as to effect a “defeasance” of the
Series 2020D Bonds, the defeased Series 2020D Bonds may treated as retired and “reissued” for federal income tax
purposes and as involved in a deemed exchange under Section 1001 of the Code. In that event, the holder of a
defeased Series 2020D Bonds may be required to recognize taxable gain or loss for federal income tax purposes,
without any corresponding receipt of money. (A defeasance of Series 2020C Bonds would not give rise to any such
deemed taxable exchange.) The Issuer is required to provide notice of any defeasance of the Series 2020 Bonds as a
reportable event under its Continuing Disclosure Certificate.
Foreign Investors. The federal income tax treatment of a holder of Series 2020D Bonds that is not a “U.S.
holder” (as defined below) may differ from that described elsewhere in this summary.
Among other things, a holder of a Series 2020D Bonds that is not a U.S. holder (a “foreign investor”) may
not be subject to federal income tax on the interest (or original issue discount) paid or accrued on a Series 2020D
Bond or on any gain from a disposition of the same, provided (i) that the foreign investor is not engaged in a trade
or business within the United States, (ii) that the foreign investor complies with certain identification requirements
(confirming the foreign status of the investor on IRS Form W-8BEN or other appropriate form), and (iii) in the case
of an individual, that the individual is not present in the United States for 183 days or more during the calendar year
in question.
A foreign investor that fails to satisfy the identification and other requirement described above may be
subject to a 30% withholding tax on payments of interest on the Series 2020D Bonds.
Foreign financial institutions that receive payments of interest on Series 2020D Bonds or proceeds from
the disposition of such Bonds may be subject to a 30% withholding tax imposed under the Foreign Account Tax
Compliance Act (FATCA) if the financial institution has not agreed to certain disclosure and due diligence
requirements with respect to accounts owned by U.S. persons. An intergovernmental agreement between the United
States and the applicable foreign country may modify these requirements.
In general, a “U.S. holder” for these purposes means a beneficial owner of a Series 2020D Bond that is (i)
a citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation, partnership, or other entity created or organized in or
under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof, (iii) an estate subject to United States
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federal income taxation, or (iv) a trust subject to the jurisdiction of a court within the United States and under the
control of U.S. persons.
The foregoing is a brief summary of some of the federal income tax considerations that may be relevant to
foreign investors in Series 2020D Bonds. Foreign investors should consult their own tax advisors regarding the tax
consequences of purchasing Series 2020D Bonds.
[Original Issue Discount]
[Certain Series 2020 Bonds have been sold at an initial offering price which is less than the principal
amount thereof payable at maturity (“Discount Bonds”). The difference between the initial offering price to the
public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters,
placement agents, or wholesalers) at which a substantial amount of each maturity of Discount Bonds is sold and the
principal amount payable at maturity constitutes original issue discount.
In the case of Discount Series 2020C Bonds, Bond Counsel is of the opinion that original issue discount, as
it accrues, is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is subject to the alternative minimum
tax to the same extent as is interest on the Series 2020C Bonds. Original issue discount accrues in each taxable year
over the term of the Discount Bonds under the “constant yield method” described in Regulations interpreting
Section 1272 of the Code, with certain adjustments.
In the case of Discount Series 2020D Bonds, any original issue discount will be treated as zero under a de
minimis rule if the amount of such discount is less than the product of one quarter of one percent of the face amount
of the Series 2020D Bond times the number of complete years to its maturity. Otherwise, original issue discount
will accrue over the term of the Discount Series 2020D Bond using the “constant yield method” described in the
Regulations. As such discount accrues, the owner of a Discount Series 2020D Bond will be required to include
such accrued amount in gross income as interest, regardless of the owner’s regular method of accounting. As a
result, it is possible that an owner of a Discount Series 2020D Bond could be required to recognize taxable income
resulting from original issue discount in an amount that exceeds the actual cash distributions of interest to such
owner in a taxable year.
The tax basis of Discount Bonds if held by an original purchaser, can be determined by adding to such
owner’s purchase price of such Discount Bonds the original issue discount that has accrued.
Owners of the Discount Bonds should consult their own tax advisers with respect to all matters relating to
such discount. ]
[Original Issue Premium]
[Certain Series 2020 Bonds have been sold at an initial offering price which is greater than the amount
payable at maturity (“Premium Bonds”). An amount equal to the excess of the purchase price of a Premium Bond
over its stated redemption price at maturity constitutes original issue premium.
For federal income tax purposes, bond premium is amortized over the period to maturity of a Premium
Bond, based on the yield to maturity of that Premium Bond (or, in the case of a Premium Bond callable prior to its
stated maturity, the amortization period and yield may be required to be determined on the basis of an earlier call
date that results in the lowest yield on that Premium Bond), compounded semiannually. No portion of that bond
premium is deductible by the owner of a Premium Bond.
Bond premium must be amortized by the owner of a Premium Series 2020C Bond. The owner of a
Premium Series 2020D Bond may elect to amortize bond premium, in which case such premium, as it amortizes,
offsets interest on the Series 2020D Bond accruing during the same period.
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For purposes of determining the owner’s gain or loss on the sale, redemption (including redemption at
maturity) or other disposition of a Premium Bond, the owner’s tax basis in the Premium Bond is reduced by the
amount of bond premium that is amortized during the period of ownership. As a result, an owner may realize
taxable gain for federal income tax purposes from the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond for an amount
equal to or less than the amount paid by the owner for that Premium Bond. A purchaser of a Premium Bond in the
initial public offering at the price for that Premium Bond stated on the cover of this Official Statement who holds
that Premium Bond to maturity (or, in the case of a callable Premium Bond, to its earlier call date that results in the
lowest yield on that Premium Bond) will realize no gain or loss upon the retirement of that Premium Bond.
Owners of the Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisers with respect to all matters relating to
such bond premium.]
Reporting and Withholding Requirements
Payments of interest, including payments of tax-exempt interest on the Series 2020C Bonds, are generally
subject to IRS Form 1099-INT information-reporting requirements.
An owner of a Series 2020 Bond of either Series may be subject to backup withholding at the applicable
rate determined by statute with respect to interest paid on the Series 2020 Bonds if such owner, upon issuance of the
Series 2020 Bonds, fails to provide to any person required to collect such information pursuant to Section 6049 of
the Code with such owner’s taxpayer identification number, furnishes an incorrect taxpayer identification numb,
fails properly to report interest, dividends, or other “reportable payments” (as defined in the Code), or, under certain
circumstances, fails to provide such persons with a certified statement, under penalty of perjury, that such owner is
not subject to backup withholding.
These requirements do not affect the exclusion of interest on the Series 2020C Bonds from gross income
for federal income tax purposes.
State Tax Exemption
Bond Counsel is of the opinion that, under existing law, both the Series 2020C Bonds and Series 2020D
Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from all taxation by the State, its counties, municipalities, and school
districts, except estate, transfer, and certain franchise taxes. Interest paid on the Bonds is currently subject to the tax
imposed on banks by Section 12-11-20, Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, which is enforced by
the South Carolina Department of Revenue as a franchise tax.
The opinion of Bond Counsel is limited to the laws of the State and federal tax laws. No opinion is
rendered by Bond Counsel concerning the taxation of the Series 2020 Bonds or the interest thereon under the laws
of any other jurisdiction.
UNDERWRITING
The Series 2020C Bonds have been purchased at a competitive sale for resale by __________________ (the
“Series 2020C Purchaser”), at a purchase price of $______________ (representing the par amount of the Series 2020C
Bonds plus original issue premium of $____________, less underwriter’s discount of $___________. The Series
2020D Bonds have been purchased at a competitive sale for resale by _____________ (the “Series 2020D Purchaser,”
and together with the Series 2020C Purchaser, the “Purchasers”), at a purchase price of $______________
(representing the par amount of the Series 2020D Bonds plus original issue premium of $____________, less
underwriter’s discount of $___________. The initial public offering prices of the Series 2020 Bonds are stated on the
inside front cover hereof. The Purchasers may offer and sell the Series 2020 Bonds to certain dealers (including dealers
depositing Series 2020 Bonds into investment trusts) and others at prices lower than the stated initial public offering
price. In addition, the initial public offering price may be changed from time to time by the Purchasers without prior
notice.
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FINANCIAL ADVISOR
First Tryon Advisors has served as financial advisor (the “Financial Advisor”) to the Issuer with respect to the
sale of the Series 2020 Bonds. The Financial Advisor’s fee for services rendered with respect to the sale of the Series
2020 Bonds is contingent on the issuance and delivery of the Series 2020 Bonds. The Financial Advisor is not obligated
to undertake, and has not undertaken, either to make an independent verification of or to assume responsibility for the
accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the information contained in this Official Statement and the appendices thereto.
LITIGATION
No litigation is presently pending or, to the knowledge of the Issuer, threatened in any court to restrain or
enjoin the issuance or delivery of any of the Series 2020 Bonds or the collection of revenues pledged or to be pledged
to pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2020 Bonds, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the
Series 2020 Bonds, the Resolution, or the power to collect and pledge revenues to pay the Series 2020 Bonds, or
contesting the power or authority of the Issuer to issue the Series 2020 Bonds or to adopt the Resolution.
RATINGS
It is expected that the Series 2020 Bonds when delivered will be assigned a rating of “Aa1” by Moody’s
Investors Service, Inc. and a rating of “AAA” by S&P. Such ratings reflect only the respective views of such
organizations and any desired explanation of the significance of such ratings should be obtained from the rating
agency furnishing the same. Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it
and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own. There is no assurance such ratings will continue for any
given period of time or that such ratings will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by the rating agencies, if
in the judgment of such rating agencies, circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such
ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Series 2020 Bonds.
VERIFICATION OF ARITHMETIC AND MATHEMATICAL ACCURACY OF ESCROW
Bingham Arbitrage Rebate Services, Incorporated, Richmond, Virginia, a firm of independent accountants,
will verify the accuracy of (i) the mathematical computations concerning the adequacy of the maturing principal
amount of and interest earned on the government obligations, together with other escrowed moneys, to be placed in the
Escrow Fund to pay when due and upon redemption, principal of and premium and interest on the 2010 Bonds and the
Refunded 2012B Bonds, and (ii) the mathematical computations of the yield on the Series 2020C Bonds and the yield
on the Defeasance Obligations purchased with a portion of the proceeds of the sale of the Series 2020C Bonds and used
in part by Bond Counsel in concluding that interest on the Series 2020C Bonds is excluded from gross income for
federal income tax purposes under presently existing law, including the “arbitrage” regulations promulgated and
proposed under Section 148 of the Code and certain rulings and official interpretation of law by the Internal Revenue
Service. Such verifications shall be based upon information supplied by the Financial Advisor.
LEGAL MATTERS
All of the legal proceedings in connection with the authorization and issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds are
subject to the approval of Pope Flynn, LLC, Columbia, South Carolina, Bond Counsel. Pope Flynn, LLC is also serving
as Disclosure Counsel to the Issuer in connection with the offer and sale of the Series 2020 Bonds. Certain matters will
be passed upon for the Issuer by its counsel, Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough, LLP, Greenville, South Carolina.
The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2020 Bonds express the
professional judgment of the attorneys rendering the opinions as to the legal issues explicitly addressed therein. By
rendering a legal opinion, the opinion giver does not become an insurer or guarantor of that expression of professional
judgment, of the transaction opined upon, or of the future performance of parties to the transaction. Nor does the
rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction.
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
U.S. Bank National Association acts as trustee and registrar and paying agent under the Senior Bond
Resolution. In the event of a default under the Resolution governing the Senior Lien Bonds, the Bond Resolution or
both, a conflict of interest may exist and U.S. Bank National Association may be required to resign as Trustee and
Registrar and Paying Agent under the Bond Resolution.
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
The Issuer will covenant in the Resolution and a Continuing Disclosure Certificate, for the benefit of the
registered owners and the “Beneficial Owners” (as defined in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate) of the Series 2020
Bonds, to provide certain financial information and operating data relating to the Issuer by no later than seven months
after the end of each of the Issuer’s fiscal years, commencing with the report for the fiscal year ending December 31,
2020 (the “Annual Report”), and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events with respect to the
Series 2020 Bonds, in accordance with Rule 15c-12(b)(5) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The
Annual Report will be filed by the Issuer with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through its EMMA system
(and with the State Information Depository, if any, established by the State of South Carolina). The notices of such
material events will be filed by the Issuer with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (and with such State
Information Depository, if any). The specific nature of the information to be contained in the Annual Report and the
notices of material events is set forth in Appendix E. These covenants have been made in order to assist the original
purchaser of the Series 2020 Bonds in complying with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12(b)(5).
As provided in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, if the Issuer fails to comply with any provision of the
Continuing Disclosure Certificate, any registered owner or “beneficial owner” of the Series 2020 Bonds may take such
actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking injunctive relief or specific performance by court order,
to cause the Issuer to comply with its continuing disclosure obligations under the Continuing Disclosure Certificate.
“Beneficial owner” is defined in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate to mean any person which (a) has the power,
directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Series 2020 Bond (including
persons holding Series 2020 Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the
owner of any Series 2020 Bond for federal income tax purposes. If any person seeks to cause the Issuer to comply with
its continuing disclosure obligations under the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, it is the responsibility of such person
to demonstrate that it is a “Holder” within the meaning of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate.
The Issuer has from time to time entered into similar continuing disclosure undertakings for the benefit of the
beneficial owners of its publicly held Bonds (collectively, the “Prior Undertakings”). The annual reports required for
the Prior Undertakings for fiscal years 2015 through 2019 included base and volumetric rates for residential users,
however, rate information for commercial and industrial users was inadvertently omitted in certain of these years. The
Issuer updated this information through filings with the MSRB on September 26, 2018 and August 31, 2020.
MISCELLANEOUS
The references herein to the Resolution and the Enabling Act are brief outlines of certain provisions thereof.
Such outlines do not purport to be complete and reference is made to such documents for full and complete statements
of their provisions. Copies of these documents are available from the Office of the Issuer, 561 Mauldin Road,
Greenville, South Carolina 29607 (864-299-4000), Attention: Cathy D. Caldwell, Administrative Finance Director.
Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or of estimates, whether or not so
expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no representation is made that any of the
estimates will be realized.
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The execution of this Official Statement and its delivery have been duly authorized by the Issuer.
RENEWABLE WATER RESOURCES
By:
Chief Executive Officer
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APPENDIX A
ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC DATA FOR GREENVILLE COUNTY
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ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC DATA FOR GREENVILLE COUNTY
General
Greenville County (the “County”) is located in the northwestern portion of the State of South
Carolina (the “State”) near the foothills of the Blue Ridge Mountains. Situated on the I-85 corridor
between Charlotte and Atlanta, the County is almost equal distance between New York and Miami and
has become an established coordination center for east coast transportation. It has an area of 789 square
miles and is bordered by Pickens, Anderson, Laurens and Spartanburg Counties in the State and by
Transylvania, Henderson and Polk Counties in North Carolina.
The County is the centerpiece of the region considered to be the “economic engine of South
Carolina” and the most populous county in the State. Since its beginning as a small farming community
in 1786, the County has grown into a large and diverse metropolitan area and one of the southeast
region’s premier areas for business. Over the past thirty years, the County has transformed itself from
the textile capital of the world to a destination for a diverse industry base that includes corporate
offices, manufacturing and warehousing/distribution operations. The County announced over $1.5
billion in new capital investment and 10,000 new jobs in the last five years.
Employment Information
The average unemployment rate in the County, the State, and the United States for each of the
last five years is shown below.
Greenville County
State
United States
Year
2015
4.9%
6.0%
5.3%
2016
4.3
5.0
4.9
2017
3.7
4.3
4.4
2018
2.9
3.4
3.9
2019
2.4
2.8
3.7
_____________________________
Source: South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce, Labor Market Information; U.S.
Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics
Monthly unemployment numbers for the County for the past 12 months available are shown
below.
2019
2020
July Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov.
Dec.
Jan.
Feb. March April
2.5% 2.4% 1.7% 2.1% 1.9%
2.0%
2.5% 2.6% 2.6% 12.2%
_____________________________
(p)
Preliminary.
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics; LAUS
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May
June
12.1% 8.4%(p)

Major Employers
The ten largest manufacturing employers located within the County as of July 2020, the
product/service provided and the approximate number of employees of each is listed below.
Name
Michelin North America
Duke Energy Corp.
Sealed Air Corp.-Cryovac Division
Magna International
House of Raeford (Columbia Farms)
Mitsubishi Polyester Film Co.
Robert Bosch Rexroth Corporation
Lockheed Martin Aircraft
Hartness International, Inc.
Honeywell
_____________________________
Source: Greenville Area Development Corp.

Product/Service
Tires
Gas Turbines
Plastic Bags and Plastic Film
Motor Vehicle Parts
Poultry Processing
Unsupported Plastic Film and Sheets
Fluid Power Pumps and Motors
Aircraft Maintenance and Modification
Packaging Equipment and Machinery
Gas Turbine Component Parts

Employees
4,829
3,418
1,300
950
825
600
600
500
350
325

The ten largest non-manufacturing employers located within the County as of July 2020, the
product/service provided and the approximate number of employees of each is listed below.
Name
Prisma Health System
Greenville County School District
Bon Secours St. Francis Health System
Greenville County
State of South Carolina
SYNNEX Corporation
Fluor Corp.
TD Bank
Verizon Wireless
USC School of Medicine
_____________________________
Source: Greenville Area Development Corp.

Product/Service
Health Services
Public Education
Health Services
County Government
State Government
Technology Solutions
Engineering/Construction Services
Financial Services
Telecommunications
Medical School

Employees
16,000
10,000+
4,451
2,341
2,552
1,600
1,600
1,600
1,360
1,192

Population
In 2010, the U.S. Bureau of the Census estimated the County’s population to have increased by
18.9% from 2000, bringing the total estimated population in the County to 451,225, and ranking the
County first in population among the State’s 46 counties. The U.S. Bureau of the Census also reports
that there was an 18.2% increase in the number of households in the County from 149,556 in 2000 to
176,531 in 2010 (the latest statistics available).
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The following table shows population information for the County from the U.S. Bureau of the
Census as of April 1 for the years listed below.
Year
1990
2000
2010

County Population
320,167
379,616
451,225

Percent Increase
11.2%
18.6
18.9

The following table shows population estimates for the County and the City of Greenville as of
July 1 for the last five years.
Year
County Population
2015
491,863
2016
498,766
2017
506,837
2018
514,213
2019
523,542
_____________________________
Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census, American FactFinder

City Population
63,606
67,134
68,474
68,849
70,635

Per Capita Income
The County ranks second among the 46 counties of the State in per capita income, outranked
only by Beaufort County, which includes the resort community of Hilton Head. The per capita income in
the County, the State, and the United States for each of the last five years for which information is
available is shown below.
Year
County
State
2014
$41,637
$37,014
2015
43,671
38,783
2016
44,298
39,517
2017
46,066
41,633
2018
48,644
43,702
_____________________________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis
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United States
$46,494
48,451
49,246
51,640
54,446

Retail Sales
The State of South Carolina imposes a sales tax of 6% on all retail sales. The following table
shows the level of gross retail sales for businesses located in the County for the last five years available.
Increase (Decrease)
Over Previous Year
7.6%
3.2
(0.9)
4.3
3.3

Year
Total Retail Sales
2015
$17,465,687,935
2016
18,027,801,554
2017
17,855,204,660
2018
18,631,754,252
2019
19,257,759,682
_____________________________
Source: South Carolina Department of Revenue
Capital Investment

Listed below is the total capital investment and additional employment for new and expanded
industry in the County for the past five years and part of 2020.
Year
Total Capital Investment
2015
$487,844,389
2016
344,541,177
2017
309,898,000
2018
112,447,987
2019
320,718,881
1
2020
45,375,000 1
_____________________________
Source: South Carolina Department of Commerce
1
As of July 2020

Jobs Committed
1,766
2,599
1,654
1,672
2,322
399

Labor Force
The composition of the civilian labor force in the County for the last five years is as follows:
2015
242,770
230,754
12,016
4.9%

2016
245,243
234,813
10,430
4.3%

2017
248,036
238,980
9,056
3.7%

2018
248,725
241,431
7,294
2.9%

2019
255,903
249,678
6,225
2.4%

Civilian Labor Force
Employment
Unemployment
Percent of Labor Force Unemployed
_______________________________
Note: Workers involved in labor disputes are included among the employed. Total employment also
includes agricultural workers, proprietors, self-employed persons, workers in private households, and
unpaid family workers.
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics
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The composition of the civilian, nonagricultural labor force in the County, based on
place-of-work basis, for the last five years for which information is available is as follows:
2014
29,816

Manufacturing
Non-Manufacturing
Construction and Mining
18,054
Transportation & Public Utilities
9,673
Wholesale & Retail Trade
48,265
Information
6,985
Finance, Insurance & Real Estate
30,096
Services (including Agricultural Serv.) 155,023
Government
33,013
TOTAL
330,925

2015
30,503

2016
31,404

2017
31,628

2018
31,635

18,509
9,756
51,733
7,493
31,434
159,977
33,797
343,202

20,319
9,802
51,188
7,201
33,130
162,190
33,908
349,142

20,323
10,736
50,932
7,528
34,591
165,147
34,466
355,351

21,016
12,716
51,924
7,681
35,948
173,993
35,109
370,022

Notes: Totals may not add due to rounding.
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics
Construction
The following table shows the approximate number of building permits issued for new
construction in the County and the valuations assigned to those permits by the permitting offices, in each
of the last five years.
Residential
Number
of Permits
Year
Value
2015
5,916
$162,348,888
2016
6,814
191,747,890
2017
7,106
460,545,772
2018
8,391
618,563,837
2019
7,678
611,249,107
_____________________________
Source: Greenville County; Code Compliance Division

Commercial
Number
Estimated
of Permits
Construction Costs
446
$264,834,923
663
362,555,337
443
284,950,048
588
275,865,993
547
273,939,135

Institutions of Higher Learning
Furman University (“Furman”), founded in 1826, is located in the County. Furman is a liberal
arts college with a present undergraduate enrollment of approximately 2,828. While Furman specializes
in undergraduate liberal arts education, it also offers graduate degrees in education and chemistry.
The University Center of Greenville (the “Center”), a partnership of seven South Carolina
universities, was founded in 1987 to increase access to educational opportunities for upstate citizens. The
Center enrolls nearly 5,000 students annually and offers courses for 22 undergraduate and 36 graduate
degree programs.
Bob Jones University, with its 205-acre campus, is located in Greenville. Bob Jones University
is the world’s largest fundamental Christian liberal arts institution and serves students from every state
and 40 foreign countries with a current enrollment of approximately 3,008.
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North Greenville University (“North Greenville”) is a four-year liberal arts institution offering
four- year and graduate degree programs in Christian Ministry and Business Administration. It is
affiliated with the South Carolina Baptist Convention and presently has an enrollment of approximately
2,426 students.
Public Education
The operation of public schools in the State is the responsibility of local school districts which
derive their revenues, for the most part, from local school district property taxes and state and federal
sources. Cities and counties have no legal or fiscal responsibility in connection with the operation of
public schools, although some counties do supplement local school districts’ operating and/or capital
budgets.
The School District of Greenville County (the “School District”) operates the public school
system throughout almost all of the County. The School District does not include two relatively small
areas, one in the northeastern comer of the County and the other in the southern part of the County. The
School District also includes a small portion of Spartanburg County and a small portion of Laurens
County. With nearly 77,000 students, the County is home to the largest public school system in the
State.
The School District receives no financial assistance from the County and operates as a separate
and independent political entity deriving its revenues for the most part from local School District
property taxes, state appropriations and federal sources.
Public school enrollment in the County on the 135th day of school for the last five school years
is shown in the following table:
School
Year
2015-16
2016-17
2017-18
2018-19
2019-20

K-4 and
Kindergarten
7,755
7,741
7,676
7,583
7,728

Grades 1-8
46,952
47,657
47,446
48,158
48,567

Grades 9-12
21,346
21,187
20,249
20,391
20,687

Total
76,053
76,585
75,371
76,132
76,982

Source: South Carolina Department of Education
Hospital Facilities
The healthcare systems known as Greenville Health System and Palmetto Health have combined
into a healthcare system called Prisma Health. Prisma Health, a not-for-profit health system, is upstate
South Carolina’s most comprehensive healthcare provider and one of the State’s largest hospital
systems. Prisma Health is the County’s largest employer, employing nearly 15,000, including nearly
1,000 physicians. Prisma Health consists of eight inpatient hospitals and ranks in the top 100 integrated
healthcare networks in the nation. Additional hospital facilities are provided by Bon Secours Health
System.
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Financial Institutions
The County had 31 banking institutions with total deposits of $11,976,856,000 as of June 30,
2019 according to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.
Utilities
Electric Power. Electric Power. The major supplier of electricity in the County, except for
certain portions of the County which are served by municipalities or electric cooperatives, is Duke
Energy (“Duke Energy”), one of the nation’s largest investor-owned electric utilities. Duke Energy
serves approximately 2,000,000 customers throughout North and South Carolina. Laurens Electric
Cooperative serves approximately 53,000 customers in the upstate and Blue Ridge Electric Cooperative
serves approximately 63,500 customers in the upstate. Laurens Electric and Blue Ridge Electric are part
of the Touchstone Energy Network. The Greer Commission of Public Works (“Greer CPW”) also
provides electricity to a portion of the County and manages approximately 16,600 electric meters within
its service area, which includes a portion of the County.
Gas. Natural gas is supplied to most sections of the County by Piedmont Natural Gas, Inc.
(“PNG”), located in the Greenville area since the 1950s. PNG, the second-largest natural gas
distribution company in the Southeast, is engaged in the transportation and sale of natural gas to over
1,000,000 customers in North and South Carolina and Tennessee. The Greer CPW has been providing
natural gas to portions of the County since 1957 and manages approximately 20,700 gas meters in its
service area. The City of Fountain Inn’s Natural Gas System has been providing natural gas to portions
of the County since 1954 and currently has over 6,300 customers.
Water. The water requirements of the majority of the County and portions of three adjacent
counties are supplied by the Commissioners of Public Works of the City of Greenville doing business
as Greenville Water. Greenville Water obtains most of its water from two large mountain watersheds,
comprising a total of 26,000 acres in the foothills of the Blue Ridge Mountains: one on the headwaters
of the South Saluda River (Table Rock) and the other on the headwaters of the North Saluda River
(Poinsett). The 75 million gallon per day Stovall Water Filtration Plant provides filtration for all water
derived from Table Rock and Poinsett. Greenville Water also receives water from the Keowee Facility.
This facility, located in Pickens County, includes a raw water intake structure and pumping station at
Lake Keowee, approximately two miles of raw water pipeline, the 60 million gallon per day Adkins
Water Filtration Plant, 27 miles of 72-inch transmission main extending from the treatment plant to the
existing distribution system, and two eight million gallon reservoirs located at the high point of the
transmission main. The current average daily use of Greenville Water is approximately 63 million
gallons. The Greer CPW also provides water-filtering services to a portion of the County and currently
manages approximately 18,200 water meters in its service area.
Transportation
The County is a major distribution center for the southeastern United States. Interstate 85, a
major interstate that originates in Montgomery, Alabama, runs through Atlanta, Georgia and Charlotte,
North Carolina and ends in Richmond, Virginia, passes through the County. Interstate 26 (which
connects Charleston, South Carolina to Asheville, North Carolina) runs a few miles east of the County
and is connected to the City of Greenville and Interstate 85 by Interstate 385. Interstate 26 provides
direct access to South Carolina ports in Charleston, Port Royal and Georgetown. The County is located
almost equidistant between New York and Miami and is positioned on Interstate 85 halfway between
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Charlotte, North Carolina and Atlanta, Georgia. U.S. Highways 25, 29, 123 and 276 traverse the
County, and South Carolina Highways 81, 253 and 416 connect the County with other major arteries.
The County has traditionally been a rail center owing to its location between Atlanta and rail
lines serving the East Coast. CSX Railroad and Norfolk Southern Railway provide freight service
through rail lines located in the County, and Amtrak provides passenger service. More than 75 motorfreight trucking firms serve the County area with nearly 50% of them maintaining terminals there. These
regional and local motor carriers offer fast, efficient service on long or short hauls. This location
provides the area with a large and consistent supply of trucks from numerous specialized motor carriers
serving the entire United States, enabling overnight trucking service to all major markets in the
southeastern United States and second-morning delivery to any destination on the East Coast. One-day
trucking service reaches over 44% of the United States population and more than 25% of the nation’s
manufacturing output.
The Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport (“GSP”), which is located approximately 15
minutes from the City of Greenville, offers regularly scheduled commercial airline service through six
major carriers (Delta Air Lines, United Airlines, Southwest Airlines, Frontier Airlines, American
Airlines and Allegiant). GSP is one of the most active airports in the State based on scheduled daily
flights and seats available. An average of 50 non-stop daily departures to 14 major cities and 19 airports
across the U.S. are offered at GSP. Approximately 2,300,000 passengers use GSP’s facilities annually.
GSP’s 11,001 foot runway is sufficient to meet the landing requirements of any aircraft in service today
and a federal customs immigration and agriculture inspection station permits international flights to fly
directly to GSP to clear customs. GSP also provides cargo and general aviation services. In 2017, GSP
completed a $127 million Wingspan project, the largest capital improvement initiative ever undertaken
at GSP. The terminal was completely rebuilt from the ground up, expanding from 225,000 to 375,000
square feet. GSP is currently in the process of adding 1,500 additional vehicle parking spaces and
making improvements to the airport’s roadways. GSP has also approved a $75 million project to build a
parking garage and consolidated rental car facility, expected to be completed in fall 2022.
In addition, the City of Greenville has general aviation services through an airport located in
downtown Greenville, which hosts business executives, government officials and tourists traveling by
private carrier, as well as Donaldson Center Airbase, which provides military and general aviation
service. The downtown airport has approximately 230 based aircraft and two full-service fixed base
operators, which offer fuel service, flight instruction, air charter service, full FAA-approved repair and
maintenance, rental car services and courtesy cars.
The South Carolina Technology & Aviation Center (“SCTAC”), formerly known as Donaldson
Center Industrial Air Park, was converted in 1963 from a U.S. Air Force base into a “multi-modal”
airport industrial park with interstate, highway and railway access. SCTAC is a jointly owned City of
Greenville and County facility, which is managed by the Donaldson Development Commission. Its
mission is to serve industry requiring direct access to airport infrastructure, while also providing an
attractive setting for industrial development. SCTAC is home to the International Transportation
Innovation Center, 350 acres of automotive testing infrastructure that includes two miles of asphalt and
concrete straightaways, an urban city track, and available research and office space. It is located two
miles south of Interstate 85 on U.S. Highway 25. SCTAC’s airport has an 8,000-foot by 150-foot
concrete runway, which is capable of handling virtually any landing gear configured aircraft. It has a
Category I ILS, NDB, and AWOS III weather station. Firmly established as an aircraft maintenance and
modification center, SCTAC also serves as a corporate aviation facility with the complete services of a
fixed base operator.
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APPENDIX B
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION
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SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION
The Bond Resolution contains various covenants and security provisions, some of which are
summarized below. Wherever particular provisions of the Bond Resolution are referred to, such
provisions should be considered incorporated by reference as part of the statements made, and the
statements made are qualified in their entirety by such provisions. Reference is made to the Bond
Resolution for a full and complete statement of its provisions. Capitalized words and terms used in this
summary which are defined in the Bond Resolution and not defined herein shall have the same meanings
as in the Bond Resolution. Among the more significant definitions contained in the Bond Resolution are
the following:
“Accreted Value” means the amounts set forth in and the amounts computed pursuant to a
formula set forth in a Series Resolution authorizing the issuance of Bonds in the form of Capital
Appreciation Bonds.
“Annual Budget” shall mean the annual budget or amended budget of the Issuer in effect as
provided in or adopted pursuant to the provisions of the Bond Resolution.
“Annual Principal and Interest Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the annual period in
question and to a Series of Bonds (or, if the context within the Bond Resolution expressly pertains to
Senior Lien Bonds, a series of Senior Lien Bonds, and in such cases, all references hereinafter in this
definition Annual Principal and Interest Requirement as to “Bonds” shall be read in that context to mean
“Senior Lien Bonds”), an amount equal to the sum of (A) all interest payable on such Series of Bonds
during such period (the rate of such interest to be determined in the manner set forth in paragraph (1) of
this definition below), less any such interest which is to be paid from proceeds of Bonds in accordance
with the terms of the Bond Resolution, plus (B) any Principal Installments of such Series of Bonds during
such period; provided, however, with respect to Partially Amortizing Bonds, the amount of the principal
which would be payable during such Fiscal Year shall be computed as if such principal were amortized
from the date of issuance thereof over a period of 20 years or the actual maturity of such Partially
Amortizing Bonds, whichever is greater, on a level debt service basis at an interest rate equal to the rate
borne by such Partially Amortizing Bonds on the date calculated, except that if the date of calculation is
within 12 months of the actual maturity of such Partially Amortizing Bonds, the full amount of the
Principal Installment payable at maturity shall be included in such calculation.
(1)
For purposes of computing “Annual Principal and Interest Requirement,” the rate of
interest used to determine, prospectively, clause (A) of the preceding paragraph shall be a rate per annum
equal to (a) with respect to any Series of Bonds which bear interest at a fixed rate or rates, the rate or rates
of interest borne or to be borne by such Bonds, and (b) with respect to any Series of Variable Rate Bonds,
the following methods shall determine the interest rate to be used:
(i)
in the case of determining the Annual Principal and Interest Requirement or the
Combined Principal and Interest Requirement, as the case may be, for purposes of the additional
Bonds test referred to in paragraphs (B)(4) and (C) under the heading ‘‘Additional Bonds and
Other Obligations - Additional Bonds” in this Appendix, the interest rate shall be equal to the 30year Revenue Bond Index published by The Bond Buyer (or comparable financial journal of
national standing) no more than two weeks prior to, but in no event after, the sale of the proposed
Series of Bonds to be issued; and
(ii)
in the case of determining the Combined Annual Principal and Interest Requirement for
purposes of applying the rate covenant described in paragraph (A) under the heading “Rate
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Covenant” in this Appendix, the interest rate shall be equal to the average of actual interest rates
prevailing on such Variable Rate Bonds for the preceding 12-month period; provided, however,
that if the 30-year Revenue Bond Index referred to in (i) above is no longer published in The
Bond Buyer or comparable financial journal of national standing, any reasonably equivalent
nationally recognized index published for the periods in question may be selected by the Chief
Financial Officer for use in its stead.
(2)
The rate determined pursuant to paragraph (1) of this definition with respect to any Fiscal
Year shall be subject to the cumulative effect of the following adjustments and assumptions to the extent
applicable:
(i)
For any period during which a Financial Swap Agreement is in effect with respect to such
Bonds, such rate shall be adjusted upward or downward (as applicable) to take into account the
net amounts projected to be paid or received as Financial Swap Payments under such Financial
Swap Agreement with respect to such Bonds during such period, using, where applicable, the
interest rate methodology for Variable Rate Bonds set forth in clause (1)(b) of this definition.
(ii)
If Bonds have actually been purchased under a Liquidity Facility and for such reason are
subject, at the time of such computation, to any modified or additional provisions as to the
timings and amounts of principal and interest due on such Bonds, then such modified or
additional provisions shall be taken into account for purposes of this definition, with resort, where
applicable, to the interest rate methodology for Variable Rate Bonds set forth in clause (1)(b) of
this definition; otherwise, however, the existence of any such modified or additional provisions
with respect to payments of principal and interest relating to Bonds subject to a Liquidity Facility
shall not be taken into account for purposes of this definition.
(iii)
Principal and interest with respect to any Partially Amortizing Bonds shall be excluded
from any calculation of Annual Principal and Interest Requirements to the extent that funds for
payment thereof are held in a special account established for the purpose of such principal and
interest and evidence thereof satisfactory to the Trustee is delivered to the Trustee.
For purposes of subparagraph (2)(i) of this definition, the determination of which Bonds (or
portions thereof) are subject to any Financial Swap Agreement shall be set forth in a certificate of the
Chief Financial Officer using any method of allocation certified by the Chief Financial Officer as being
deemed reasonable and economically appropriate in his/her discretion. In the event that the Chief
Financial Officer determines in any such certificate that a reallocation of any prior allocation of one or
more Financial Swap Agreements among Bonds (or portions thereof) is reasonable and economically
appropriate from time to time, then each such reallocation shall be as set forth in such certificate delivered
to the Trustee. In the event of conflicting allocation certificates, the latest such certificate to have been
executed and delivered to the Trustee shall control to the extent of such conflict. Any certificate executed
pursuant to this paragraph shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes (until modified by any
subsequent certificate executed pursuant to this paragraph, which subsequent certificate shall then be
conclusive and binding as described in this paragraph).
Except to the limited extent expressly set forth in this definition above, Financial Swap
Agreements and any amounts owing thereunder shall not be taken into account in any computation of
Annual Principal and Interest Requirements.
(3)
Notwithstanding anything in this definition to the contrary, with respect to any Series of
Bonds which is or has been incurred or issued as direct subsidy “Build America Bonds” pursuant to
Section 54AA(g) or I 400U-2 and Section 6431 of the Code, or any successor or similar interest subsidy
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program established under the Code, any subsidy payments received or expected to be received from the
United States with respect to such Bonds will be credited against the interest paid on such Bonds, and
with respect to any new Series of Bonds proposed to be incurred or issued as direct subsidy “Build
America Bonds” pursuant to Section 54AA(g) or 1400U-2 and Section 6431 of the Code, or any
successor or similar interest subsidy program established under the Code, the assumed interest rate for
such Bonds shall be determined by subtracting the applicable direct subsidy percentage from the stated
interest rate.
“Auditors” shall mean an independent firm of certified public accountants who audit the books,
records, and accounts of the Issuer.
“Authorized Investments” shall mean investments that are, at the time of investment, lawful for
investment of the Issuer’s funds under Section 6-5-10, or Chapter 6 of Title 6, Code of Laws of South
Carolina 1976, as amended from time to time, or any successor or other applicable provisions of the Code
of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended from time to time.
“Bond Counsel” means an attorney or firm of attorneys of recognized standing in the field of law
relating to municipal, state and public agency financing, selected by the Issuer.
“Bondholders” or “Holder”, or any similar term, when used with reference to a Bond or Bonds,
shall mean any person who shall be the registered owner of any Outstanding Bond, and in the case of
Bonds consisting of contractual obligations not in the form of a promissory note, the party entitled to
enforce the Issuer’s payment obligation thereunder.
“Bonds” shall mean any indebtedness or obligations, including indebtedness or obligations
entered into under the provisions of long-term contracts payable from the revenues of the System, issued
pursuant to the Bond Resolution and a Series Resolution, excluding Senior Lien Bonds, Junior Lien
Bonds and Special Facilities Bonds, Financial Swap Agreements, Credit Facilities and Liquidity Facilities
(and the Issuer’s obligations to the providers or counterparties thereof) which shall not be deemed to
constitute Bonds for purposes of the Bond Resolution.
“Capital Appreciation Bonds” shall mean Bonds that bear interest payable at maturity, upon
redemption prior to maturity or prior to maturity at the date set forth in the Series Resolution authorizing
the issuance of such Bonds in the amounts determined by reference to the Accreted Value of such Capital
Appreciation Bonds in accordance with the provisions of the Series Resolution authorizing the issuance of
such Capital Appreciation Bonds.
“Certified Public Accountants” shall mean an independent firm of certified public accountants.
“Chief Financial Officer” shall mean the chief financial officer of the Issuer or his/her designee,
which designee shall generally have been given by said chief financial officer the responsibility of
supervising and maintaining records and accounts relating to the collection and disbursement of the
revenues derived by the Issuer from the operation and maintenance of the System.
“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and
applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations from time to time in effect.
“Combined Annual Principal and Interest Requirement” shall mean, with respect to any Fiscal
Year, the sum of the Annual Principal and Interest Requirements for (i) all Series of Bonds Outstanding
or to be Outstanding plus (ii) unless the context is clearly to the contrary, all Senior Lien Bonds
outstanding within the meaning of the Senior Lien Bond Resolution, during that Fiscal Year.
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“Commission” shall mean the Renewable Water Resources Commission and any successor body.
“Consulting Engineers” shall mean any independent firm of consulting engineers having skill
and experience in sewer utility financing and rate design.
“Credit Facility” means one or more instruments provided by a Credit Facility Issuer, which may
include a bond insurance policy, letter of credit, contract, agreement or similar credit facility singly or
collectively meeting the requirements of the applicable Series Resolution and, in the case of multiple
credit facilities supporting a single Series of Bonds, having the same expiration date, in support of the
payment when due of principal of and interest on one or more Series of Bonds, that in the aggregate
satisfy the requirements of the Series Resolution which provides for the issuance of such Series of Bonds.
“Credit Facility Issuer” means, with respect to any Series of Bonds, if a Credit Facility is in
effect, the institution or, if more than one institution, the institutions issuing the Credit Facility; provided,
however, that if more than one institution is issuing the Credit Facility, the number or percentage of such
institutions required to provide any consent or approval hereunder shall be specified in the Series
Resolution pursuant to which such Series of Bonds are issued. The Credit Facility Issuer and the Liquidity
Facility Issuer may be the same institution or institutions.
“Date of Issue” shall mean that date established in any Series Resolution from which interest
shall accrue or value accrete, as the case may be, on the Bonds of the applicable Series.
“Debt Service Fund” shall mean the funds so designated in the Bond Resolution and designed to
provide for the payment of the principal of and interest on the respective Series of Bonds issued pursuant
to the Bond Resolution, as the same respectively fall due, and as established by the provisions of the
Bond Resolution.
“Debt Service Reserve Fund” shall mean the funds, if any, so designated pursuant to a Series
Resolution and designed (1) to insure the timely payment of the principal of and interest on a Series of
Bonds Outstanding and issued pursuant to the Bond Resolution, (2) to provide for the redemption of such
Series of Outstanding Bonds prior to their stated maturity, as established by the provisions of the Bond
Resolution, and (3) to make such other payments as may be provided in the applicable Series Resolution.
“Depository” means any bank or trust company or national banking association selected by the
Issuer as a depository of moneys or securities held under the provisions of the Bond Resolution and may
include the Trustee.
“DSRF Funding Instrument” shall have the meaning set forth under the heading “Establishment
and Flow of Funds - Bond Resolution - Debt Service Reserve Funds” in this Appendix.
“Enabling Act” shall mean Chapter 17 of Title 6, Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as
amended, and all other statutory authorizations, authorizing and enabling the Commission to adopt the
Bond Resolution.
“Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth under the heading “Events of Default and
Remedies” in this Appendix.
“Financial Consultant” shall mean an independent firm of certified public accountants or
financial advisors which has been retained by the Issuer to provide financial consultation services for the
benefit of the Issuer.
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“Financial Swap Agreements” shall mean any swap, cap, collar, floor, forward, option, put, call,
cash flow exchange or other similar agreement or arrangement, howsoever denominated, and regardless
of the level or type of rates or indexes upon which any one or more components thereof is based
(including all schedules, confirmations, exhibits, credit support documentation, annexes, opinions of
counsel or other documentation related thereto), entered into by the Issuer with a Financial Swap
Counterparty with respect to any Series or portion of any Series of Bonds, to the extent it has been clearly
identified pursuant to the definition of “Annual Principal and Interest Requirement” in the Bond
Resolution as being entered into to hedge or modify amounts payable with respect to such Series or
portion of such Series of Bonds (each, a “Financial Swap Agreement”). The term “Financial Swap
Agreement” shall not, however, include any component of an agreement or arrangement which would
otherwise be included as part of a “Financial Swap Agreement” under the foregoing definition but which
effectively constitutes a loan by or to any party thereto (rather than a hedge or conversion of interest rate
exposure) by reason of the initial “off-market” pricing or similar aspect thereof.
“Financial Swap Counterparty” means each financial institution (including any Credit Facility
Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer or any entity related thereto) entering into a Financial Swap Agreement
with the Issuer that, at the time of the execution of such Financial Swap Agreement, (i) satisfies any
applicable requirements of law, and (ii) satisfies the requirements, if any, of any Series Resolution
pursuant to which the Series of Bonds to which the Financial Swap Agreement relates have been issued
(collectively, the “Financial Swap Counterparties”).
“Financial Swap Payments” means, collectively, all amounts payable or receivable by the Issuer
to or from any Financial Swap Counterparty pursuant to the terms of any Financial Swap Agreements, but
excluding any Financial Swap Termination Payments (each, a “Financial Swap Payment”). The Trustee
may rely upon a certificate of a Financial Swap Counterparty as conclusive evidence of any and all
Financial Swap Payments that may be due and owing to or from such Financial Swap Counterparty under
the applicable Financial Swap Agreement and on any date, unless such a certificate shall have been
provided to the Trustee, may assume that no Financial Swap Payments are then due; provided, that failure
of a Financial Swap Counterparty to notify the Trustee of any such amount shall not affect the obligation
of the Issuer to pay all amounts due and owing to such Financial Swap Counterparty under the applicable
Financial Swap Agreement.
“Financial Swap Termination Payments” means, collectively, all amounts payable or receivable
by the Issuer to or from any Financial Swap Counterparty upon termination or partial termination of any
Financial Swap Agreement (each, a “Financial Swap Termination Payment”). The Trustee may rely
upon a certificate of a Financial Swap Counterparty as conclusive evidence of any and all Financial Swap
Termination Payments that may be due and owing to or from such Financial Swap Counterparty under the
applicable Financial Swap Agreement and on any date, unless such a certificate shall have been provided
to the Trustee, may assume that no Financial Swap Termination Payments are then due; provided, that
failure of a Financial Swap Counterparty to notify the Trustee of any such amount shall not affect the
obligation of the Issuer to pay all amounts due and owing to such Financial Swap Counterparty under the
applicable Financial Swap Agreement.
“Fiscal Year” shall mean the period of 12 calendar months, beginning on July 1 of each year, and
ending on June 30 of the next year unless the same shall have been changed by the Issuer pursuant to the
authorization contained in the Bond Resolution.
“Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” shall mean those accounting principles established
as such by the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Board, or any successor entity, for federal
reporting entities in the preparation of financial statements.
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“General Revenue Fund” shall mean the account or accounts which shall be established and
maintained by the Issuer in such fashion as to adequately reflect all of the receipts and revenues derived
from the operation of the System and all interest and other income earned by the Issuer in connection with
the operation of the System, as established by the provisions of the Bond Resolution.
“Government Obligations” shall mean direct general obligations of the United States of America
or obligations, the payment of principal or interest on which is fully and unconditionally guaranteed by
the United States of America.
“Gross Revenues” or “Gross Revenues of the System” shall mean:
(a)
all receipts and revenues (except customers’ deposits) derived from the operation of the
System including, without limiting the foregoing, service fees, tap-in fees, connection fees, availability
fees and impact fees;
(b)
all proceeds from the sale or other disposition of any property owned directly or
beneficially by the Issuer in connection with the operation of the System;
(c)
all interest and other income received directly or indirectly from the investment of any
monies or accounts relating to the System; excluding, however, investment income restricted to a purpose
inconsistent with the payment of operating expenses or debt service, and specifically excluding (whether
or not so restricted) interest earned on any construction fund or construction account created with the
proceeds of Bonds; and
(d)
all other unencumbered money to which the System may become entitled from any
source whatsoever, but specifically excluding government grants and aids-to-construction.
“Issuer” shall mean Renewable Water Resources, South Carolina.
“Junior Lien Bonds” shall mean any revenue bonds or other obligations issued by the Issuer
which are secured by pledges of and liens on the revenues of the System which are junior and subordinate
in all respects to the pledges and liens made to secure Bonds.
“Liquidity Facility” means one or more instruments provided by a Liquidity Facility Issuer with
respect to any Series of Bonds, singly or collectively meeting the requirements of the Series Resolution
pursuant to which such Bonds are issued, and having the same expiration date, providing for the payment
of the purchase price of one or more Series of Bonds and otherwise in the aggregate satisfying the
requirements thereof. A Liquidity Facility and a Credit Facility may be one and the same instrument with
respect to any Series of Bonds. If no Liquidity Facility is in effect with respect to a Series of Bonds,
references to the Liquidity Facility shall be disregarded for such Series.
“Liquidity Facility Issuer” means, with respect to any Series of Bonds, if a Liquidity Facility is
in effect, the institution, or, if more than one institution, the institutions issuing the Liquidity Facility;
provided, however, that if more than one institution is issuing the Liquidity Facility, the number or
percentage of such institutions required to provide any consent or approval hereunder shall be specified in
the Series Resolution pursuant to which is issued the Series of Bonds to which such Liquidity Facility
relates. The Liquidity Facility Issuer and the Credit Facility Issuer may be the same institution or
institutions. If no Liquidity Facility is in effect with respect to a Series of Bonds, references to the
Liquidity Facility Issuer shall be disregarded for such Series.
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“Net Earnings” shall mean for the period in question, the net income of the System, determined
in accordance with then Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, but whether or not Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles so require, it shall be adjusted as follows:
(a)
revenue derived from service fees, including connection and tap fees, availability fees,
impact fees and meter purchases, shall be included in income;
(b)
investment income not restricted to a purpose inconsistent with the payment of
operating expenses or debt service shall be included in income;
(c)
any amounts received or expected to be received as direct subsidy payments by the
Issuer from the United States on any Series of Bonds issued or incurred as “Build America Bonds”
pursuant to Sections 54AA(g) or 1400U-2 and Section 6431 of the Code, or any successor or similar
interest subsidy program established under the Code, to the extent credited against interest paid on such
Bonds, shall be excluded as income;
(d)
gains on the sale or other disposition of investments or fixed or capital assets which do
not result from the ordinary course of business, shall be excluded as income;
(e)
investment income restricted to a purpose inconsistent with the payment of operating
expenses or debt service including (whether or not so restricted) interest earned on any construction fund
or construction account created with the proceeds of borrowing by the Issuer in connection with the
System, shall be excluded as income;
(f)

any amounts received by way of government grants shall be excluded as income;

(g)

revenues derived from the operation of Special Facilities shall be excluded as income;

(h)
unrealized gains resulting from changes in value of investments and Financial Swap
Agreements shall be excluded as income;
(i)

there shall be added back to such net income:
(1) losses on the sale or other disposition of investments or fixed or capital assets
which do not result from the ordinary course of business,
(2)

depreciation and amortization allowances,

(3)

amounts paid as interest on Bonds and Senior Lien Bonds,

(4) the amortization of financing expenses, underwriting discounts, call premiums,
gains or losses on the extinguishment of debt due to the refinancing of the same, and
other related or incidental non-recurring expenses resulting from the issuance of Bonds,
(5) expenses resulting directly from the operation of Special Facilities to the extent
that the revenues derived therefrom have been pledged to secure, and used for, the
payment of Special Facilities Bonds,
(6) any non-cash expenses resulting from the application of GASB Statement 45
regarding the provision of postemployment benefits other than pensions,
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(7) as to any non-cash expenses, any cumulative effect of a change resulting from
adoption of any new accounting pronouncement as required by any accounting
standards body, and
(8) unrealized losses resulting from changes in the value of investments and
Financial Swap Agreements, and
(j)
the amount of payments or receipts in respect of Financial Swap Agreements shall, for
purposes of computing Net Earnings, be taken into account solely as an addition to or a subtraction from,
as applicable, interest expense.
“Operation and Maintenance Expenses” shall mean all expenses incurred in connection with the
administration and ordinary operation of the System, including without limitation such expenses as may
reasonably be necessary to preserve the System in good repair and working order.
“Outstanding”, when used with reference to the Bonds, shall mean, as of any date, all such
Bonds theretofore or then being authenticated and delivered except:
(a)
(b)
delivered;

Bonds cancelled at or prior to such date;
Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been executed and

(c)
Bonds deemed to have been paid as described under the heading “Defeasance” in this
Appendix; and
(d)
for purposes of any consent or other action to be taken by the holders of a specified
percentage of Bonds, Bonds held by, or for the account of the Issuer, or by any person controlling,
controlled by, or under common control with the Issuer.
“Partially Amortizing Bonds” shall mean a Series of Bonds which, as of the time of issuance,
25% or more of the principal payments of which were due in a single Fiscal Year, which portion of the
principal is not required by the Series Resolution providing for their issuance to be paid by redemption
prior to such maturity date. “Partially Amortizing Bonds” shall not, however, include any payments
which would otherwise constitute “Partially Amortizing Bonds” under the preceding definition solely by
reason that the applicable Bonds have been purchased under a Liquidity Facility and are then held subject
to an accelerated principal payment schedule required thereunder.
“Principal Installment” shall mean, as of any date of calculation, (i) the principal amount of
Outstanding Bonds coming due in the period in question plus (ii) any mandatory sinking fund payment
required on Outstanding Bonds during the period in question. With respect to any Capital Appreciation
Bonds, “Principal Installment” shall mean the Accreted Value which is due and payable during the period
in question.
“Registrar” shall mean the Trustee or any bank, trust company, or national banking association
which is authorized by the Issuer to maintain an accurate list of those who from time to time shall be the
Holders of Bonds of a particular Series and shall effect the transfer of such Bonds in accordance with the
provisions of the Bond Resolution and having the duties, responsibilities, and rights provided for in the
Bond Resolution and any Series Resolution, and its successor or successors and any other corporation or
association which at any time may be substituted in its place pursuant to the Bond Resolution.
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“Reserve Requirement” shall mean, as of any date of calculation, the debt service reserve
requirement, if any, established by a Series Resolution authorizing a Series of Bonds.
“Secured Financial Swap Agreement” means a Financial Swap Agreement between the Issuer
and a Financial Swap Counterparty which the Issuer has designated as a “Secured Financial Swap
Agreement” for purposes of the Bond Resolution in a written certificate delivered to the Trustee and such
Financial Swap Counterparty (which certificate may be located within the Financial Swap Agreement
documents themselves). Any such certificate may be revoked following its delivery solely by a written
certificate of revocation executed by both the Issuer and the applicable Financial Swap Counterparty and
delivered to the Trustee.
“Senior Bond Resolution” shall mean the resolution of the Western Carolina Regional Sewer
Authority Commission adopted April 26, 1990 with respect to the Senior Lien Bonds.
“Senior Lien Bonds” shall mean those obligations of the Issuer issued pursuant to the Senior
Bond Resolution and defined as such in the Bond Resolution.
“Series” shall mean all of the Bonds authenticated and delivered on original issuance in a
simultaneous transaction, and any Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered in lieu of or in
substitution for (but not to refund) such Bonds as provided in the Bond Resolution, regardless of
variations in maturity, interest rate or other provisions.
“Series Resolution” shall mean a Resolution of the Commission authorizing the issuance of a
Series of Bonds by the Issuer pursuant to the Bond Resolution in accordance with its terms and
provisions.
“Special Facilities Bonds” shall mean those obligations described in and issued in accordance
with the provisions of the Bond Resolution and which are not secured by a lien upon the Gross Revenues,
issued to finance those sewer facilities described under the heading “Additional Bonds and Other
Obligations - Special Facilities Bonds” in this Appendix.
“State” shall mean the State of South Carolina.
“System” shall mean the sewer system of the Issuer as the same is now constituted, all property
real and personal, used and useful therefor, all apparatus and equipment used in connection therewith, and
all acquisitions, replacements, enlargements, improvements, extensions and additions that may be made
thereto at any time hereafter; provided that the term “System” shall not include facilities acquired or
constructed with the proceeds of Special Facilities Bonds during such time as the Special Facilities Bonds
issued to finance such facilities are outstanding.
“Trustee” shall mean the financial institution serving as Trustee pursuant to the Bond Resolution
and which shall have such other duties, privileges and functions as are set forth herein. Such term shall
include any successor and any corporation or association resulting from or surviving any consolidation or
merger to which it or its successors may be a party and any successor trustee at the time serving as
successor trustee hereunder.
“Variable Rate Bonds” shall mean, for any period of time, any Bonds which during such period
bear interest at a variable rate; provided that Bonds the interest rate on which has been fixed for the
remainder of the term thereof shall no longer be Variable Rate Bonds.

B-9

Rate Covenant
The Issuer covenants and agrees in the Bond Resolution:
(A)
That it will, at all times, prescribed and maintain and thereafter collect rates and charges
for the services and facilities furnished by the System which, together with other income, are reasonably
expected to yield annual Gross Revenues in each Fiscal Year in at least the amount necessary to make
payment of all amounts required of it pursuant to the Bond Resolution, and annual Net Earnings which
shall equal at least 110% of the Combined Annual Principal and Interest Requirement for all Bonds and
Senior Lien Bonds in such Fiscal Year; and, promptly upon any material change in the circumstances
which were contemplated at the time such rates and charges were most recently reviewed, but not less
frequently than once in each Fiscal Year, shall review the rates and charges for its services and shall
promptly revise such rates and charges as necessary to comply with the foregoing requirement; and
(B)
That it will, prior to the beginning of each Fiscal Year, adopt an Annual Budget including
amended rate schedules for such Fiscal Year which shall set forth in reasonable detail the estimated
revenues and operating and capital expenses of the System for such Fiscal Year. The Issuer may at any
time adopt an amended Annual Budget for the remainder of the then current Fiscal Year.
General Covenants
The Issuer further covenants and agrees in the Bond Resolution:
(A)
That neither the System, nor any part thereof, nor any of the revenues derived from the
System, have been or will be hypothecated, mortgaged, otherwise pledged or encumbered, save and
except as disclosed and provided for in the Bond Resolution.
(B)
That it will permit no free service to be rendered, or use to be made of the services and
facilities of the System and for the services and facilities of the System used by the Issuer, the reasonable
cost and value of such services and facilities shall be paid as such services accrue. The revenue so
received from the Issuer shall be deemed revenue derived from the operation of the System, and shall be
accounted for in the same manner as other revenues of the System.
(C)
That it will permit no sewer customer to be connected to the System, or to receive any
service afforded by the System, unless a proper account is established and charges are levied against such
account for services rendered, and such customer shall become obligated to pay for the service rendered
at the appropriate rate according to the rate schedule then in force.
(D)
That so long as there are any Bonds Outstanding and unpaid, it will perform all duties
with reference to the System required by the Constitution and statutes of the State.
(E)
That it will not sell, lease or dispose of any portion of the System, necessary or useful
(as determined by the Issuer) in the operation of the System, other than in the ordinary course of business;
provided, that the Issuer may in all events:
(i)
grant easements, ground leases or rights of way in, upon, over and/or across
System property or rights of way of the Issuer for public recreation, transportation and/or cultural
use, provided that such grant and the resulting use by the grantee shall not materially interfere
with the Issuer’s conduct of business of the System; and
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(ii)
sell, lease or dispose of System property, provided that no Event of Default shall
have occurred or be continuing as of the time of such sale, lease or disposition, and the aggregate
net book value of said property at such time, together with all other System property sold, leased
or disposed of pursuant to this subparagraph (E)(ii) in such calendar year shall not exceed five
percent of the property, plant and equipment of the System less accumulated depreciation as
shown on the audited balance sheet of the Issuer for the most recent Fiscal Year for which audited
financial statements have been completed.
If, pursuant to this Section, anything belonging to the System shall be sold or disposed of, the proceeds of
such sale or disposition shall be deposited at the direction of the Issuer in either the General Revenue
Fund or any capital reserve fund as may have been established by the Commission with respect to the
System.
(F)
That it will maintain the System in good condition and repair, and shall operate the
System in a manner sufficient at all times to meet the requirements of the Bond Resolution.
(G)
That it will not make any use, and it shall direct the Trustee and each fiduciary not to
make any use of the proceeds of any Series Bonds which Bonds were intended upon the issuance thereof
to be exempt from federal income taxation (or to qualify as “Build American Bonds” pursuant to the
Code, or any successor or similar interest subsidy or tax credit program established under the Code),
which, if such use had been reasonably expected on the date of the issuance of the Bonds of such Series
would have caused such Bonds or any other Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section
148 of the Code and will observe and not violate the requirements of Section 148 of the Code.
(H)
That, as to any Series of Bonds which were intended at the time of their issuance to be
exempt from federal income taxation (or, as applicable, to qualify as “Build American Bonds” pursuant to
the Code, or any successor or similar interest subsidy or tax credit program established under the Code), it
will take all actions required of it under the Code that are necessary to preserve the tax-exempt status of
such Bonds (or eligibility for such subsidies or tax credits, as applicable), including without limitation,
actions necessary to comply with all information reporting requirements and any obligation to rebate
arbitrage earnings on the proceeds of such Bonds to the United States Government.
(I)
That it will make all payments or deposits required under Articles VII and VIII (flow of
funds) of the Bond Resolution (summarized under “Establishment and Flow of Funds – Bond Resolution”
herein) in a timely manner.
(J)
That so long as any Bonds are Outstanding, the Issuer will not later than 120 days after
the close of each Fiscal Year, cause to be made and completed by the Auditors, an audit of the records,
books and accounts pertaining to the System, made in accordance with recognized accounting practices,
showing, among other things, Net Earnings and to furnish a copy of such audit to the Trustee, any Credit
Facility Issuer and any Liquidity Facility Issuer. Such audit shall commence upon any violation of any
provision of any ordinance or resolution authorizing the issuance of any Bonds or Junior Lien Bonds and
any violation of any provision of the Bond Resolution noted by the auditing accountants, and such other
matters as to them seem pertinent.
Additional Bonds and Other Obligations
Additional Bonds
The Issuer covenants and agrees in the Bond Resolution that it will not issue Bonds or other
obligations payable from the revenues of the System whose claim to the revenues of the System is equal
B-11

or prior to that of the Senior Lien Bonds, but reserves the right to issue Bonds which, if issued in
accordance with the Bond Resolution will be on a parity with the Parity Bonds (as defined in the front
part of this Official Statement) and any other Bonds then outstanding.
(A)
The Bond Resolution provides that Bonds may be issued from time to time pursuant to
the provisions of a Series Resolution for the purposes of:
(1)

Obtaining funds for the expansion and improvement of the System and enabling the
Issuer to recoup expenditures for the same, including interest on the Bonds during
construction as may be permitted pursuant to the Enabling Act;

(2)

Providing funds for the payment of any bond anticipation note or notes that may have
been issued in anticipation of the issuance and sale of Bonds;

(3)

Refunding Bonds, Senior Lien Bonds or other obligations issued to provide land or
facilities which are or are to become a part of the System or which are or were
payable in whole or in part from revenues of the System;

(4)

Funding any Debt Service Reserve Funds (including the purchase of a DSRF Funding
Instrument) or restoring the value of the cash and securities in any Debt Service
Reserve Funds to an amount equal to the applicable Reserve Requirement;

(5)

Paying the costs of issuance of Bonds, including any credit enhancement therefor;
and

(6)

Financing all or any portion of a Financial Swap Termination Payment,

(B)
The Bond Resolution further provides that Bonds may be issued provided the following
conditions, among others, are met:
(1)

There shall exist, on the occasion of the issuance of the Bonds, no default in the
payment of the principal of or interest on any Outstanding Bonds, Senior Lien Bonds
or Junior Lien Bonds then outstanding, or payments due under any Secured Financial
Swap Agreement.

(2)

The Issuer shall obtain an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that (a) the Bond
Resolution and the applicable Series Resolution have been duly and lawfully adopted
and are in full force and effect; (b) the Bonds have been duly and lawfully authorized
and executed by the Issuer and are valid and binding upon and enforceable against,
the Issuer (except to the extent that the enforceability thereof may be limited by the
operation of bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting rights and remedies of
creditors); (c) with respect to such Bonds, the Bond Resolution creates the valid
pledge which it purports to create of the revenues and of moneys and securities on
deposit in any of the funds established under the Bond Resolution subject to the
application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Bond
Resolution; and (d) upon the execution and delivery thereof such Bonds will have
been duly and validly authorized and issued in accordance with the Bond Resolution.

(3)

With respect to all Series of Outstanding Bonds which are subject to a Reserve
Requirement, unless on the date of delivery of the proposed Series of Bonds (a) there
shall be on deposit in each required Debt Service Reserve Fund an amount equal to
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the applicable Reserve Requirement immediately following the issuance of such
Series of Bonds (whether in the form of cash or a DSRF Funding Instrument) or (b)
the applicable Series Resolution shall have provided for periodic payments to fully
fund any such Debt Service Reserve Fund over a prescribed period of time, and as of
the time of issuance of such proposed Series of Bonds, the Issuer shall not be in
default in making such prescribed payments or (c) the conditions referred to in (a) or
(b) above, as applicable, have been waived by the Holders of at least a majority of the
Outstanding Bonds of the affected Series, there shall be deposited in the applicable
Debt Service Reserve Funds such amounts, or a DSRF Funding Instrument shall be
provided, as are necessary to make the value of the moneys and securities or such
qualified substitute in such Debt Service Reserve Funds equal to the applicable
Reserve Requirement.
(4)

Either (a) Net Earnings during the most recent Fiscal Year for which audited financial
statements of the Issuer are completed, as certified by the Chief Financial Officer, the
Accountants, the Consulting Engineers or the Financial Consultants, as the same may
be adjusted to reflect (i) any rate increases currently adopted and to be in effect prior
to or coincident with the issuance of such Bonds and determined pro forma as though
such rate increases had been in continuous effect during such preceding Fiscal Year,
(ii) 100% of the estimated Net Earnings, as certified by the Chief Financial Officer,
the Certified Public Accountants, the Consulting Engineers or the Financial
Consultant, to be received from a system or facilities to be acquired by the proceeds
of such proposed Series of Bonds and which are then in existence and whose
customers are currently or will become customers of the System as of the third
anniversary of the date of issuance of the proposed Series of Bonds, (iii) 80% of the
estimated Net Earnings, as certified by the Chief Financial Officer, the Certified
Public Accountants, the Consulting Engineers or the Financial Consultant, to be
received from a new system or facilities to be constructed with the proceeds of such
proposed Series of Bonds and which are to become a part of the System as of the
third anniversary of the date of issuance of the proposed Series of Bonds, and (iv)
amounts, less sums charged to defray operational and maintenance costs, expected to
be received in the first Fiscal Year following the completion of any project being
financed from long-term contracts which extend for the life of such proposed Series
of Bonds and which will be executed upon or prior to the issuance of such proposed
Series of Bonds (the adjustments referred to in clause (i) through (iv) above, the
“Permitted Adjustments”), shall be not less than 110% of the maximum Combined
Annual Principal and Interest Requirements on all Bonds Outstanding and Senior
Lien Bonds outstanding (within the meaning of the Senior Bond Resolution) and on
such proposed Series of Bonds; or
(b)
Net Earnings, as the same may be adjusted by any of the Permitted
Adjustments and to reflect, for the applicable portion of the forecast period referred
to in clause (ii) below, any rate increases currently adopted and to be in effect during
any portion of such forecast period, (i) during the most recent Fiscal Year for which
audited financial statements of the Issuer are completed, as certified by the Chief
Financial Officer, the Certified Public Accountants, the Consulting Engineers or the
Financial Consultant, shall be not less than 110% of the Combined Annual Principal
and Interest Requirements during such Fiscal Year on all Bonds Outstanding and
Senior Lien Bonds outstanding (within the meaning of the Senior Lien Bond
Resolution); and (ii) for each of the three Fiscal Years following the later of the date
of the delivery of the Bonds of such proposed Series, or the period (if any) for which
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interest is funded from the proceeds of such Bonds, Net Earnings, as shall have been
forecasted by the Accountants, the Consulting Engineers or the Feasibility
Consultants, will be not less than 110% of the Combined Annual Principal and
Interest Requirements on all Bonds then proposed to be Outstanding and Senior Lien
Bonds outstanding (within the meaning of the Senior Lien Bond Resolution), in each
of such three Fiscal Years.
Whenever subsections (a) or (b) above require a certification for the most recent Fiscal Year for
which audited financial statements are completed, the Issuer may, in its discretion, provide for a special
audit and a certification based upon such special audit, in lieu of the audit for such Fiscal Year, provided
such special audit covers 12 consecutive calendar months of the 18 full consecutive calendar months
preceding the date of issuance of the proposed Series of Bonds.
(5)

If any Series of Bonds shall contain Variable Rate Bonds, the Series Resolution shall
provide for and specify or provide a means for establishing:
(a) a maximum interest rate on (i) such Bonds and (ii) any reimbursement
obligation to a Liquidity Facility Issuer for such Bonds; and
(b) whether any Bonds purchased under a Liquidity Facility shall be subject, by
reason of such purchase, to any modified or additional provisions as to the timings
and amounts or principal and interest due on such Bonds and, if so, the extent to
which such modified or additional amounts shall be on a parity with the payment of
debt service on all Bonds (which parity status shall be given effect whether or not the
test referred to in paragraph (B)(4) above under this subheading would be met at the
time such Series of Bonds is issued assuming such modified or additional provisions
in such Liquidity Facility, as to the timings and amounts of principal and interest due
on such Bonds, were in effect at such time of issue).

(C)
Bonds either:

In the case of Bonds issued for the purpose of refunding any Bonds or Senior Lien

(1)

The Annual Principal and Interest Requirements of the refunding Bonds shall not
exceed the Annual Principal and Interest Requirements of the refunded Bonds or
Senior Lien Bonds, as the case may be, until a time subsequent to the last maturity of
Bonds not refunded and which remain Outstanding following the issuance of the
refunding Bonds; or

(2)

The Issuer shall comply with the earnings test described in paragraph (B)(4) above
under this subheading.

Junior Lien Bonds
(A)
The Issuer may, at any time, and without limitation and free of all conditions, issue
Junior Lien Bonds, in such amount as it may from time to time determine, payable from the revenues of
the System, provided that the pledge of revenues and any lien upon the revenues of the System granted
for the protection of said Junior Lien Bonds, shall at all times be and remain subordinate and inferior in
all respects to the pledges of revenues and liens upon such revenues made or authorized for the Bonds.
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(B)
At the election of the Issuer, Financial Swap Agreements not constituting Secured
Financial Swap Agreements may (but need not) be incurred as Junior Lien Bonds in the same manner and
with the same priority described in paragraph (A) of this Section.
(C)
By proceedings authorizing the issuance of Junior Lien Bonds, the Issuer may provide
for the accession of such Junior Lien Bonds to the status of Bonds provided all of the following
conditions are met:
(1)
The Junior Lien Bonds were issued for an authorized purpose or purposes with
respect to the issuance of Bonds pursuant to the Bond Resolution.
(2)
There shall exist on the date of accession (a) no default in the payment of the
principal of or interest on any Senior Lien Bonds, Bonds or Junior Lien Bonds then
Outstanding and (b) no default in the performance of any duties required under the provisions
of the Bond Resolution and (c) unless waived by the Holder of at least a majority of the
Outstanding Bonds of the affected Series, no amount owed by the Issuer with respect to the
full funding of any Debt Service Reserve Fund, either by way of cash or securities or DSRF
Funding Instruments.
(3)
The Issuer shall obtain an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that (a) the Bond
Resolution and the proceedings authorizing such Junior Lien Bonds have been duly adopted
and are in full force and effect; (b) the Junior Lien Bonds have been duly and lawfully
authorized and executed by the Issuer and are valid and binding upon, and enforceable
against, the Issuer (except to the extent that the enforceability thereof may be limited by the
operation of bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting rights and remedies of
creditors); and (c) the Bond Resolution creates the valid pledge which it purports to create of
the Gross Revenues subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions
permitted by the Bond Resolution.
(4)
There shall be deposited in the Debt Service Fund for such Series of newly-acceded
Bonds the amounts which would have been required under the provisions of the Bond
Resolution to be accumulated therein on the date of accession if said Junior Lien Bonds had
originally been issued as Bonds.
(5)
On the date of accession, the earnings test prescribed in the Bond Resolution and
described in paragraph (B)(4) of the subheading”- Additional Bonds” under this heading shall
have been met computed treating such Junior Lien Bonds as Bonds.
In the event such Junior Lien Bonds were issued with variable rates, the provisions described in
paragraph (B)(5) of the subheading “- Additional Bonds” under this heading shall have been met.
Special Facilities Bonds. The Issuer shall further have at all times the right to enter into contracts,
leases or other agreements pursuant to which it will agree to construct, operate and pay the costs of
special facilities to be financed by its issuance of Special Facilities Bonds, subject to the following
conditions:
(A)
The Issuer shall determine that the rents, revenues or receipts to be derived from the
facilities to be financed with the Special Facilities Bonds shall be at least equal to the principal, interest
and any reserve requirements contained in the resolution of the Commission authorizing such Special
Facilities Bonds and sufficient to pay all operation, maintenance and other costs and expenses applicable
to such facilities; and
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(B)
The Issuer’s revenues derived from such facilities need not be deposited in the General
Revenue Fund, and may be pledged to secure Special Facilities Bonds, but no debt service or other costs
or expense related to any special facilities may be paid from System revenues deposited in the General
Revenue Fund except from surplus funds available after the funding of all amounts described under
“Establishment and Flow of Funds - Bond Resolution” in this Appendix.
For purposes of the above paragraph related to Special Facilities Bonds, the term “special
facilities” shall include all or a portion of sewer transmission and treatment facilities and rights to all or a
portion of the use of, or the capacity available from, any such facilities.
Lease Financing Agreements. The Issuer shall have at all times the right to enter into capital
leases or other lease financing agreements secured by a lien on the equipment comprising a part of the
System; provided, however, that the aggregate principal amount of such obligations outstanding at any
time shall not exceed ten percent of the property, plant and equipment of the System less accumulated
depreciation as shown on the audited balance sheet of the Issuer for the most recent Fiscal Year for which
audited financial statements have been completed.
Acquisition of Additional Utilities
No provision of the Bond Resolution shall prevent the combining of the System with any other
utility system or enterprise of whatever type of the Issuer if such combination may then be permitted or
authorized by the provisions of the laws of the State and if the requirements set forth below under this
heading are met; but no such combination shall impair the validity or priority of the pledge of revenues of
the System and the lien thereon created by the Bond Resolution. The Issuer shall have the right from time
to time to add other utilities, enterprises, activities and facilities (which at the date of adoption of the
Bond Resolution by the Commission were not included in the definition of System thereunder) to the
System; provided that:
(A)
the Commission shall have determined that such utilities, enterprises, activities or
facilities are of a similar public utility nature as are the utilities then constituting the System;
(B)
Resolution;

the Commission shall have enacted an appropriate amendatory resolution to the Bond

(C)
the Issuer and the Trustee shall have received an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect
that such action to be taken in these regards is authorized under the Bond Resolution and the laws of the
State and will not adversely affect the excludability of interest on any Bonds which were intended upon
their issuance to be exempt from federal income taxation; and
(D)
for each of the five Fiscal Years following the date of the additions to the System, Net
Earnings, as shall have been forecasted either by Consulting Engineers with a reputation for expertise in
the type of enterprise being added to the System or by the Accountants or the Financial Consultant, will
be not less than 110% of the Combined Annual Principal and Interest Requirements on all Bonds and
Senior Lien Bonds then proposed to be Outstanding in each of such five Fiscal Years; provided, however,
that in the event that Bonds are being issued to acquire or improve the acquired utility, the requirements
described in this paragraph (D) shall not apply and the Issuer shall be required to meet the requirements
described in paragraph (B)(4) under the heading “Additional Bonds and Other Obligations - Additional
Bonds” in this Appendix (as well as the other applicable requirements of the Bond Resolution) before
issuing such Bonds and acquiring such utility.
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Establishment and Flow of Funds - Bond Resolution
As described under the immediately succeeding heading “Flow of Funds - Senior Bond
Resolution” in this Appendix, the Senior Bond Resolution establishes certain funds of the Issuer and
provides for a prescribed order of payment of revenues of the System into those funds. Subject to such
order of flow in the Senior Bond Resolution, the Bond Resolution provides that the following funds are to
be established and maintained for so long as sums remain due and payable with respect to Bonds
Outstanding (the brief descriptions of such funds being for convenience of reference only, more complete
descriptions being contained in the Bond Resolution):
General Revenue Fund. Gross Revenues of the System (except customers’ deposits and that
money the disposition of which is controlled by other provisions of the Bond Resolution) are to be
deposited in the General Revenue Fund, as such fund has been established under the Senior Bond
Resolution and is to be maintained and continued under the Bond Resolution. So long as the Issuer
establishes, from an accounting standpoint, proper records of receipts and disbursements from the General
Revenue Fund, the General Revenue Fund may be used for the purposes of the Operation and
Maintenance Fund. Allocations from the General Revenue Fund are to be made in the order of priority as
to each of the subheadings set forth below.
Senior Lien Bonds. Until such time as no Senior Lien Bonds shall remain outstanding within the
meaning of the Senior Bond Resolution, provision shall first be made for the payment of principal of and
interest on the Senior Lien Bonds in the manner provided in the Senior Bond Resolution.
Operation and Maintenance Fund. There shall then be deposited monthly in the Operation and
Maintenance Fund the monthly portion of the annual amount budgeted to pay Operation and Maintenance
Expenses for the ensuing month and any amount determined for an operational reserve, and there shall be
paid from the Operation and Maintenance Fund the current month’s Operation and Maintenance
Expenses.
Other Senior Lien Bond Resolution Payments. Until such time as no Senior Lien Bonds shall
remain outstanding within the meaning of the Senior Bond Resolution, provision shall then be made for
(a) first, the replenishment of each debt service reserve fund established for the Senior Lien Bonds in the
manner provided in the Senior Bond Resolution, (b) second, the funding of the Depreciation and
Contingent Fund established pursuant to the Senior Bond Resolution, in the manner provided in Senior
Bond Resolution, and (c) third, in the manner provided in the Senior Bond Resolution, the reimbursement
of interest on amounts advanced by the provider of any surety bond, line of credit or letter of credit as
contemplated in the Senior Bond Resolution.
Debt Service Funds; Reimbursement of Credit Facility Issuers and Liquidity Facility Issuers;
Secured Financial Swap Agreements. Provision shall then be made for the payment of principal of and
interest on all Bonds outstanding and the other amounts referred to under this subheading below, all
without priority of any Bonds or such other obligations over others but ratably as to each Series of Bonds
and such other obligations. Separate Debt Service Funds shall be established for each Series of Bonds.
Each Debt Service Fund is intended to provide for the ratable payment of the principal of, premium, if
any, and interest on its respective Series of Bonds as the same shall become due. The Bond Resolution
provides that there be deposited into each Debt Service Fund the monthly fraction of the aggregate
amount of interest to become due on the respective Series of Bonds on the next ensuing interest payment
date, and the monthly fraction of the aggregate amount of principal of the Bonds becoming due and
payable during the next ensuing principal payment date (whether at stated maturity or by sinking fund
installment).

B-17

Notwithstanding the provisions described in the above paragraph in lieu of the requirements
described therein, a Series Resolution may provide for a different periodic funding mechanism of the
applicable Debt Service Fund with regard to the payment of principal of and interest on a particular Series
of Bonds. In such event, deposits shall be made to such Debt Service Fund at the times and in the
amounts prescribed by such Series Resolution.
Withdrawals from the Debt Service Funds shall be made only by the Trustee who shall transmit
to each Bondholder, at such times as may be appropriate, the sums required to pay the principal of and
interest on the respective Series of Bonds. Moneys in a particular Debt Service Fund will be available
only to pay principal of and interest on the particular Series of Bonds for which such Fund was
established.
Moneys in the Debt Service Funds shall be invested and reinvested at the direction of the Issuer
in Authorized Investments maturing not later than the date on which such money is required to pay the
principal, premium if any, and interest next maturing.
There shall be paid from the General Revenue Fund to any Credit Facility Issuer and Liquidity
Facility Issuer amounts necessary to reimburse such entities for payments made in respect of the Bonds,
as such amounts are determined.
There shall be paid from the General Revenue Fund to any Financial Swap Counterparty in
respect of a Secured Financial Swap Agreement amounts owing to such persons in respect of Financial
Swap Payments, as such amounts are determined.
Debt Service Reserve Funds. A Series Resolution may (but is not required to) provide for the
establishment of a Debt Service Reserve Fund for any Series of Bonds. Each Debt Service Reserve Fund
so established shall be established with the Trustee and maintained at the respective Reserve Requirement
established for the applicable Series of Bonds pursuant to the Series Resolution. Funds in a particular
Debt Service Reserve Fund will be available to secure only the payment of the Series of Bonds for which
such fund has been established.
Money in the Debt Service Reserve Funds shall be invested and reinvested at the direction of the
Issuer in Authorized Investments. The earnings from such investments shall accumulate in the particular
Debt Service Reserve Fund until each required periodic valuation. Whenever, and as of any date of
calculation, the value of the securities and money in each Debt Service Reserve Fund shall exceed the
applicable Reserve Requirement, such excess shall either be used to effect partial redemption of the
applicable Series of Bonds or for such other purposes as may be permitted in the applicable Series
Resolution, or shall be removed from such Debt Service Reserve Fund and transferred into the General
Revenue Fund, as directed by the Chief Financial Officer or his or her designee.
Notwithstanding anything in the Bond Resolution to the contrary, the Issuer, in lieu of the deposit
of moneys into a Debt Service Reserve Fund, may satisfy all or a portion of the applicable Reserve
Requirement by causing to be so credited a DSRF Funding Instrument, to the extent permitted under the
terms of the authorizing Series Resolution for such Series of Bonds.
In the event a Debt Service Reserve Fund is funded with a DSRF Funding Instrument, any
revenues available for debt service on the Bonds shall be distributed on a pro rata basis among the
Outstanding Bonds of each Series without regard to the method or level of funding of the respective Debt
Service Reserve Funds, if any, for each Series.
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The market value of the cash and securities in each Debt Service Reserve Fund, if any, shall be
calculated as of the last day of each Fiscal Year and within 45 days of such date in order to determine if
such Debt Service Reserve Fund contains the amount required by the applicable Series Resolution and the
extent to which payments therefor or withdrawals therefrom must be made. In the event the aggregate
market value of such cash and securities, together with any DSRF Funding Instrument, in a Debt Service
Reserve Fund at the end of such 45-day period is determined not to equal the applicable Reserve
Requirement, then the deficiency shall be met in the manner and as of the times required of the Issuer in
the applicable Series Resolution. Any DSRF Funding Instrument being used to meet the Reserve
Requirement of a Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be valued at the amount still remaining to be drawn
thereon; and in the event that any DSRF Funding Instrument has been drawn upon, the amount necessary
to restore the principal balance thereof shall be paid by the Issuer in the same manner and on a parity with
the payments described in this paragraph.
Reimbursement of Certain Interest. Provision shall then be made for payment of interest on
amounts advanced by the provider of any DSRF Funding Instrument.
Payment for Junior Lien Bonds. Provision shall then be made for the payment of any other
indebtedness which is junior and subordinate to the Bonds in the order of priority contemplated by the
proceedings authorizing their issuance.
Use of Surplus Money. All money remaining after making the payments required under the
previous paragraphs under this heading shall be disposed of for any lawful purpose in such manner as the
Issuer shall from time to time determine.
Flow of Funds - Senior Bond Resolution
The Senior Bond Resolution provides that the following funds, and related flows of moneys, are
to be established and maintained for so long as sums remain due and payable with respect to Senior Lien
Bonds outstanding:
All Gross Revenues of the System are to be deposited in the General Revenue Fund (as such fund
is described under the heading “Establishment and Flow of Funds - Bond Resolution” in this Appendix).
Money in the General Revenue Fund is to be first withdrawn to make payment of the principal and
interest on the Senior Lien Bonds as the same become due by making the required payments to the
applicable debt service funds established therefor; then, to provide for required payments to the Operation
and Maintenance Fund; then, to provide for payments to any required debt service reserve fund
established therefor (on a parity with the obligation to reimburse any provider of a surety bond in
satisfaction of the applicable debt service reserve fund reserve requirement); then, to provide the
payments required to a depreciation and contingent fund; then, to provide for the reimbursement of
interest on any amounts advanced by a surety bond provider; and then, to provide for payment of bonds of
the Issuer secured by a lien on revenues of the Issuer subordinate to that securing the Senior Lien Bonds
(which latter category shall consist of the Bonds to be issued under the Bond Resolution from time to
time).
Insurance
The Issuer covenants and agrees in the Bond Resolution that it, among other things, will:
(A)
That it will insure and at all times keep the System (rolling stock and minor capital assets
excepted in the discretion of the Issuer based on its determination of relative cost and benefit) insured
against physical loss or damage with a responsible insurance company or companies, authorized and
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qualified under the laws of the State, to assume the risks insured against, in such amount as private
corporations engaged in similar endeavors would customarily insure for.
(B)
That it will secure adequate fidelity bonds (blanket or individual) and/or tort liability
insurance of a surety or insurance company doing business in the State, indemnifying or insuring the
Issuer against defalcation of all persons handling money derived from the System or signing checks on
any bank accounts relating to the System, other than the Trustee or any Registrar.
(C)
Comply with the requirements of South Carolina law regarding the mandatory purchase
of liability insurance contained in Section 15-78-l40(b) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as
amended from time to time.
In lieu of the insurance required as described in the above paragraphs, the Issuer may maintain
coverage under a self-insurance program, in compliance with the following provisions of this paragraph.
In order to effect such self-insurance, the Issuer shall confer with its Insurance Consultant (hereinafter
referred to as the “Insurance Consultant”) for the purpose of reviewing the insurance coverage of and
insurance required for the Issuer and the System and making recommendations respecting the types,
amounts, and provisions of insurance that should be carried by the Issuer, including any self-insurance or
alternate risk management program. The Insurance Consultant employed by the Issuer shall be a person or
firm, not an officer or employee of the Issuer, qualified to survey risks and to recommend insurance
coverage for utility systems and services, and having a favorable national reputation for skill and
experience in such surveys and recommendations, and who may be a broker or agent with whom the
Issuer transacts business. A signed copy of the report of the Insurance Consultant shall be filed with the
Trustee and the Issuer, and the program of insurance recommended therein shall be implemented as soon
as practicable and in such event, the insurance requirements specified in the Bond Resolution shall be
deemed modified to conform with the recommendations contained in the report.
The types and amounts of insurance maintained by the Issuer pursuant to the report referred to
above shall be reviewed by the Insurance Consultant not less frequently than every two years. and the
Issuer shall promptly modify its coverage to meet the recommendations of the Insurance Consultant.
Modification of Resolution
Provided that the security of the Bonds will not be lessened, or in any manner impaired, the Issuer
may for any one or more of the following purposes at any time, or from time to time, adopt a resolution,
supplementing the Bond Resolution, without the consent of the Bondholders:
(1)
To provide for the issuance of additional Series of Bonds in accordance with the
provisions of the Bond Resolution;
(2)
To add to the covenants and agreements of the Issuer in the Bond Resolution, other
covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed;
(3)
To surrender any right, power or privilege reserved to or conferred upon the Issuer by
the Bond Resolution;
(4)
To cure, correct and remove any ambiguity or inconsistent provisions contained in the
Bond Resolution; and
(5)
To provide for the acquisition of an additional utility, enterprise, activity or facility as
described under the heading “Acquisition of Additional Utilities” in this Appendix.
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Otherwise, the rights and duties of the Issuer and the Bondholders and the terms and provisions of
the Bond Resolution may be modified or altered in any respect by a resolution adopted by the Issuer with
the consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of all Bonds of each Series which would be
affected by such modification or alteration then Outstanding with the written consent of the Credit
Facility Issuer and Liquidity Facility Issuer, if any, with respect to each such affected Series of Bonds and
of any provider of a DSRF Funding Instrument from an affected Series of Bonds, such consent to be
evidenced by an instrument or instruments executed by such Holders and duly acknowledged or proved in
the manner of a deed capable of being recorded; provided, that no such modification or alteration shall:
(A)
without the consent of 100% of the Holders of the Outstanding Bonds of any Series to be
directly affected,
(1)
extend the maturity of any payment of principal or interest due upon any Bonds
of such Series;
(2)
effect a reduction in the amount which the Issuer is required to pay by way of
principal, interest or redemption premium on any Bonds of such Series; or
(3)
effect a change as to the type of currency in which the Issuer is obligated to effect
payment of the principal, interest and redemption premiums of any Bond of such Series; and
(B)
(1)
permit the creation of a pledge of or lien upon the revenues of the System prior to
or equal to the Bonds, except as permitted under the provisions of the Bond Resolution;
(2)

permit preference or priority of any Bonds to others; or

(3)
reduce the percentage required for the written consent to the modification or
alteration of the provisions of the Bond Resolution.
Events of Default and Remedies
Event of Default. Each of the following is an “Event of Default” under the Bond Resolution:
(1)
An Event of Default shall have occurred under and within the meaning of the Senior
Bond Resolution.
(2)
Payment of the principal of any of the Bonds shall not be made when the same shall
become due and payable, either at maturity or by proceedings for redemption;
(3)
Payment of any installment of interest on any Bonds shall not be made when the same
becomes due and payable;
(4)
Receipt by the Trustee of a written notice from any Credit Facility Issuer that (a) an event
of default of the Issuer has occurred and is continuing under the reimbursement agreement under which
such Credit Facility was issued, (b) the terms of such reimbursement agreement permit such Credit
Facility Issuer to, in such event, direct the Trustee to accelerate the applicable Series of Bonds under this
subparagraph (4), and (c) the Trustee is by such notice directed to accelerate such Bonds;
(5)
Receipt by the Trustee of a written notice from any Liquidity Facility Issuer, any
Financial Swap Counterparty in respect of a Secured Financial Swap Agreement, or any provider of a
DSRF Funding Instrument that (a) a payment default on the part of the Issuer has occurred and is
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continuing under any such Liquidity Facility, Secured Financial Swap Agreement or reimbursement
agreement between the Issuer and any such provider and (b) the Trustee is by such notice notified of such
Event of Default under this subparagraph (5);
(6)
An order or decree shall be entered with the consent or acquiescence of the Issuer
appointing a receiver, or receivers, of the System, or of the revenues thereof, or any proceedings shall be
instituted with the consent or acquiescence of the Issuer for the purpose of affecting a composition
between the Issuer and its creditors whose claims relate to the System, or for the purpose of adjusting
claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or State statute now or hereafter enacted, or if such order
or decree, having been entered without the consent or acquiescence of the Issuer, shall not be vacated or
discharged or stayed on appeal within 60 days after entry thereof, or if such proceeding having been
instituted without the consent or acquiescence of the Issuer, shall not be withdrawn or any orders entered
shall not be vacated, discharged, or stayed on appeal within 60 days after the institution of such
proceedings or the entry of such orders;
(7)
The Issuer shall fail to operate the System in an efficient and businesslike fashion so as to
materially impair the operations of the System or shall default in the due and punctual performance of any
other of the covenants, conditions, agreements or provisions contained in the Bonds or in the Bond
Resolution, and such default as to efficient operation or otherwise shall continue for 30 days after written
notice, specifying such default and requiring the same to be remedied, shall have been given to the Issuer
by any Bondholder, provided that in the case of default specified in this subparagraph (7), if the default be
such that it cannot be corrected within the said 30-day period, it shall not constitute an event of default if
corrective action is instituted by the Issuer within said 30-day period and diligently pursued until the
default is corrected; and
(8)

Such other events of default as may be specified in a Series Resolution.

The foregoing provisions of paragraph (7) above are subject to the following limitations: If by
reason of force majeure the Issuer is unable in whole or in part to carry out its agreements contained in the
Bond Resolution (other than the obligations on the part of the Issuer described under “Additional Bonds
and Other Obligations,” under paragraph (A) under the heading “Rate Covenant” in this Appendix, and
under “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Rate Covenant” in the main body of this Official Statement), or
Articles VII and VIII (as such Articles are described under “Establishment and Flow of Funds - Bond
Resolution” in this Appendix, as to which this paragraph shall have no application) of the Bond
Resolution, the Issuer shall not be deemed in default during the continuance of such inability. The term
“force majeure” means, without limitation, the following: acts of God; strikes; lockouts or other industrial
disturbances; acts of public enemies; orders of any kind of the government of the United States or of
South Carolina or any of their departments, agencies, or officials, or any civil or military authority;
insurrections; riots; epidemics; landslides; lightning; earthquake; fire; hurricanes; storms; floods;
washouts; droughts; arrests; restraint of government and people; civil disturbances; explosions; or any
other cause or event not reasonably within the control of the Issuer. The settlement of strikes, lockouts
and other industrial disturbances shall be entirely within the discretion of the Issuer, and the Issuer shall
not be required to make settlement of strikes, lockouts and other industrial disturbances by acceding to the
demands of the opposing party or parties when such course is in the judgment of the Issuer unfavorable to
the Issuer.
Acceleration; Annulment
(A)
Except as specifically provided herein, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the
Trustee may, and upon the written request of the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal
amount of Bonds Outstanding shall, by notice in writing to the Issuer, each Financial Swap Counterparty
B-22

in respect of a Secured Financial Swap Agreement, and each Credit Facility Issuer and each Liquidity
Facility Issuer, declare all Bonds Outstanding immediately due and payable; provided, however, the
Trustee shall obtain the written consent of a Credit Facility Issuer prior to declaring the Bonds of a Series
insured or guaranteed by a Credit Facility due and payable; and provided, further, that upon the
occurrence of an Event of Default described in paragraph (4) under the listed Events of Default under the
subheading “- Events of Default” above, the Trustee shall declare only the Series of Bonds secured by the
applicable Credit Facility due and payable. Such Bonds having been declared due and payable in
accordance with the provisions of this paragraph shall become and be immediately due and payable,
anything in the Bonds or in the Bond Resolution to the contrary notwithstanding. In such event, there
shall be due and payable on the Bonds an amount equal to the total principal amount of all such Bonds,
plus all interest accrued thereon and which will accrue thereon to the date of payment.
(B)
At any time after the principal of the Bonds shall have been so declared to be due and
payable and before the entry of final judgment or decree in any suit, action or proceeding instituted on
account of such default, or before the completion of the enforcement of any other remedy under the Bond
Resolution, the Trustee may, with the consent of each Credit Facility Issuer of any affected Series of
Bonds Outstanding, may annul such declaration and its consequences with respect to any Bonds not then
due by their terms if:
(1)
Moneys shall have been deposited in the Debt Service Funds sufficient to pay all
matured installments of interest and principal (other than principal then due only because of such
declaration) of all Outstanding Bonds;
(2)
Moneys shall have been deposited with the Trustee sufficient to pay the charges,
compensation, expenses, disbursements, advances and liabilities of the Trustee;
(3)
All other amounts then payable by the Issuer under the Bond Resolution shall have been
paid or a sum sufficient to pay the same shall have been deposited with the Trustee;
(4)
The Trustee has received a certificate or other assurances acceptable to it that all
obligations of any Credit Facility Issuer under any Credit Facility, of any Liquidity Facility Issuer
under any Liquidity Facility, or of any Financial Swap Counterparty under any Secured Financial
Swap Agreement relating to any of the Bonds have been reinstated and are then in full force and
effect; and
(5)
Every Event of Default known to the Trustee (other than a default in the payment of the
principal of such Bonds then due only because of such declaration) shall have been remedied to
the satisfaction of the Trustee.
No such annulment shall extend to or affect any subsequent Event of Default or impair any right
consequent thereon.
Additional Remedies and Enforcement of Remedies. Except as expressly provided in the Bond
Resolution, upon the occurrence and continuance of any Event of Default, the Trustee may, and upon the
written request of the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds
Outstanding, together with indemnification of the Trustee to its satisfaction therefor, shall proceed
forthwith to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Bondholders under the Bond Resolution by
such suits, actions or proceedings as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem expedient,
including but not limited to:
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(1)
Requiring the Issuer to carry out its duties and obligations under the terms of the Bond
Resolution and under the Enabling Act;
(2)

Suit upon all or any part of the Bonds;

(3)
Civil action to require the Issuer to account as if it were the trustee of an express trust
for the Bondholders;
(4)
Civil action to enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violation of the
rights of the Bondholders; and
(5)
Enforcement of any other right of the Bondholders conferred by law or by the Bond
Resolution including the right to make application for the appointment of a receiver to administer and
operate the System.
Regardless of the happening of an Event of Default, the Trustee, if requested in writing by the
Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, shall, upon
being indemnified to its satisfaction therefor, institute and maintain such suits and proceedings as it may
be advised by counsel shall be necessary or expedient:
(1)
To prevent any impairment of the security under the Bond Resolution by any acts which
may be unlawful or in violation of the Bond Resolution; or
(2)
To preserve or protect the interests of the Bondholders, provided that such request is in
accordance with law and the provisions of the Bond Resolution and, in the sole judgement of the Trustee,
is not unduly prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders not making such request.
Majority of Bondholders Control Proceedings. If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be
continuing, notwithstanding anything in the Bond Resolution to the contrary, the Holders of at least a
majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding shall have the right, at any time, by an
instrument in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee, to direct the method and place of conducting
any proceeding to be taken in connection with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of the Bond
Resolution or for the appointment of a receiver or any other proceedings incident thereto, provided that
such direction is in accordance with law and the provisions of the Bond Resolution (including indemnity
to the Trustee) and, in the sole judgment of the Trustee, is not unduly prejudicial to the interests of the
Bondholders not joining in such direction and provided further that nothing provided for in this paragraph
shall be construed to impair the right of the Trustee in its discretion to take any other action under the
Bond Resolution which it may deem proper and which is not inconsistent with such direction by
Bondholders.
Application of Revenues and Other Monies After Default
(A)
The Issuer covenants that if an Event of Default shall happen and shall not have been
remedied, the Issuer, upon demand of the Trustee, shall pay or cause to be paid over to the Trustee:
(1)
Forthwith, all moneys and securities then held by the Issuer which is credited to
any fund under the Bond Resolution; and
(2)

As promptly as practicable after receipt thereof, all Gross Revenues.
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(B)
During the continuance of an Event of Default, the Trustee shall apply all moneys,
securities, Gross Revenues, payments and receipts in its possession and the income therefrom as follows
and in the following order:
(1)
To the payment of the reasonable and proper charges of the Trustee and its
reasonable counsel fees and expenses;
(2)
To the payment of all amounts required to fund the debt service funds and the
debt service reserve funds established pursuant to the Senior Bond Resolution to
provide for the payment of all Senior Lien Bonds;
(3)
To the payment of all amounts to satisfy debt service reserve fund requirements
and related reimbursements to surety bond providers required by the Senior Bond
Resolution, ratably, according to the amounts due thereon to the persons entitled
thereto;
(4)
To the payment of the interest and principal (and redemption premium, if any)
then due on the Bonds and, unless the lien upon Gross Revenues securing the same has
otherwise, pursuant to the applicable Series Resolution, been subordinated to that
securing the Bonds, to (a) the payment of Financial Swap Payments in respect of any
Secured Financial Swap Agreement and (b) the reimbursement of any Credit Facility
Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer for amounts paid by it in respect of the Bonds, as
follows:
(i)
Unless the principal of all of the Bonds shall have become or have been
declared due and payable,
(a)
First: To the payment or reimbursement of the persons entitled
thereto of all installments of interest on any Bonds and interest on any Bonds
paid by a Credit Facility Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer, and Financial Swap
Payments in respect of Secured Financial Swap Agreements, then due in the
order of the maturity of such installments, and, if the amount available shall not
be sufficient to pay in full any installment or installments maturing on the same
date, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the amounts due thereon
to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and
(b)
Second: To the payment or reimbursement of the persons
entitled thereto of the unpaid Principal Installments (and redemption premiums,
if any) of any Bonds which shall have become due, whether at maturity or by
call for redemption, in the order of their due dates, and of amounts payable as
reimbursement of principal to any Credit Facility Issuer or Liquidity Facility
Issuer, and if the amounts available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all the
Bonds or to reimburse any Credit Facility Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer on
any due date, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the amounts of
principal (plus redemption premium, if any) and reimbursement payments due
on such date, to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or
preference.
(ii) If the principal of all of the Bonds shall have become or have been
declared due and payable, to the payment of the principal and interest then due and
unpaid upon the Bonds and of Financial Swap Payments in respect of Secured
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Financial Swap Agreements and reimbursement payments to any Credit Facility Issuer,
without preference or priority of principal over interest or interest over principal or the
same over any Financial Swap Payment or any such reimbursement payments, or of
any Bond over any other Bond, or any Financial Swap Payment over another Financial
Swap Payment or any reimbursement payment over another reimbursement payment,
ratably, according to the amounts due to the persons entitled thereto without any
discrimination or preference except as to any differences as to the respective rates of
interest specified in the Bonds;
(5)
To the payment of the amounts described under the subheadings “Establishment
and Flow of Funds - Bond Resolution Debt Service Reserve Funds” and “Reimbursement of Certain Interest” in this Appendix, ratably, according to the amounts
due thereon to the persons entitled thereto;
(6)
Ratably to any Credit Facility Issuers or Liquidity Facility Issuers (if any) any
other amounts owing by the Issuer in respect of any Credit Facility or Liquidity
Facility;
(7)
Ratably to any Financial Swap Counterparties in respect of Secured Financial
Swap Agreements, amounts of any Financial Swap Termination Payments owing
thereto;
(8)
To the payment of the amounts described under the subheading “Establishment
and Flow of Funds - Bond Resolution - Payment for Junior Lien Bonds” in this
Appendix, ratably, according to the amounts due thereon to the persons entitled thereto;
and
(9)
To the payment of all other amounts secured by the express provisions of the
Bond Resolution but not included in the preceding items (1) through (8), inclusive.
Defeasance
Defeasance of any of the Bonds shall be deemed to have occurred when, among other things, the
Trustee shall hold, at the stated maturities of such Bonds, in trust and irrevocably appropriated thereto,
sufficient money for the payment thereof, or direct general obligations of the United States of America (or
obligations the payment of principal or interest on which is fully guaranteed by the United States of
America), the principal of and interest on which when due (without reinvestment thereof) will provide
money which, together with the money, if any, deposited at the same time, will be sufficient to pay, when
due, the principal, interest and redemption premium, if any, due and to become due on and prior to the
maturity, or, if the Issuer has irrevocably elected to redeem such Bonds, on or prior to the redemption date
of such Bonds.
Miscellaneous Credit Facility Issuer Rights
(A)
Notwithstanding any provision of the Bond Resolution to the contrary, except as
provided in the following sentence, each Credit Facility Issuer shall be deemed the exclusive Holder of all
Bonds secured by that Credit Facility Issuer, for the purposes of all approvals, consents, waivers,
institution of any action, and the direction of all remedies. No rights granted to a Credit Facility Issuer by
the Bond Resolution shall be effective, however, at any time that such Credit Facility Issuer is in breach
of its obligations under the Credit Facility or is subject to bankruptcy or receivership proceedings.

B-26

(B)
Any provision of the Bond Resolution expressly recognizing or granting rights in or to
Credit Facility Issuers may not be amended in any manner which affects the rights of such Credit Facility
Issuers thereunder without the prior written consent of each such Credit Facility Issuer.
(C)
To the extent that a Credit Facility Issuer makes payment of the principal of or interest
on any Bonds, it shall become the owner and Holder of such Bonds, appurtenant coupons or right to
payment of such principal of or interest on such Bonds and shall be fully subrogated to all of the
registered Holders’ rights thereunder, including the registered Holders’ rights to payment thereof. To
evidence such subrogation (i) in the case of subrogation as to claims for past due interest, the Trustee
shall note the Credit Facility Issuer’s rights as subrogee on the registration books of the Issuer maintained
by the Trustee or Registrar upon receipt of proof from the Credit Facility Issuer as to payment of interest
thereon to the registered Holders of the Bonds, and (ii) in the case of subrogation as to claims for past due
principal, the Trustee shall note the Credit Facility Issuer’s rights as subrogee on the registration books of
the Issuer maintained by the Trustee or Registrar upon surrender of the Bonds by the registered Holders
thereof to the Credit Facility Issuer or its agent.
(D)
In the event that the principal of and/or interest on any Bonds shall be paid by the Credit
Facility Issuer pursuant to the terms of its Credit Facility, (i) such Bonds shall continue to be
‘‘Outstanding’’ under the Bond Resolution and (ii) the assignment and pledge of the Gross Revenues and
all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the Issuer to the registered Holders shall continue to
exist, and the Credit Facility Issuer shall be fully subrogated to all of the rights of such registered Holders
in accordance with the terms and conditions of subparagraph (C) above and the Credit Facility Issuer’s
Credit Facility.
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Renewable Water Resources
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
As management of Renewable Water Resources (“ReWa” or the “Agency”), we present this narrative
overview and analysis of financial performance for the year ended December 31, 2019. Please
consider this information in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes, which follow
this section.
Financial Highlights


The Agency’s financial position continues to be strong with an overall increase of
$21.2 million in net position.



Total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $101.0 million.



Operating expenses before depreciation totaled $42.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019.



In order to support growth and development, ReWa acquired a portion of Anderson County’s
retail collection system. The acquisition impacts approximately 1,100 residential and
commercial customers.



The Upstate Roundtable was reconvened at the end of 2018 and became the focus throughout
2019 with over 20 committee meetings being held. Consistent with earlier Upstate
Roundtables, the planning effort was distributed among five committees: Growth, Policy &
Community Issues, Technical, Regulatory & Legislative and Finance. Additionally, an
intentional effort was made to align ReWa’s Upstate Roundtable plan with Greenville County’s
regional development plan. The final plan is anticipated to be released in March 2020 and
work on the implementation plan will commence later that year.

Overview of the Financial Statements
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the basic financial statements
of the Agency. The basic financial statements include the Statement of Net Position; the Statement
of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and the Statement of Cash Flows; with the
related notes to provide additional details. These basic financial statements provide information
about the activities and performance of the Agency using accounting methods similar to those
found in the private sector. The Statement of Net Position presents information on the
Agency’s assets, plus deferred outflows of resources, less liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources, with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the Agency’s financial position is improving or
deteriorating.
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Renewable Water Resources
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Overview of the Financial Statements, continued
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position present the current period results of
operations and can be used to determine whether the Agency is recovering costs through user fees and
charges.
The Statement of Cash Flows reports cash receipts, cash payments and net changes in cash and cash
equivalents for the current period. This statement may be used to determine sources of cash, uses of
cash and changes in cash from operating, capital and related financing and investing activities. They
may also be useful in assessing the Agency’s ability to meet short-term obligations.
The Notes to Financial Statements provide required disclosures and other information essential to a full
understanding of the information reported in the statements. The notes present information about the
Agency’s accounting policies, significant account balances and activities, significant risks, obligations,
commitments, contingencies and subsequent events, if applicable.
Net Position
The Agency’s overall financial position improved during the year ended December 31, 2019, as net
position increased $21.2 million or 6.0% due to current year operations. Net position for the year
ended December 31, 2019 totaled $372.2 million. The largest portion of the Agency’s net position,
approximately 87.0%, reflects the Agency’s investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, trunk
lines, equipment and vehicles), less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The
Agency uses these capital assets to provide services to ratepayers. Although the Agency’s investment
in capital assets is reported net of debt, the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from
other sources, as these capital assets cannot be liquidated to pay these liabilities.
An additional $38.9 million or 10.5% of the Agency’s net position is restricted (restrictions established
by debt covenants, enabling legislation or other legal requirements). In the year ended
December 31, 2019, restricted net position increased $1.3 million or 3.5%, primarily due to scheduled
debt service.
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Renewable Water Resources
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Net Position, continued
A summary of the Agency’s Statement of Net Position is presented in Table A-1.
Table A-1
Condensed Statements of Net Position (in millions)

Current and noncurrent assets
Restricted assets
Capital assets
Total assets

FY 2019
$
62.8
38.9
526.9
628.6

FY 2018
$
56.3
38.8
508.0
603.1

3.6
1.9
2.1
7.6

4.5
2.6
0.3
7.4

39.9
223.0
262.9

37.5
221.3
258.8

0.4
0.7
1.1

0.5
0.2
0.7

323.7
38.9
9.6
372.2

307.6
37.6
5.8
351.0

Deferred outflows from defeasance loss, net
Deferred outflows from pension
Deferred outflows from other postemployment benefits
Total deferred outflows of resources
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows from pension
Deferred inflows from other postemployment benefits
Total deferred inflows of resources
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

$

Revenues
Table A-2 shows that the Agency’s total revenues increased $2.8 million or 2.8% to $101.0 million in
the year ended December 31, 2019. The Agency’s regulations provide for a sewer use charge that
funds the operation of the system, provides a source of funds to repay liabilities and provides for future
maintenance of the Agency’s assets. The current user fee regulation in effect for the year ended
December 31, 2019 was adopted April 24, 2017, and became effective January 1, 2018.
In the year ended December 31, 2019, domestic and commercial revenue increased $1.9 million or
2.4% to $80.4 million. Approximately $1.6 million of this increase is predominantly due to customer
growth of 1.7%. The remaining $0.3 million is primarily attributable to the acquisition of a portion of
Anderson County’s retail collection system.
Industrial revenue decreased $0.3 million or 3.8% to $7.6 million in the year ended December 31,
2019. The decrease in fiscal year 2019 is primarily attributable to decreases in consumption, which
was offset by a slight increase in overall pretreatment fees and surcharges.
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Renewable Water Resources
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Revenues, continued
New account fees, based on water meter size, increased $0.3 million or 3.0% to $10.2 million in the
year ended December 31, 2019 and totaled $9.9 million in 2018. This is the Agency’s highest new
account fee revenue year in history.
Interest and other nonoperating revenues increased $0.8 million or 57.1% to $2.2 million in the year
ended December 31, 2019. This is largely due to an increase in investment revenue.
Table A-2
Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (in millions)

FY 2019
Operating revenues
Domestic and commercial customers
Industrial customers
New account fees
Septic haulers and other
Interest and other nonoperating revenues
Total revenues

$

80.4
7.6
10.2
0.6
2.2
101.0

FY 2018
$

78.5
7.9
9.9
0.5
1.4
98.2

Operating expenses
Technical operations
Administration
Total operating expenses before depreciation

26.6
15.6
42.2

24.6
14.1
38.7

Depreciation
Total operating expenses

29.0
71.2

27.8
66.5

Interest, amortization and other nonoperating expenses
Total expenses

9.0
80.2

8.3
74.8

0.4

2.0

21.2

25.4

351.0
351.0
372.2

337.8
(12.2)
325.6
351.0

Capital project cost reimbursements
Increase in net position
Total net position, beginning of year
Effect of GASB 75 implementation
Total net position, beginning of year, as restated
Total net position, end of year

$

$

Capital Contributions
Project reimbursement occurs when the Agency enters into a contract with one or more entities to
construct facilities and/or sewer conveyance systems that will be mutually beneficial. In the year
ended December 31, 2019, capital contributions totaled $0.4 million.
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Renewable Water Resources
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Expenses
Total expenses in the year ended December 31, 2019 totaled $80.2 million. Operating expenses before
depreciation increased $3.5 million or 9.0% from $38.7 million to $42.2 million. The increase in
operating expenses in fiscal year 2019 is largely attributable to increases in pension, electricity,
chemicals, public relations, solids disposal, customer billing expenses and contract labor.
Non-project expenses, which are included in interest, amortization and other nonoperating expenses,
can vary considerably from year to year. These expenses are one-time costs that are nonoperational
and are not capitalizable.
Capital Assets
In the year ended December 31, 2019, capital assets being depreciated, net increased $8.4 million or
1.9% to $440.5 million, which is attributable to various line rehabilitations and facility enhancements,
which were offset by annual depreciation. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Agency
invested $526.9 million in infrastructure, which includes land, rights-of-way, trunk lines, buildings,
operating equipment, water resource recovery facilities (“WRRF”) equipment and vehicles as shown in
Table A-3 and in Note 5 of the accompanying notes to financial statements.
Table A-3
Capital Assets (in millions)
FY 2019
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Construction in progress
Land
Rights-of-way
Total capital assets not being depreciated

$

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and land improvements
Collection and trunk lines
Machinery and equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Vehicles and heavy equipment
Total capital assets being depreciated
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Net capital assets

$
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78.3
6.3
1.8
86.4

FY 2018
$

69.3
5.3
1.3
75.9

383.0
364.3
108.4
3.0
1.3
860.0

368.4
348.2
104.4
1.3
0.8
823.1

419.5
440.5
526.9

391.0
432.1
508.0

$

(Continued)

Renewable Water Resources
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Capital Assets, continued
Capital improvement program
The Agency’s Commission assembled a community-wide volunteer collaboration to develop an
environmentally sound, long-term strategy for the Agency. The collaboration was named the
Upstate Roundtable and was tasked with aligning the regional wastewater system capacity and
infrastructure with projected growth, while promoting environmental sustainability. Initially
convened in 1994, reconvened in 2008 and again at the end of 2018, this strategic planning group
brought together over 100 community, governmental and industry leaders to develop a 20-year
plan to guide the Agency. The latest Upstate Roundtable effort confirmed the Agency’s five-year
capital improvement program (“CIP”) and expanded it through 2040. The latest Upstate
Roundtable plan is expected to be completed in early 2020.
The Agency maintains a fluid five-year CIP that merges the Agency’s strategic plan with the
ongoing objective of maintaining compliance with South Carolina Department of Health &
Environmental Control regulations and National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit
limitations. The current CIP calls for approximately $364.6 million over the next five years. The
CIP calls for upgrades at many of the Agency’s treatment facilities as well as multiple replacement
and improvement projects of the Agency’s conveyance system including a gravity sewer tunnel
located approximately 100 feet below ground, which will address some of Greenville County’s
100-year sewage needs.
Capital improvement projects
In 2019, capital projects focused on various conveyance system improvements and facility upgrade
projects. During 2019, $21.2 million was injected to improve the Agency’s conveyance system;
these projects encompassed collection lines, as well as pump stations. Additionally, $14.8 million
was incurred in multiple facility improvement projects spanning three river basins. Furthermore,
another $3.7 million was invested in system planning positioning the Agency to meet future needs.
Table A-4 illustrates the Agency’s 2020 Capital Budget of $77.4 million for potential spending on
conveyance system improvements, facility upgrades and service area expansion. The Agency
believes the budget requirement for the upcoming fiscal year will be funded through a combination
of reserves, bonds and South Carolina revolving loan funds.
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Renewable Water Resources
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Capital Assets, continued
Capital improvement projects, continued
Table A-4
2020 Capital Budget (in millions)
FUNDING SOURCES
South Carolina revolving loan fund
Reserves and bonds
Total funding sources

$
$

47.6
29.8
77.4

USES

Water resource recovery facilities
Conveyance systems
Sustainability and reuse
Other projects
Total uses

$

$

17.0
45.8
1.2
13.4
77.4

Long-Term Liabilities
At December 31, 2019, the total liability for compensated absences was $0.7 million.
The total obligation for other postemployment benefits totaled $21.7 million at December 31, 2019.
The Agency’s net pension liability totaled $27.9 million at December 31, 2019.
Long-term debt for the Agency consists of outstanding balances on revenue bonds and state revolving
loans with the South Carolina Water Quality Revolving Fund Authority.
Revenue bonds
As of December 31, 2019, revenue bond debt, including premiums, totaled $129.7 million, the
long-term portion of which was $108.1 million. As of December 31, 2019, the Agency’s revenue
bond debt consisted of seven series of revenue and refunding revenue bonds: Series 2005B,
Series 2010A, Series 2010B, Series 2012, Series 2015A, Series 2017A and Series 2018A.
The Agency received bond premiums of $7.6 million, $6.1 million, $11.4 million and $3.6 million
on the Series 2005B, Series 2010A, Series 2012 and Series 2018A revenue bonds, respectively.
The bond premiums are amortized over the life of the bonds. The Series 2005B bonds were issued
under the 1990 Bond Resolution and are referred to as the Senior Lien Debt. The Series 2010A,
Series 2010B, Series 2012, Series 2015A, Series 2017A and Series 2018A bonds were issued under
the 2010 Bond Resolution and are on parity with all of the Agency’s state revolving loans. These
obligations are collectively referred to as the Junior Lien Debt and are subordinate in all aspects to
the Senior Lien Debt.
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Renewable Water Resources
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Long-Term Liabilities, continued
Revenue bonds, continued
The Series 2005B revenue bonds carry ‘Aa1’ and ‘AAA’ ratings from Moody’s Investors Service
and Standard & Poor’s, respectively. The Series 2005B ratings were enhanced through the
purchase of a surety agreement at issuance and carry the rating of the surety provider or the
underlying rating of the Agency, whichever is higher. The Series 2010A, Series 2010B, Series
2012, Series 2015A, Series 2017A and Series 2018A bonds were issued based on the Agency’s
underlying rating. During calendar year 2017, Moody’s Investors Service upgraded the Agency’s
Senior Lien Debt to ‘Aa1’ from ‘Aa2’ and upgraded the Agency’s Junior Lien Debt to ‘Aa1’ from
‘Aa3’ rating. In September 2018, Standard & Poor’s raised the Agency’s Senior and Junior Lien
Debt rating to ‘AAA’.
State revolving loans
Since December 1989, the Agency has entered into numerous loan agreements with the South
Carolina Water Quality Revolving Fund Authority for new construction and/or upgrades. Interest
rates on these loans range from 1.8% to 2.3%. State revolving loans outstanding as of
December 31, 2019 totaled $69.2 million.
Listed below are the Agency’s state revolving loans outstanding at December 31, 2019:











June 2005
November 2006
December 2009
December 2009
March 2016
March 2016
December 2017
December 2017
May 2019
May 2019



May 2019

Lower Reedy WRRF Expansion Phase II
Durbin Creek WRRF Upgrade and Expansion
Gravity Sewer and Manhole Rehabilitation Phase I
Gravity Sewer and Manhole Rehabilitation Phase II
FY15/16 Gravity Sewer and Manhole Rehabilitation
Richland Creek Trunk Sewer Improvements
FY17 Gravity Sewer and Manhole Rehabilitation
Reedy River Basin Sewer Tunnel
Gravity Sewer and Manhole Rehabilitation
Lower Reedy WRRF Digester Capacity Evaluation and
Improvements
Rock Creek Interceptor Upgrade

As of December 31, 2019, the remaining amount available to draw on the Reedy River Basin
Sewer Tunnel, Gravity Sewer Manhole Rehabilitation, Lower Reedy WRRF Digester Capacity
Improvements and Rock Creek Interceptor Upgrade totaled $48.8 million. Construction has been
completed and all funds received for the other projects listed above.
Total outstanding long-term debt
At December 31, 2019, the Agency owed $193.0 million (excluding premiums) in total long-term
debt, an increase of $2.0 million or 1.0% from $191.0 million at December 31, 2018.
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Renewable Water Resources
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Long-Term Liabilities, continued
Total outstanding long-term debt, continued
The Agency’s bond covenants require net earnings (as defined in respective loan agreements) to be
at least 110% of the combined annual principal and interest requirement (as defined in the
respective loan agreements) in the fiscal year. The Agency has not defaulted in the payment of
principal or interest or in any other material way with respect to any of its securities at any time,
nor has the Agency used the proceeds of any bonds for current operating expenses, nor does the
Agency intend to use the proceeds of any bonds for any such purposes. Based on the Agency’s
accompanying financial statements, the debt coverage ratio is calculated in Table A-5.
Table A-5
Debt Coverage (in millions)
Operating revenue
Investment revenue, unrestricted
Gross revenues
Less: operating expenses before depreciation
Net revenues available for debt service
Debt service
Debt coverage

FY 2019
$
98.8
1.9
100.7
42.2
$
58.5

FY 2018
$
96.8
1.0
97.8
38.7
$
59.1

$

$

28.7
204%

29.1
203%

During the year ended December 31, 2019, debt service payments decreased $0.4 million or 1.4%
to $28.7 million. Debt structure on revenue bonds varies year to year causing principal payments
to increase and decrease over the life of the bonds.
Table A-6 shows the average coupon/interest rate by issue.
Table A-6
Average Coupon/Interest Rate
Balance
(without
premiums)
(in millions)
$
18.2
10.3
4.6
41.7
12.5
11.4
25.1
69.2

Series 2005B refunding bonds
Series 2010A refunding bonds
Series 2010B revenue bonds
Series 2012 refunding bonds
Series 2015A refunding bonds
Series 2017A refunding bonds
Series 2018A refunding bonds
State revolving loans

Average
coupon/
interest rate
4.1%
3.4
2.7
2.9
2.0
2.1
5.0
2.1

More detailed information about the Agency’s long-term liabilities is presented in Notes 7, 8 and 9 of
the accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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Renewable Water Resources
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Economic Factors
The Agency is moderately impacted by economic trends. The Agency’s operating revenues are
derived solely from user fees, as the Agency does not receive any tax appropriation. The Agency
experienced domestic and commercial customer growth of 1.7% during the year ended
December 31, 2019.
The Agency’s customer base is diversified. No single customer represents more than 1.4% of ReWa’s
operating revenue.
Current economic conditions, such as the above, are considered by the Agency’s Commissioners and
Management when developing plans and budgets for the upcoming year.
Contacting the Agency’s Financial Department
This financial report is designed to provide our users and creditors with a general overview of the
Agency’s finances and to demonstrate the Agency’s accountability for funds received. If you have any
questions about this report or need additional financial information, please contact Patricia Dennis,
Controller, Renewable Water Resources, 561 Mauldin Road, Greenville, South Carolina 29607;
864-299-4000; or patriciad@re-wa.org.
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Renewable Water Resources
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2019
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Investments
Total current assets
Noncurrent assets
Investments
Restricted investments
Capital assets, net
Prepaid insurance
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred loss on refunding, net
Deferred outflows from pension
Deferred outflows from other postemployment benefits
Total deferred outflows of resources
Current liabilities
Revenue bonds payable
State revolving loans payable
Accounts payable - operations
Accounts payable - construction projects
Accrued interest payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Compensated absences
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Revenue bonds payable
State revolving loans payable
Compensated absences
Other postemployment benefits
Net pension liability
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources
Deferred inflows from pension
Deferred inflows from other postemployment benefits
Total deferred inflows of resources
Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Net position - restricted
Debt service
Capital asset replacement
Other
Net position - unrestricted
Total net position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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$

$
$

$
$

$

5,906,856
31,039,468
14,295,781
29,447,258
80,689,363
12,697,136
7,841,632
526,924,814
427,593
547,891,175
628,580,538
3,573,008
1,879,818
2,083,123
7,535,949
21,614,367
3,995,791
1,683,362
7,919,773
2,693,430
1,376,574
622,933
39,906,230
108,106,989
65,179,050
46,596
21,715,221
27,918,386
222,966,242
262,872,472

$

382,636
677,540
1,060,176

$

323,681,852

$

29,145,929
5,269,300
4,465,871
9,620,887
372,183,839

$

Renewable Water Resources
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Operating revenues
Domestic and commercial customers
Industrial customers
New account fees
Septic haulers and other

$

Total operating revenues

80,412,141
7,634,487
10,189,658
554,635
98,790,921

Operating expenses
Technical operations
Administration

26,582,939
15,594,231

Total operating expenses before depreciation
Depreciation

42,177,170
28,998,433

Total operating expenses

71,175,603

Operating income

27,615,318

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Investment revenue
Interest expense
Amortization
Debt issuance costs
Non-project expenses
Other revenue

1,931,849
(5,593,035)
(27,131)
(182,772)
(3,153,453)
256,335

Net nonoperating expenses

(6,768,207)

Capital project cost reimbursements

368,073

Increase in net position

21,215,184

Total net position, beginning of ear
Total net position, end of year

350,968,655
$ 372,183,839

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Renewable Water Resources
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Cash flows from operating activities
Received from customers
Paid to suppliers for goods and services
Paid to employees for services
Received from nonoperating revenues
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

97,164,226
(25,646,943)
(13,535,656)
256,335
58,237,962

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Cash received on notes receivable for capital
Acquisition of capital assets and project expenses
Proceeds from debt issuance
Principal payments on debt
Interest payments on debt
Debt issuance costs
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities

1,870,136
(50,666,367)
24,408,489
(22,483,063)
(6,216,614)
(182,772)
(53,270,191)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received on investments
Purchases of investment securities
Proceeds from sales of investment securities
Net cash used in investing activities

1,918,928
(28,764,356)
21,355,144
(5,490,284)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

(522,513)
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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37,468,837
36,946,324

Renewable Water Resources
Statement of Cash Flows, continued
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Reconciliation of operating income to net
cash flows from operating activities
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net
cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation
Other nonoperating revenue
Pension expense recognized in excess of contributions
Other postemployment expense recognized
Changes in asset and liability amounts
Receivables, net
Prepaid insurance
Accounts payable - operations
Accounts payable - construction projects
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Compensated absences
Net cash provided by operating activities
Noncash activities
Increase in fair value of investments
Amortization of prepaid bond insurance
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to statement of net position
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Total cash and cash equivalents

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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$

27,615,318

28,998,433
256,335
1,157,575
1,003,426

$

(1,626,695)
68,167
(96,589)
438,544
448,608
(25,160)
58,237,962

$

361,435

$

27,131

$

5,906,856
31,039,468
36,946,324

$

Notes to Financial Statements

C-18

Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Activities
Description of entity
Renewable Water Resources (the “Agency”), previously known as Western Carolina Regional Sewer
Authority, is a special purpose district created by the General Assembly of the State of South Carolina.
The Agency is governed by a commission consisting of 11 members who are appointed by the
Governor upon recommendation by the legislative delegations of Greenville, Anderson, Laurens and
Spartanburg Counties. The Agency provides wastewater treatment services for residents and industries
covering substantially all of Greenville County and portions of Anderson, Laurens, Pickens and
Spartanburg Counties. In fulfilling its functions, the Agency receives wastewater from the area's
collection systems, and owns and operates water resource recovery facilities (“WRRF”), pump stations
and trunk lines; which are collectively referred to as the “System”. It is the Agency's policy to
maintain customer user rates sufficient to meet operational and maintenance expenses, as well as to
pay debt service on bonds and notes issued to finance upgrading and maintaining the System.
Reporting entity
This report includes all operations of the Agency for which the Agency's Commissioners are
financially accountable.
Fund accounting
The Agency maintains a single enterprise fund to record its activities, which consists of a self-balancing
set of accounts. Enterprise funds are used to account for activities similar to those found in the private
sector, where the determination of net income is necessary or useful for sound financial administration.
Basis of accounting
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting as recommended by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”). Basis of accounting refers to the timing of recognition of
revenues and expenses. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues and receivables are
recognized when earned and expenses and liabilities are recognized when incurred, regardless of the
timing of related cash flows.
Budgetary practices
Annual budgets are prepared by management as a control device and adopted in accordance with South
Carolina Code of Laws Section 6-1-80.
Cash and cash equivalents
For purposes of reporting cash flows, the Agency considers all liquid investments with an original
maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Activities, continued
Investments
The Agency has adopted applicable accounting standards for its investments which clarify that fair value
is an exit price, representing the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The Agency utilizes market data or assumptions
that market participants would use in pricing. Investments in money market funds and certificates of
deposit are reported at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. All investments in U.S. agencies
notes and bonds and the South Carolina Investment Pool are reported at fair value and are categorized
within the fair value hierarchy established under accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAP”). The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair
value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs
are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. Gains or losses
that result from market fluctuation are reported in the current period. As of December 31, 2019,
investments in certificates of deposit and the South Carolina Investment Pool are valued using amortized
cost, while all of the Agency’s investments in U.S. agencies notes and bonds are valued using significant
other observable inputs (Level 2 inputs), such as bonds valued by a pricing service that uses matrix
pricing or a price or yield of a similar bond.
Restricted assets
Any unexpended bond proceeds issued by the Agency are classified as restricted assets because their
use is restricted to the purpose for which the bonds were originally issued. Additionally, certain
resources set aside for repayment of debt are classified as restricted assets because their use is limited
by applicable bond covenants. Cash and cash equivalents and investments included in the Agency’s
debt service and debt service reserve accounts are classified as restricted because their use is restricted
for security and debt service of the outstanding debt. When both restricted and unrestricted resources
are available for use, it is the Agency’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted
resources as needed.
Capital assets
Capital assets are stated at historical cost. The Agency capitalizes purchases of assets greater than
$5,000. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation. Depreciation
of capital assets is calculated on or using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets as follows:

Buildings and land improvements
Collection and trunk lines
Machinery and equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Vehicles and heavy equipment
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15 – 30 years
40 years
15 years
4 – 5 years
3 – 10 years

(Continued)

Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Activities, continued
Capital assets, continued
Intangible assets consisting of rights-of-way are recorded as capital assets at cost and considered to
have an indefinite useful life, therefore, they are not amortized. If changes in factors and conditions
result in the useful life of an intangible asset no longer being indefinite, the asset is evaluated for
impairment because a change in the expected duration of use of the asset has occurred. The carrying
value of the intangible asset, if any, following the recognition of any impairment loss, is amortized
over the remaining estimated useful life of the asset.
Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. The
Agency follows the guidance of GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before
the End of a Construction Period. Accordingly, interest incurred during the construction phase of
capital assets is not included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed.
The cost of fully depreciated assets and the related accumulated depreciation amounts are eliminated
from the accounts, whether the assets are retired or continue in service.
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially
extend the life of the asset are not capitalized.
The Agency has granted a statutory lien on the System to secure its revenue bonds and state revolving
loans.
Net position
Net position is classified into three components: net investment in capital assets, restricted and
unrestricted. These classifications are defined as follows:


Net investment in capital assets - This component of net position consists of capital assets,
including restricted capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the
outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes or other borrowings that are attributable to
the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. If there are unspent related debt
proceeds at year end, the portion of the debt attributable to the unspent proceeds is not included
in the calculation of net investment in capital assets. Instead, that portion of the debt is
included in the same net position component as the unspent proceeds.



Restricted - This component of net position consists of constraints placed on an asset’s use
through external constraints imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors,
contributors or laws or regulations of other governments or constraints imposed by law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.



Unrestricted - This component consists of net position that does not meet the definition of
“restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.”
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Activities, continued
Long-term obligations
Long-term debt and other obligations financed by the Agency are reported as liabilities on the
Statement of Net Position. Bond premiums and discounts are amortized over the life of the bonds
using methods which approximate the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the
applicable bond premium or discount. Issuance costs are expensed as incurred.
Deferred outflows/inflows of resources
In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial element, deferred outflows of resources,
represents consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized
as an outflow of resources (expense) until then. The Agency’s deferred loss on refunding, as well as
deferred pension and other postemployment benefits outflows of resources, qualify for reporting in this
category. A deferred loss on refunding results from the difference in carrying value of the refunded
debt and reacquisition price. The amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the
refunded or refunding debt. Pension and other postemployment benefits differences between expected
and actual experience with regard to economic and demographic factors are recognized as deferred
outflows/inflows of resources related to pension and other postemployment benefits and included in
the pension and other postemployment benefits expense over a period based on the average expected
remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with benefits through the plan.
Additionally, contributions to the pension and other postemployment benefits plans made after the
plans’ measurement date are reported as deferred outflows of resources.
In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial element, deferred inflows of resources,
represents the acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized
as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Agency’s deferred inflows from pension and
other postemployment benefits consist of differences between projected and actual experience.
Compensated absences
Vested vacation leave is recorded as an expense and liability as the benefits accrue to employees.
Revenues and receivables


Domestic and commercial customers - Revenues and receivables, based on water
consumption, are recognized when services are provided.



Industrial customers - Revenues and receivables, based on metered effluent and surcharges,
are recognized when services are provided.



Allowance for uncollectible accounts - An allowance for uncollectible accounts is estimated
based on historic bad debt levels, plus an amount for any specific doubtful accounts.
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Activities, continued
Operating revenues and expenses
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the
Agency’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the Agency are charges to
customers for wastewater conveyance and treatment services. Operating expenses include the cost of
services, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
Estimates
Preparation of the financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the Agency’s financial position and results of operations and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
New pronouncements
The Agency has implemented the following GASB pronouncement:
GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, Including Direct Borrowings and
Direct Placements, effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2018, was issued to improve the
information disclosed in the notes to financial statements related to debt, including direct borrowings
and direct placements. Statement No. 88 further clarifies which liabilities should be included when
disclosing information related to debt. This statement does not have a material impact on the Agency’s
financial statements.
GASB has issued several statements which have not yet been implemented by the Agency. The
following statements may have a future impact on the Agency:
GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2019, was issued
to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and
financial reporting for leases by governments. This statement increases the usefulness of financial
statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were
classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on
the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the
foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this
statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset,
and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby
enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing activities.
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Activities, continued
New pronouncements, continued
GASB Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020, was issued to enhance comparability in accounting and
financial reporting and to improve the consistency of authoritative literature by addressing issues that
have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB statements. This
statement addresses a variety of topics and includes specific provisions about the following GASB
statements:





GASB Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related
Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain
Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68.
GASB Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than
Pension Plans.
GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits
Other Than Pensions.
GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities.

Statement No. 92 is effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2020 for all addressed topics, with
the exception of those that apply to Statement No. 87, which is effective for periods beginning after
December 15, 2020.
Note 2 – Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments
As of December 31, 2019, the Agency had the following cash and cash equivalents and investments:
Cash and cash equivalents
Checking and other cash
Money markets - government obligations
Total cash and cash equivalents

$
$

Investments
Government sponsored enterprises
Certificates of deposit
U.S. Treasury notes
South Carolina Investment Pool
Total investments

$

$
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10,068,991
26,877,333
36,946,324
21,289,772
10,893,286
1,009,687
16,793,281
49,986,026
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Note 2 – Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments, continued
Investment maturities are as follows as of December 31, 2019:

Investment type
Certificates of deposit
South Carolina Investment Pool
U.S. agencies notes and bonds
Federal Home Loan Bank
Federal National Mortgage Association
Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Federal Farm Credit Bank
U.S. Treasury notes
Total

Fair value
$ 10,893,286
16,793,281

Investment maturities (in years)
Less than
More than
1 year
1 – 5 years
5 years
$ 6,643,944 $ 4,249,342 $
16,793,281
-

3,501,109
500,607
9,841,809
7,446,247
1,009,687
$ 49,986,026

2,502,716
500,607
3,006,710
$ 29,447,258

998,393
9,841,809
4,439,537
1,009,687
$ 20,538,768

$

-

Interest rate risk
The Agency’s investment policy requires structuring investment maturities and investment options to
manage its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.
Credit risk
State law limits investments to obligations of the United States and agencies thereof, general
obligations of the State of South Carolina or any of its political units, financial institutions to the extent
that the same are secured by Federal Deposit Insurance, and certificates of deposit where the
certificates are collaterally secured by securities of the type described above are held by a third party as
escrow agent or custodian, of a fair value not less than the amount of the certificates of deposit so
secured, including interest.
The Agency’s investment policy follows state law and requires, at the time of investment, the obligor
to have an unsecured credit rating in one of the top two categories. In addition, state law authorizes the
Agency to invest in the South Carolina Local Government Investment Pool (“SC Investment Pool”).
The SC Investment Pool was created by state legislation which restricts the types of securities the pool
can purchase. Specifically, the pool is permitted to purchase obligations of the United States, its
agencies and instrumentalities, and any corporation within the United States, if such obligations bear
any of the three highest ratings of at least two nationally-recognized rating services. The SC
Investment Pool is a qualifying pool, which provides that it operates in a manner consistent with
specified conservative investment strategies described in GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External
Investment Pool Participants. The SC Investment Pool is not rated. The total fair value of the pool is
apportioned to the entities with funds invested on an equal basis for each share owned, which are
acquired at $1.00. The SC Investment Pool does not contain any restrictive redemption limitations.
Funds may be deposited at any time and may be withdrawn upon 24 hours’ notice. Financial
statements for the SC Investment Pool may be obtained by writing the Office of State Treasurer, Local
Government Investment Pool, Post Office Box 11778, Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1950.
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Note 2 – Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments, continued
Credit risk, continued
The Agency’s investments at December 31, 2019 consist of SC Investment Pool shares, certificates of
deposit, U.S. Treasury notes and US agencies notes and bonds. The U.S. Treasury notes and
U.S. agencies notes and bonds were rated AA+ by Standard & Poor’s and/or Aaa by Moody’s
Investors Service as of December 31, 2019.
The Agency's cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2019 consist of cash and money market
accounts. Approximately $21.3 million of the money market funds are in First American Treasury
Obligations Fund Class Y which is assigned the highest credit rating by Standard & Poor's, Moody's
and Fitch. The remaining $5.6 million are held in business money market accounts which are not
currently rated but are collateralized.
Concentration of credit risk
In accordance with the Agency’s investment policy, all investments must be allowable under the
current state law. As a result, more than 5.0% of the Agency’s investments are in Government
sponsored enterprises due to the limited type of investment instruments available under current State
law. These investments are approximately 42.6% of the Agency’s total investments at
December 31, 2019.
Custodial credit risk deposits
Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Agency’s deposits may not be
returned to it. As of December 31, 2019, all of the Agency’s deposits were insured or collateralized
using one of two methods. Under the dedicated method, all uninsured deposits are collateralized with
securities held by the Agency’s agents in the Agency’s name. Under the pooling method, which is a
collateral pool, all uninsured deposits are collateralized with securities held by the State Treasurer’s
agents in the name of the State Treasurer. Since the State Treasurer is acting in a fiduciary capacity for
the Agency, these deposits are considered to be held by the Agency’s agents in the Agency’s name.
Note 3 – Receivables
Customer and other accounts receivables as of December 31, 2019 were as follows:

Fees and services
Domestic and commercial customers
Industrial customers
Total receivables from fees
Less: allowance for uncollectible accounts
Net receivables from fees
Accrued interest on cash equivalents and other receivables
Total receivables
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$

$

13,134,455
1,289,621
14,424,076
400,000
14,024,076
271,705
14,295,781

Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 4 – Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments
Provisions of the revenue bond and state revolving loan covenants require the Agency to establish
funds and restrict the use of certain cash and cash equivalents and investments. A brief description of
such funds follows:


Current principal and interest payments - restricts resources accumulated for the next
principal and interest payments.



Debt service reserves - restricts resources to cover potential future deficiencies in the current
principal and interest payments account.



Operations and maintenance - restricts resources to cover operating and maintenance
expenses for one month.



Capital asset replacement - restricts resources to fund asset replacements.



Contingencies - restricts resources to meet unexpected contingencies.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents and investments at December 31, 2019 are restricted for the
following uses:
Current principal and interest payments
Debt service reserves
Operations and maintenance
Capital asset replacement
Contingencies
Total restricted assets

$

$

21,304,081
7,841,848
3,465,871
5,269,300
1,000,000
38,881,100

Restricted assets consisted of the following at December 31, 2019:
Cash
Investments
Total restricted assets

$
$
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31,039,468
7,841,632
38,881,100

Renewable Water Resources
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Note 5 – Capital Assets
A summary of changes in capital assets from December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2019 follows
below:
December 31,

December 31,
Additions

2018
Capital assets not being depreciated
Construction in progress
Land
Rights-of-way
Total capital assets not being depreciated

$

69,265,971
5,331,079
1,343,135

$

49,697,658
972,982
427,700

Disposals

$

40,622,558
-

2019
$

78,341,071
6,304,061
1,770,835

75,940,185

51,098,340

40,622,558

86,415,967

Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings and land improvements
Collection and trunk lines
Machinery and equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Vehicles and heavy equipment

368,423,546
348,169,544
104,457,095
1,272,359
805,884

14,522,585
16,174,767
4,289,520
1,681,591
809,773

316,136
19,108
296,032

382,946,131
364,344,311
108,430,479
2,934,842
1,319,625

Total capital assets being depreciated

823,128,428

37,478,236

631,276

859,975,388

Less: accumulated depreciation
Buildings and land improvements
Collection and trunk lines
Machinery and equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Vehicles and heavy equipment

182,778,937
142,989,868
64,358,909
275,331
623,308

12,386,767
8,755,465
7,296,282
402,128
157,791

243,105
19,108
296,032

195,165,704
151,745,333
71,412,086
658,351
485,067

Total accumulated depreciation

391,026,353

28,998,433

558,245

419,466,541

Total capital assets being depreciated, net

432,102,075

8,479,803

73,031

440,508,847

40,695,589

$ 526,924,814

Capital assets, net

$ 508,042,260
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$

59,578,143

$
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Note 6 – Defeasance of Debt
The Agency previously defeased outstanding debt through the issuance of new debt with the proceeds
deposited in an irrevocable trust to provide for all debt service payments of the old debt. Thus, the
defeased debt and the irrevocable trust are not part of the financial statements. Outstanding principal
amounts of defeased bonds totaled $37,990,000 at December 31, 2019.
Deferred outflow of resources from defeasance loss
When a difference exists between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the old debt, a
deferred loss or gain is recorded and classified in the respective deferred outflow or inflow of resources
on the Statement of Net Position. This amount is amortized as a component of interest expense over
the remaining life of the old debt or new debt, whichever is shorter. As of December 31, 2019, the
Agency’s defeasance loss, net was $3,573,008.
Amortization of the defeasance loss for the period ended December 31, 2019 totaled $880,417.
Estimated future amortization expense is as follows:
Year ending
December 31,
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Total

Amortization
expense
$
779,713
718,247
716,121
709,497
649,430
$
3,573,008

Note 7 – Revenue Bonds Payable
At December 31, 2019, the Agency was obligated on various series of revenue bonds issued for purposes
of constructing capital assets, with all but Series 2015A and 2017A revenue bonds being publicly traded
debt. The Series 2015A and 2017A revenue bonds are direct placement. Revenue bonds outstanding at
December 31, 2019 are as follows:
$69,695,000 Series 2005B refunding revenue bonds dated March 15, 2005, with
interest at 2.6% to 5.1% payable semi-annually beginning September 1, 2005.
Beginning March 1, 2012, annual principal payments ranging from $5,180,000 to
$9,400,000 plus semi-annual payments of interest at 2.6% to 5.1%, payable through
March 2021.
$63,630,000 Series 2010A refunding revenue bonds dated July 9, 2010, with interest at
3.0% to 5.0% payable semi-annually beginning January 1, 2011. Beginning January 1,
2011, annual principal payments ranging from $1,665,000 to $5,585,000 plus semiannual payments of interest at 3.0% to 5.0%, payable through January 2021.
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$

18,155,000

10,300,000
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Note 7 – Revenue Bonds Payable, continued
$26,800,000 Series 2010B revenue bonds dated December 7, 2010, with interest at
2.0% to 5.8% payable semi-annually beginning July 1, 2011. Beginning January 1,
2012, annual principal payments ranging from $225,000 to $3,080,000 plus semiannual payments of interest at 2.0% to 5.8%, payable through January 2025.

4,625,000

$71,395,000 Series 2012 refunding revenue bonds dated March 20, 2012, with interest
at 2.0% to 5.0% payable semi-annually beginning July 1, 2012. Beginning January 1,
2014, annual principal payments ranging from $270,000 to $15,065,000 plus semiannual payments of interest at 2.0% to 5.0%, payable through January 2024.

41,680,000

$13,465,000 Series 2015A refunding revenue bonds dated October 7, 2015, with
annual principal payments ranging from $181,000 to $1,649,000 plus interest at 2.0%
payable semi-annually, through January 2025.

12,540,000

$11,736,000 Series 2017A refunding revenue bonds dated March 14, 2017, with annual
principal payments ranging from $141,000 to $2,387,000 plus interest at 2.1% payable
semi-annually, through March 2024.

11,448,000

$25,055,000 Series 2018A refunding revenue bonds dated October 11, 2018, with
annual principal payments ranging from $8,445,000 to $16,610,000 plus interest at
5.0% payable semi-annually, through January 2025.

25,055,000

Total revenue bonds payable
Premium on refunding bonds
Less: current maturities

123,803,000
5,918,356
21,614,367

Long-term portion

$

108,106,989

Amortization of bond premiums totaled $1,699,431 for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Future amounts required to pay principal and interest on revenue bonds outstanding at
December 31, 2019 are as follows:
Year ending
Principal

December 31,

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Total

$

19,842,000
20,611,000
19,964,000
20,974,000
21,073,000
21,339,000
$ 123,803,000
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Interest
$

$

4,667,989
3,747,826
3,010,185
2,302,856
1,416,264
483,426
15,628,546

Total
$

24,509,989
24,358,826
22,974,185
23,276,856
22,489,264
21,822,426
$ 139,431,546
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Note 7 – Revenue Bonds Payable, continued
Provisions of the revenue bond agreements require the Agency to maintain user rates sufficient to
generate net earnings as defined by the bond agreement of at least 110% of the combined annual
principal and interest payments, make timely payment of principal and interest on all outstanding debt,
maintain required funds for debt service reserves, operations and maintenance expenses, capital asset
replacement and contingencies and meet various other general requirements specified in the bond
agreements. Management believes the Agency was in compliance with these covenants at
December 31, 2019.
The outstanding bonds, as described above, contain a provision that upon the occurrence of an event of
default, the Trustee, along with bond holders with not less than 25% of outstanding bond principal, can
declare the outstanding bonds immediately due and payable. The portion of the outstanding bonds due
and payable includes the entire principal amount outstanding, plus all interest accrued thereon and
which will accrue thereon to the date of payment. Further, in such a default event, the Trustee may
demand from the Agency, as promptly as practicable after receipt thereof, all gross revenues, as well as
all moneys and securities held by the Agency or Bond Issuer under the respective Bond Resolutions in
force.
The Series 2005B bond is payable solely from and secured by a pledge of the gross revenues of the
Agency.
The Series 2010A, Series 2010B, Series 2012, Series 2015A, Series 2017A and Series 2018A bonds
are secured by a pledge of the gross revenues, net of operations and maintenance expenses, as defined
in the 2010 Bond Resolution, which is subordinate to the aforementioned Series 2005B pledge.
Interest expense on the revenue bonds totaled $5,237,258 for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Interest paid on the debt issued by the Agency is exempt from federal income tax. The Agency
sometimes temporarily reinvests the proceeds of such tax-exempt debt in higher-yielding taxable
securities, especially during construction projects. The federal tax code refers to this practice as
arbitrage. Excess earnings (the difference between the interest on the debt and the investment earnings
received) resulting from arbitrage must be rebated to the federal government. At December 31, 2019,
the Agency had no arbitrage rebate liability.
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Note 8 – State Revolving Loans Payable
At December 31, 2019, the Agency was obligated on various state revolving loans, constituting direct
borrowing issued for purposes of constructing capital assets. State revolving loan amounts outstanding
at December 31, 2019 are as follows:
$19,571,443 Lower Reedy Water Resource Recovery Facility Expansion Phase
II loan dated June 10, 2005. Payable in quarterly installments of $312,731,
including interest at 2.3%, through March 2027.

$

8,346,526

$27,800,000 Durbin Creek Water Resource Recovery Facility Upgrade and
Expansion loan dated November 14, 2006. Payable in quarterly installments of
$438,048, including interest at 2.3%, through March 2029.

14,595,422

$2,850,550 Gravity Sewer and Manhole Rehabilitation Phase I loan dated
December 9, 2009. Payable in quarterly installments of $42,187, including
interest at 1.8%, through November 2030.

1,679,942

$2,509,938 Gravity Sewer and Manhole Rehabilitation Phase II loan dated
December 9, 2009. Payable in quarterly installments of $38,755, including
interest at 2.2%, through January 2031.

1,537,034

$4,572,731 FY15/16 Gravity Sewer and Manhole Rehabilitation loan dated
March 25, 2016. Payable in quarterly installments of $49,400, including
interest at 1.8%, through November 2046.

4,218,170

$13,807,197 Richland Creek Trunk Sewer Improvements loan dated March 25,
2016. Payable in quarterly installments of $151,864, including interest at 1.8%,
through July 2047.

12,995,239

$1,529,876 FY17 Gravity Sewer and Manhole Rehabilitation loan dated
December 4, 2017. Payable in quarterly installments of $23,031, including
interest at 1.9%, through July 2038.

1,450,302

$42,392,434 Reedy River Basin Sewer Tunnel loan dated December 4, 2017.
Payable in 80 quarterly installments of $513,796, including interest at 1.9%,
followed by 40 quarterly installments of $340,365, including interest at 2.4%,
through April 2050. As of December 31, 2019, $23,264,468 of funds remain
available to be drawn in 2020.

19,127,966

$1,498,064 FY18 Gravity Sewer and Manhole Rehabilitation loan dated May
17, 2019. Payable in quarterly installments of $22,981, including interest at
2.1%, through July 2039. As of December 31, 2019, $943,699 of funds remain
available to be drawn in 2020.

539,249
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Note 8 – State Revolving Loans Payable, continued
$15,882,883 Lower Reedy WRRF Digester Capacity Evaluation and
Improvements loan dated May 17, 2019. Payable in quarterly installments of
$243,652, including interest at 2.1%, through May 2041. As of December 31,
2019, $14,307,102 of funds remain available to be drawn in 2020.

1,575,781

$13,411,050 Rock Creek Interceptor Upgrade loan dated May 17, 2019.
Payable in quarterly installments of $205,732, including interest at 2.1%,
through January 2041. As of December 31, 2019, $10,301,840 of funds remain
available to be drawn in 2020.
Total state revolving loans payable
Less: current maturities
Long-term portion

$

3,109,210
69,174,841
3,995,791
65,179,050

Interest expense on the state revolving loans totaled $1,174,791 for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Future amounts required to pay outstanding principal and interest on state revolving loans outstanding
at December 31, 2019 are as follows:
Year ending
December 31,

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 - 2029
2030 - 2034
2035 - 2039
2040 - 2044
2045 - 2047
Total

Principal
$
3,995,791
5,457,107
6,033,843
6,095,359
5,609,341
22,798,614
9,939,956
3,641,025
3,619,166
1,984,639
$ 69,174,841

Interest
$
1,312,650
2,007,754
2,124,053
1,997,255
1,573,949
5,483,625
3,022,134
675,665
352,054
51,335
$ 18,600,474

$

$

Total
5,308,441
7,464,861
8,157,896
8,092,614
7,183,290
28,282,239
12,962,090
4,316,690
3,971,220
2,035,974
87,775,315

Provisions of the state revolving loan agreements require the Agency to use loan proceeds solely for
the purpose of paying eligible project costs, submit the annual audit of its financial statements by
June 30, maintain user rates sufficient to make timely payment of principal and interest on all
outstanding debt, maintain required funds for current principal and interest payments, operations and
maintenance expenses, capital asset replacement and contingencies, review the adequacy of its user
rates at least annually and meet various other general requirements specified in the loan agreements.
Management believes the Agency was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2019.
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Note 8 – State Revolving Loans Payable, continued
The state revolving loans are on parity with the bonds issued under the 2010 Bond Resolution which is
subordinate to the Series 2005B pledge. The state revolving loans are secured by a pledge of the gross
revenues, net of operations and maintenance expenses, as defined in the 2010 Bond Resolution.
The outstanding revolving loans, as described above, contain a provision that upon the occurrence of
an event of default, the outstanding principal balance may be declared immediately due and payable.
The portion of the outstanding revolving loans due and payable includes the entire principal amount
outstanding, plus all interest accrued thereon and which will accrue thereon to the date of payment.
Note 9 – Changes in Long-Term Liabilities
Changes in long-term debt, compensated absences, other postemployment benefits (“OPEB”) and net
pension liability at December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2019 are as follows:
December 31,
2018

Additions

Reductions

December 31,
2019

Due within
one year

Revenue bonds
State revolving loans
Compensated absences
OPEB
Net pension liability
Subtotal
Premiums on bond issuance

$

143,012,000
48,040,415
694,689
19,394,154
27,424,970
238,566,228
7,617,787

$

24,408,489
591,605
3,108,828
1,329,742
29,438,664
-

$

19,209,000
3,274,063
616,765
787,761
836,326
24,723,915
1,699,431

$

123,803,000
69,174,841
669,529
21,715,221
27,918,386
243,280,977
5,918,356

$

19,842,000
3,995,791
622,933
24,460,724
1,772,367

Total

$

246,184,015

$

29,438,664

$

26,423,346

$

249,199,333

$

26,233,091
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Note 10 – Construction Contracts in Progress
At December 31, 2019, the Agency had commitments for various projects for the construction and
acquisition of property and equipment. Construction in progress is included in capital assets along
with land and land improvements, buildings, collection and trunk lines, machinery and equipment,
office furniture, vehicles and heavy equipment.
The following summarizes construction contracts in progress at December 31, 2019 on which
significant additional work is to be performed:
Contract
amount

Project name
5R Watershed Planning
Asset Management Program Implementation
Blossom Branch Sewer Improvements
Conestee Improvements
Flow Meters
2018 Sewer Rehab & Point Repairs
2019 Sewer Rehab & Point Repairs
Gilder Creek Phase III - Package 5
Grove Creek System EQ Pumping/Storage
Laboratory Improvements
Lower Reedy WRRF Digester Improvements
Marietta Regional PS & FM
Miscellaneous Conveyance System Planning
Mauldin Road & Lower Reedy PCS
Mauldin Road Comprehensive Facility Master Plan
Mauldin Road Demolition Phase I
Mauldin Road Process Improvements
Mauldin Road RAS PS Improvements
Mauldin Road Shop Building Addition
Mauldin Road Solar Power Improvements
Mauldin Road Storage Building
NE Laurel Creek Sewer Upgrade
NGU Regional WRRF
Payne Branch Basin Phase I
Pelham Generator Synchronization
Peppertree PS 1 & 2 Elimination
Peters Creek Gravity Sewer
Piedmont #5 PS Odor Control
Piedmont Regional Process Air Piping Modifications
Reedy River Basin Sewer Tunnel
Rock Creek Interceptor Upgrade
Rocky Creek PS & FM Upgrade
Saluda #2 PS Improvements
Saluda #3 PS Improvements
Sewage Works Building Upfit
Spartanburg County Sewer Master Plan
System Wide Biosolids Master Plan
Taylors WRRF Closeout Phase II
Wet Weather Program

$

Total

$ 139,891,946
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Total contract
incurred

1,053,352
539,004
496,000
562,610
441,525
1,632,564
2,852,613
4,209,125
207,100
14,196,257
18,747,024
207,000
138,700
5,649,844
486,910
570,300
1,045,500
459,535
225,620
3,596,114
258,757
434,390
881,150
672,400
489,740
338,143
2,399,441
803,600
647,500
49,372,434
14,914,836
506,675
1,841,443
1,983,579
535,474
172,700
357,710
1,000,532
4,964,745
$

Balance to be
performed

841,438
302,998
28,802
462,278
161,186
1,251,121
20,802
3,923,691
85,689
13,953,568
5,866,539
93,675
9,111
4,369,073
214,688
386,707
124,602
180,548
103,766
1,522,216
119,715
108,615
132,366
54,427
36,546
183,763
2,185,943
100,726
106,138
22,537,889
5,116,055
390,157
1,601,788
1,446,700
377,500
2,747
172,876
892,340
2,553,306

$

211,914
236,006
467,198
100,332
280,339
381,443
2,831,811
285,434
121,411
242,689
12,880,485
113,325
129,589
1,280,771
272,222
183,593
920,898
278,987
121,854
2,073,898
139,042
325,775
748,784
617,973
453,194
154,380
213,498
702,874
541,362
26,834,545
9,798,781
116,518
239,655
536,879
157,974
169,953
184,834
108,192
2,411,439

72,022,095

$

67,869,851
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Note 11 – Compensated Absences
Full-time employees of the Agency accumulate vacation benefits at 1 to 2 days per month, based on
length of service, up to 24 days per year. Annual leave in excess of 24 days at December 31 of each
year is forfeited. Annual leave earned up to 24 days is paid to employees upon separation from
employment. Accrued vacation benefits totaled $669,529 at December 31, 2019.
Note 12 – Employee Benefits
Pension plan
Plan description
Substantially all of the Agency’s employees are members of the South Carolina Retirement System
(the “SCRS”), a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the
South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority (“PEBA”), which is governed by an
11-member Board of Directors. The Retirement Funding and Administration Act of 2017, which
became effective July 1, 2017, increased the employer and employee contribution rates, established
a ceiling on the SCRS employee contribution rates, lowered the assumed rate of return, required a
scheduled reduction of the funding periods, and addressed various governance issues including the
assignment of the PEBA Board of Directors as custodian of the retirement trust funds and
assignment of the Retirement Systems Investment Commission (“RSIC”) and PEBA as co-trustees
and co-fiduciaries for the assets of the retirement trust funds. By law, the State Fiscal
Accountability Authority (“SFAA”), which consists of five elected officials, also reviews certain
PEBA Board decisions regarding the actuary of the SCRS.
The SCRS was established effective July 1, 1945, pursuant to the provisions of Section 9-1-20 of the
South Carolina Code of Laws for the purpose of providing retirement and other benefits for teachers
and employees of the state and its political subdivisions. The SCRS covers employees of state
agencies, public school districts, higher education institutions, other participating local subdivisions
of government and individuals newly elected to the South Carolina General Assembly at or after the
2012 general election. Generally, all employees of covered employers, are required to participate in
and contribute to the system as a condition of employment. Employees with an effective
membership date prior to July 1, 2012, are considered a Class Two member, whereas, employees
with an effective membership date on or after July 1, 2012, are considered a Class Three member.
PEBA issues a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) containing financial statements
and required supplementary information for the SCRS’ Pension Trust Funds. The CAFR is publicly
available on the Retirement Benefits’ link on PEBA’s website at www.peba.sc.gov, or a copy may be
obtained by submitting a request to PEBA, 202 Arbor Lake Drive, Columbia, South Carolina 29223.

34
C-36

(Continued)

Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 12 – Employee Benefits, continued
Pension plan, continued
Benefits
Benefit terms are prescribed in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. PEBA does not have
the authority to establish or amend benefit terms without a legislative change in the code of laws.
Key elements of the benefit calculation include the benefit multiplier, years of service and average
final compensation.
A brief summary of the benefit terms for SCRS is presented below.
A Class Two member who has separated from service with at least five or more years of earned
service is eligible for a monthly pension at age 65 or with 28 years credited service regardless of
age. A member may elect early retirement with reduced pension benefits payable at age 55 with
25 years of service credit. A Class Three member who has separated from service with at least
eight or more years of earned service is eligible for a monthly pension upon satisfying the Rule of
90 requirement that the total of the member’s age and the member’s creditable service equals at
least 90 years. Both Class Two and Three members are eligible to receive a reduced deferred
annuity at age 60 if they satisfy the five- or eight-year earned service requirement, respectively.
An incidental death benefit is also available to beneficiaries of active and retired members who
participate in the death benefit program.
The annual retirement allowance of eligible retirees or their surviving annuitants is increased by the
lesser of 1.0% or $500 every July 1. Only those annuitants in receipt of a benefit on July 1 of the
preceding year are eligible to receive the increase. Members who retire under the early retirement
provisions at age 55 with 25 years of service are not eligible for the benefit adjustment until the
second July 1 after reaching age 60 or the second July 1 after the date they would have had
28 years of service credit had they not retired.
Contributions
Actuarial valuations are performed annually by an external consulting actuary to ensure applicable
contribution rates satisfy the funding parameters specified in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of
Laws. Under these provisions, SCRS contribution requirements must be sufficient to maintain an
amortization period for the financing of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability over a period that
does not exceed the number of years scheduled in state statute. Legislation in 2017 increased, but
also established a ceiling for SCRS employee contribution rates. Effective July 1, 2017, employee
rates were increased to a capped rate of 9.0%, while employer contribution rates were increased by
two percentage points and further scheduled to increase by a minimum of one percentage point
each year through July 1, 2022. If the scheduled contributions are not sufficient to meet the funding
periods set in state statute, the board shall increase the employer contribution rates as necessary to
meet the funding periods set for the applicable year. The maximum funding period of SCRS is
scheduled to be reduced over a ten-year schedule from 30 years beginning fiscal year 2018 to
20 years by fiscal year 2028.
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 12 – Employee Benefits, continued
Pension plan, continued
Contributions, continued
Additionally, the PEBA Board of Directors is prohibited from decreasing the SCRS contribution
rates until the funded ratio is at least 85.0%. If the most recent annual actuarial valuation of the
Systems for funding purposes shows a ratio of the actuarial value of system assets to the actuarial
accrued liability of the system (the funded ratio) that is equal to or greater than 85.0%, then the
PEBA Board of Directors, effective on the following July first, may decrease the then current
contribution rates upon making a finding that the decrease will not result in a funded ratio of less
than 85.0%. If contribution rates are decreased pursuant to this provision, and the most recent
annual actuarial valuation of the system shows a funded ratio of less than 85.0%, then effective on
the following July first, and annually thereafter as necessary, the PEBA Board of Directors shall
increase the then current contribution rates until a subsequent annual actuarial valuation of the
system shows a funded ratio that is equal to or greater than 85.0%.
Plan members were required to contribute 9.0% of their annual covered salary for the period of
January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019, and the Agency was required to contribute 14.41% of
covered payroll for the period of January 1, 2019 to June 30, 2019 and 15.41% for the period
July 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019. An additional 0.15% of payroll is contributed to a group life
insurance benefit for the participants for the period ended December 31, 2019.
All required contributions for the year ended December 31, 2019 were made and are summarized
as follows:

Year ended
December 31,

Employer
SCRS

2019

$

1,942,662

Employee
SCRS
$

1,161,153

Net pension liability
At December 31, 2019, the Agency reported a liability of $27,918,386, for its proportionate share
of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, based on
the July 1, 2018 actuarial valuation. The total pension liability was rolled forward from the
valuation date to the plan’s year ended June 30, 2019, using generally accepted actuarial principles.
The Agency’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the Agency’s normal
contributions. At the June 30, 2019 measurement date, the Agency’s proportionate share was
0.122266%.
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 12 – Employee Benefits, continued
Pension plan, continued
Net pension liability, continued
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Agency recognized pension expense of $3,100,238 and
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from
the following sources:

Difference between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences between Agency's
contributions and proportionate share of contributions
Agency contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total

Deferred
outflows
of resources
$
19,191
562,596

Deferred
inflows
of resources
$
200,561
-

247,171

-

52,290
998,570
1,879,818

182,075
382,636

$

$

At December 31, 2019, the Agency reported $998,570 as deferred outflows of resources related to
pensions resulting from the Agency’s contributions subsequent to the measurement dates and will
be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending December 31, 2020.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:
Pension
expense

Year ending
December 31,
2020
2021
2022
2023
Total

$

$
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627,684
(237,650)
13,906
94,672
498,612
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 12 – Employee Benefits, continued
Pension plan, continued
Actuarial assumptions
Measurement of the total net pension liability requires the use of assumptions about numerous
future events that affect the benefit payments that will be made to employees in retirement.
Amounts determined during the valuation process are subject to continual revision as actual results
are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. South Carolina
State statute requires that an actuarial experience study be completed at least once in each five-year
period. The last experience study was performed on data through June 30, 2015. The following
provides a brief description of the significant actuarial assumptions applied to all periods included
in the measurements.
Cost method

Entry age normal

Investment rate of return

7.25%

Salary increases

3.0% plus step-rate increases for members
with less than 21 years of service

Inflation

2.25%

Benefit adjustments

Lesser of 1.0% or $500 annually

The post-retiree mortality assumption is dependent upon the member’s job category and gender.
The base mortality assumptions, the 2016 Public Retirees of South Carolina Mortality table (2016
PRSC), was developed using the systems’ mortality experience. These base rates are adjusted for
future improvement in mortality using published Scale AA projected from the year 2016.
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments is based upon 20-year capital
market assumptions. The long-term expected rates of returns represent assumptions developed
using an arithmetic building block approach primarily based on consensus expectations and market
based inputs. Expected returns are net of investment fees.
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 12 – Employee Benefits, continued
Pension plan, continued
Actuarial assumptions, continued
The expected investment returns, along with the expected inflation rate, form the basis for the
target asset allocation adopted at the beginning of PEBA’s 2019 fiscal year. For actuarial
purposes, the 7.25% assumed annual investment rate of return used in the calculation of the total
pension liability includes a 5.00% real rate of return and a 2.25% inflation component.

Asset class
Global equity - global public equity
Global equity - private equity
Global equity - options strategies
Real assets - private
Real assets - REITs
Real assets - private infrastructure
Real assets - public infrastructure
Opportunistic - GTAA
Opportunistic - other strategies
Credit - high yield bonds / bank loans
Credit - emerging markets
Credit - private debt
Rate Sensitive - core fixed income
Rate Sensitive - cash
Total

Target
allocation
35.00%
9.00%
7.00%
8.00%
1.00%
2.00%
1.00%
7.00%
1.00%
4.00%
4.00%
7.00%
13.00%
1.00%
100.00%

Inflation
Expected arithmetic nominal return

Expected
arithmetic real
rate of return
7.29%
7.67%
5.23%
5.59%
8.16%
5.03%
6.12%
3.09%
3.82%
3.14%
3.31%
5.49%
1.62%
31.00%

Long-term
expected
portfolio real
rate of return
2.55%
0.69%
0.37%
0.45%
0.08%
0.10%
0.06%
0.22%
0.04%
0.13%
0.13%
0.38%
0.21%
0.00%
5.41%
2.25%
7.66%
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 12 – Employee Benefits, continued
Pension plan, continued
Discount rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25%. The projection of cash
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from participating employers
in SCRS will be made based on the actuarially determined rates based on provisions in the South
Carolina State Code of Laws. Based on those assumptions, the SCRS’s fiduciary net position was
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
Sensitivity of the Agency’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the
discount rate
The following presents the Agency’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated
using the discount rate of 7.25%, as well as what the Agency’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point
lower (6.25%) or one percentage point higher (8.25%) than the current rate:
1.0%
Decrease
6.25%
$

35,171,325

Current
discount rate
7.25%
$ 27,918,386

1.0%
Increase
8.25%
$

21,865,390

Pension plan fiduciary net position
Detailed information regarding the fiduciary net position of the plans administered by PEBA is
available in the separately issued CAFR containing financial statements and required
supplementary information for SCRS. The CAFR is publicly available on the Retirement Benefits’
link on PEBA’s website at www.peba.sc.gov, or a copy may be obtained by submitting a request to
PEBA, 202 Arbor Lake Drive, Columbia, South Carolina 29223.
Deferred compensation plan
The Agency offers its employees multiple deferred compensation plans, created in accordance with
Internal Revenue Code Sections 401(k) and 457, which are administered and controlled by the State of
South Carolina. The plans, available to all the Agency employees, permit employees to defer a portion
of their salary until future years. Participation in the plans is optional. Certain employees of the
Agency have elected to participate. Compensation deferred under the plans is placed in trust for the
contributing employee. Great-West Retirement Services is the program administrator of the plans
based on the current state contract.
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 13 – Postemployment Healthcare Plan
Plan description
The Agency maintains a single-employer defined benefit plan (the “Plan”) to provide certain
postretirement healthcare benefits to all former regular full-time employees. Healthcare coverage
levels for retirees are the same as coverage provided to regular active full-time employees in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the South Carolina State Health Plan.
Benefits
The Agency contributes up to 81.2% of the monthly premium for retirees and covered dependents
based on the selected healthcare Plan. The amount contributed by the Agency is determined by PEBA.
This amount is based on the level of coverage selected by the retiree, not the Plan selected. The
Agency is under no statutory or contractual obligation to provide these postretirement healthcare
benefits. Because the Plan consists solely of the Agency’s commitment to provide OPEB through the
payment of premiums to insurance companies on behalf of its eligible retirees, no stand-alone financial
report is either available or generated.
Summary of membership information
The following table provides a summary of the number of participants in the Plan as of the June 30,
2019 measurement date:
Inactive Plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits
Inactive Plan members entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits
Active Plan members
Total Plan members

86
180
266

Contributions
The Agency contributes the following per retiree, per month based on the level of coverage selected,
and not the Plan selected by the retiree:
Employee
Retiree only
Retiree/spouse
Retiree/child(ren)
Family

$
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109
282
160
342

Employer
$

449
889
689
1,113
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 13 – Postemployment Healthcare Plan, continued
Changes in the OPEB obligation
Service cost
Interest on OPEB obligation
Difference between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions
Benefit payments
Net change in OPEB obligation
OPEB obligation, beginning of year
OPEB obligation, end of year

$

$

719,921
704,663
(595,133)
2,068,201
(576,585)
2,321,067
19,394,154
21,715,221

Discount rate

For Plans that do not have formal assets, the discount rate should equal the tax-exempt municipal bond
rate based on an index of 20-year general obligation bonds with an average AA credit rating as of the
measurement date. For the purpose of this valuation, the municipal bond rate is 3.13% (based on the
Fidelity “20-year Municipal GO AA Index” as of June 30, 2019). The discount rate was 3.62% as of
the prior measurement date.
Total OPEB liability
The Agency’s total OPEB liability of $21,715,221 was measured as of June 30, 2019 and was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2018.
Rollforward disclosure
The actuarial valuation was performed as of January 1, 2018. Update procedures were used to roll
forward the total OPEB liability to June 30, 2019.
Plan assets
There are no Plan assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph four of GASB
Statement No. 75.
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 13 – Postemployment Healthcare Plan, continued
Actuarial methods and assumptions
Projections of health benefits are based on the Plan as understood by the Agency and include the types
of benefits in force at the valuation date and the pattern of sharing benefit costs between the Agency
and its employees to that point. Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective and employ
methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets. Significant methods and assumptions were as follows:
Actuarial cost method

Individual Entry Age

Discount rate

3.13%

Payroll growth

3.0% to 7.0%, including inflation

Inflation

2.25% per annum

Experience studies

Based on the experience study covering the five-year
period ending June 30, 2015 as conducted for the SCRS

Mortality

For healthy retirees, the 2016 Public Retirees of South
Carolina Mortality Table for Females is used with fully
generational mortality projections based on Scale AA
from the year 2016. The following multipliers are applied
to the base tables: 100% for male SCRS members, 111%
for female SCRS members.

Medical care trend rates

Initial rate of 6.40% declining to an ultimate rate of 4.15%
after 15 years; ultimate trend rate includes a 0.15%
adjustment for excise tax

Participation rates

It was assumed that 90% of eligible retirees would choose
to receive retiree healthcare benefits through the employer.

Sensitivity of total OPEB liability to the discount rate assumption
The Sensitivity of Total OPEB Liability to Change in Discount Rate and Healthcare Trend Rate –
OPEB Plan’s liability was prepared using a discount rate of 3.13%, which was a change from 3.62%
applied in the prior year. If the discount rate were 1.0% higher than what was used in this valuation,
the OPEB Plan liability would decrease to $18,728,400 or by 13.8%. If the discount rate were 1.0%
lower than what was used in this valuation, the OPEB Plan liability would increase to $25,426,926 or
by 17.1%.

OPEB Plan

1.00% Decrease
$
25,426,926
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Discount rate
Baseline 3.13%
$
21,715,221

1.00% Increase
$
18,728,400
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Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 13 – Postemployment Healthcare Plan, continued
Sensitivity of total OPEB liability to the healthcare cost trend rate assumption
The June 30, 2019 OPEB Plan liability was prepared using an initial trend rate of 6.40%. If the trend
rate was 1.0% higher than what was used in this valuation, the OPEB Plan liability would increase to
$26,554,019 or by 22.3%. If the trend rate was 1.0% lower than what was used in this valuation, the
OPEB Plan liability would decrease to $17,998,013 or by 17.1%.

OPEB Plan

1.00% Decrease
$
17,998,013

Healthcare cost trend rate
Baseline 6.40%
1.00% Increase
$
21,715,221
$
26,554,019

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Agency recognized an increase in OPEB Plan liability of
$2,321,067 and reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to the OPEB Plan from the
following sources:

Deferred
outflows
of resources
Difference in expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date

$

$

1,785,598
297,525
2,083,123

Deferred
inflows
of resources
$
553,172
124,368
$
677,540

The $297,525 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from the Agency’s
contributions subsequent to the June 30, 2019 measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of
the OPEB liability in the year ending December 31, 2020.
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the
OPEB Plan will be recognized in OPEB expense for the year ended December 31, as follows:

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

$
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171,953
171,953
171,953
171,953
171,953
248,293
1,108,058

Renewable Water Resources
Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2019
Note 14 – Commitments
The Agency has contracted with nine local water utilities which have common customers to provide
billing and collection functions. The most significant is with the Commissioners of the Public Works
of the City of Greenville, South Carolina. The fee charged is subject to adjustment annually based
upon experience. The cost to the Agency for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $2.6 million,
which is included in administration operating expenses on the accompanying Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. For the year ending December 31, 2020, billing charges to the
Agency are estimated to cost approximately $3.0 million.
Note 15 – Contingencies
The Agency is from time to time subject to various claims, legal actions and other matters arising out
of the normal conduct of the Agency's operations. In particular, the Agency is regularly involved in
lawsuits related to acquiring rights-of-way for its use, which requires a determination of amounts of
just compensation to be paid to the owners. Based on prior experience and available information, the
Agency does not anticipate any lawsuits to be material to the basic financial statements.
Note 16 – Risk Management
The Agency is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Agency maintains
insurance coverage through the State of South Carolina, and manages risk through various employee
education and prevention programs. No significant reductions in insurance coverage have occurred
from the prior year to the current year. The amount of settlements has not exceeded insurance
coverage for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Agency believes the amount of actual or
potential claims as of December 31, 2019 will not materially affect the financial condition of the
Agency.
Note 17 – Subsequent Events
During January, February, and March 2020, the Agency executed eight contracts approximating
$2.3 million for capital projects and equipment purchases.
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Renewable Water Resources
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Funding Progress - Other Postemployment Benefits

Fiscal

Actuarial
valuation

Actuarial
value of
assets

year 1

date

(a)

2019
2018
2017
2016
2016
2015
2014
2013
2012
2011
2010

June 30, 2018
January 01, 2017
January 01, 2017
June 30, 2014
June 30, 2014
June 30, 2014
June 30, 2012
June 30, 2010
June 30, 2010
June 30, 2008
June 30, 2008

$

Actuarial
accrued
Unfunded
liability (AAL) AAL
entry age
(UAAL)

-

(b)

(b-a)

$ 21,715,221
19,394,154
18,556,497
12,325,758
12,325,758
12,325,758
11,756,531
8,780,194
8,780,194
8,417,369
8,417,369

$ 21,715,221
19,394,154
18,556,497
12,325,758
12,325,758
12,325,758
11,756,531
8,780,194
8,780,194
8,417,369
8,417,369

Funded
ratio

Covered
payroll

UAAL as a
percentage
of covered
payroll

(a/b)

(c)

((b-a)/c)

0.0%
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

$ 13,541,854
13,170,405
12,503,399
12,203,162
12,109,581
11,580,233
11,463,560
10,660,375
10,198,831
10,318,963
9,518,573

160.4%
147.3
140.4
101.1
101.8
106.4
102.6
82.3
86.1
81.6
88.4

1 - Prior to July 1, 2016, the Agency's fiscal year ended June 30. As of July 1, 2016, the Agency adopted a December 31
fiscal year end. Due to this change, the covered payroll of $12,203,162, for the first listed 2016 period, represents the
trailing twelve-month period ended December 31, 2016.
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Agency's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

Fiscal

Agency's
proportion of
net pension

Agency's
proportionate
share of the
net pension

Agency's

Agency's
proportionate
share of the
net pension
liability as a
percentage of

year 1

liability

liability

total payroll

total payroll

2019
2018
2017
2016
2015
2014
2013

0.122266%
0.122396
0.121972
0.125092
0.123507
0.126513
0.126513

$

27,918,386
27,424,970
27,457,859
26,719,467
23,423,698
21,781,344
22,691,919

$

13,208,153
12,677,569
12,276,416
12,109,581
11,960,378
11,961,237
11,261,359

1 - Represents South Carolina Retirement System's fiscal year, which is June 30.
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211.4%
216.3
223.7
220.6
195.8
182.1
201.5

Plan fiduciary
net position
as a percentage
of the
total pension
liability
54.4%
54.1
53.3
52.9
57.0
59.9
56.4

Renewable Water Resources
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Agency's Pension Contribution
Fiscal

Actuarial
required

Actual

Contribution
deficiency

Agency's

Contributions as
a percentage of

year 1

contribution

contributions

(excess)

total payroll

total payroll

2019
2018
2017
2016
2016
2015
2014
2013
2012
2011
2010

$

1,942,662
1,793,576
1,448,857
709,222
1,339,320
1,262,243
1,215,138
1,129,479
972,459
949,406
915,126

$

1,942,662
1,793,576

$

1,448,857
709,222
1,339,320
1,262,243
1,215,138
1,129,479
972,459
949,406
915,126

-

$

13,535,656
13,314,563

14.4%
13.5

12,926,984
6,124,376
12,109,581
11,960,378
11,961,237
11,261,359
10,666,643
10,305,949
9,981,382

11.2
11.6
11.1
10.6
10.2
10.0
9.1
9.2
9.2

1 - Prior to July 1, 2016, the Agency's fiscal year ended June 30. As of July 1, 2016, the Agency adopted a December 31
fiscal year end.
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FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL
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Renewable Water Resources
Greenville, South Carolina
Re:

Renewable Water Resources, South Carolina $__________ Sewer System Refunding Revenue
Bonds, Series 2020C and $________ Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020D
(Federally Taxable)

Ladies and Gentlemen:
We have acted as bond counsel to Renewable Water Resources, formerly known as Western
Carolina Regional Sewer Authority (the “Issuer”), in connection with the issuance of its $________ Sewer
System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020C (the “Series 2020C Bonds”) and its $________ Sewer
System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020D (Federally Taxable) (the “Series 2020D Bonds,” and
together with the Series 2020C Bonds, the “Series 2020 Bonds”). In such capacity, we have examined such
law and certified proceedings and other documents as we have deemed necessary to render this opinion.
The Series 2020 Bonds are issued pursuant to and in accordance with the Constitution and laws of
the State of South Carolina (the “State”), including particularly (i) Article X, Section 14(10) of the South
Carolina Constitution, (ii) Chapter 17 of Title 6, Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, and
(iii) a Bond Resolution adopted by the Renewable Water Resources Commission, the governing body of
the Issuer (the “Commission”) on June 14, 2010 (the “Bond Resolution”), as supplemented by a Series
Resolution adopted by the Commission on July 27, 2020 (the “Series Resolution,” and together with the
Bond Resolution, the “Resolutions”). Under the Resolutions, the Issuer has pledged that portion of the
Gross Revenues of the System which remain after the payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses
(as such terms are defined in the Bond Resolution) for the payment of principal, premium, if any, and
interest on the Series 2020 Bonds when due. Terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the
meaning assigned thereto in the Resolutions.
Regarding questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon representations of the
Issuer contained in the Resolutions and in the certified proceedings and other certifications of public
officials and others furnished to us without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation.
Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that:
1.
The Issuer is a body corporate and politic and a political subdivision of the State, with
power to adopt the Resolutions, perform the agreements on its part contained therein, and issue the Series
2020 Bonds.
2.
The Resolutions have been duly adopted by the Commission and constitutes a valid and
binding obligations of the Issuer enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with their terms.
3.
The Resolutions create a valid pledge of and lien on that portion of the Gross Revenues of
the System which remain after the payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses for the payment of
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Renewable Water Resources
[Date of Delivery]
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the Series 2020 Bonds on a parity with the pledge and lien in favor of other Bonds issued or to be issued
under the Resolutions. Such pledge and lien is junior and subordinate to the pledge of and lien upon Gross
Revenues securing the Senior Lien Bonds.
4.
The Series 2020 Bonds have been duly authorized and executed by the Issuer and are valid
and binding limited obligations of the Issuer, payable solely from that portion of the Gross Revenues of the
System that remain after the payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses as provided in the
Resolutions.
5.
Interest on the Series 2020C Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax. The
opinion set forth in the preceding sentence is subject to the condition that the Issuer comply with all
requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, that must be satisfied subsequent to the
issuance of the Series 2020C Bonds in order that the interest thereon be, and continue to be, excluded from
gross income for federal income tax purposes. The Issuer has covenanted to comply with all such
requirements. Failure to comply with certain of such requirements could cause interest on the Series 2020C
Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, in some cases retroactively to the
date of issuance of the Series 2020C Bonds.
6.
tax purposes.

Interest on the Series 2020D Bonds is not excluded from gross income for federal income

7.
Under existing laws of the State, the Series 2020 Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt
from all income taxation in said State, except estate, transfer and certain franchise taxes. It should be noted,
however, that Section 12-11-20, Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, imposes upon every
bank engaged in business in the State a fee or franchise tax computed on the entire net income of such bank,
which includes interest paid on the Series 2020 Bonds.
We express no opinion regarding federal, state or local tax consequences arising with respect to the
Series 2020 Bonds except as stated above.
The rights of the owners of the Series 2020 Bonds and the enforceability of the Series 2020 Bonds
and the Resolutions are limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and other similar
laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, and by equitable principles, whether considered at law or in
equity.
In our capacity as bond counsel, we express no opinion herein regarding the accuracy, adequacy,
or completeness of the official statement relating to the Series 2020 Bonds.
This opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to revise or supplement
this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention, or any changes
in law that may hereafter occur.
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Renewable Water Resources
[Date of Delivery]
Page | 3

We have been advised on this date that there is no litigation threatened or pending which, in any
manner, affects the validity of the Series 2020 Bonds.
Sincerely,

Pope Flynn, LLC
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE
This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (this “Disclosure Certificate”) is executed and delivered
this ___ day of September 2020, by Renewable Water Resources, South Carolina (the “Issuer”), in
connection with the issuance of the Issuer’s $__________ Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 2020C (the “Series 2020C Bonds”) and its $_______ Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 2020D (Federally Taxable) (the “Series 2020D Bonds,” and together with the Series 2020C Bonds,
the “Series 2020 Bonds”).
The Series 2020 Bonds are being issued pursuant to a bond resolution adopted by the Renewable
Water Resources Commission, the governing body of the Issuer (the “Commission”) on June 14, 2010
(the “Bond Resolution”) and a series resolution adopted by the Commission on July 27, 2020 (the “Series
Resolution,” which together with the Bond Resolution, will be referred to herein as the “Resolution”).
The Issuer covenants and agrees as follows:
Section 1 Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being executed
and delivered by the Issuer for the benefit of the holders and Beneficial Owners (defined herein) of the
Series 2020 Bonds and in order to assist the Participating Underwriters (hereinafter defined) in complying
with the Rule (defined herein).
Section 2 Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Resolution, which apply to
any capitalized terms used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined in this Section, the
following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:
“Annual Report” means the annual report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as described in,
Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate.
“Beneficial Owner” means any person which (a) has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or
consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Series 2020 Bonds (including persons holding
Series 2020 Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the owner
of any Series 2020 Bonds for federal income tax purposes.
“Business Day” means any day on which banks in the cities in which the principal office of the
Issuer and the Dissemination Agent are located are not authorized or required by law to remain closed.
“Dissemination Agent” means the Issuer, or any person designated as successor Dissemination
Agent in writing by the Issuer and which has filed with the Issuer a written acceptance of such
designation.
“EMMA” means the Electronic Municipal Market Access system described in SEC Release No.
34-59062 (or any successor electronic information system) and maintained by MSRB as the sole
repository for the central filing of electronic disclosure pursuant to the Rule.
“Financial Obligation” means (a) a debt obligation, (b) a derivative instrument entered into in
connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation,
or (c) a guarantee of either clause (a) or (b) above. The term “financial obligation” shall not include
municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been provided to the MSRB consistent with
the Rule.
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“Fiscal Year” means the period of 12 calendar months beginning January 1 and ending on the
next December 31.
“Issuer” means Renewable Water Resources, South Carolina.
“Listed Events” means any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure Certificate.
“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board or any other entity designated or
authorized by the SEC to receive reports pursuant to the Rule. Unless otherwise designated by MSRB or
the SEC, filings with the MSRB are to be made through EMMA.
“Official Statement” means the Official Statement dated _________, 2020, prepared in
connection with the issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds.
“Participating Underwriter” means any of the original underwriters of the Series 2020 Bonds
required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of the Series 2020 Bonds.
“Rule” means Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.
“State” means the State of South Carolina.
“State Repository” means a public or private repository designated by the State as a state
information repository for the purposes of the Rule and recognized as such by the SEC. As of the date
hereof, there is no State Repository.
Section 3 Provision of Annual Reports.
(a)
The Issuer shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than seven (7)
months after the close of the Issuer’s Fiscal Year, commencing with the report for the Fiscal Year ended
December 31, 2020, provide to the MSRB an Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of
Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as
separate documents comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in
Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate; provided, however, that the audited financial statements may be
submitted separately from the remainder of the Annual Report, and later than the date required for the
filing of the Annual Report if they are not available by that date. If the Issuer’s Fiscal Year changes, it
shall give notice of such change in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(a) hereof.
(b)
Not later than fifteen (15) Business Days prior to date the Annual Report is due, the
Issuer shall provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination Agent, if other than then Issuer. If the Issuer
is unable to provide to the MSRB an Annual Report by the date required in subsection (a) above, the
Issuer shall send a notice to the MSRB in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.
Section 4 Contents of Annual Reports. The Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by
reference the following:
(a)
The audited financial statements of the Issuer for the Issuer’s most recently completed
Fiscal Year, prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America as promulgated to apply to governmental entities from time to time by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (or if not in conformity, to be accompanied by a qualitative discussion of the
differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles on the
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presentation of the financial information). If such audited financial statements are not available by the
time the Annual Report is required to be filed pursuant to Section 3(a) hereof, the Annual Report shall
include unaudited financial statements in a formal similar to the financial statements included in the final
Official Statement, and the audited financial statements shall be filed in the same manner as the Annual
Report when they become available.
(b)
To the extent not included in the financial statements referred to in subsection (a) above,
an update of the financial and operating data and figures as of a date not earlier than the Issuer’s most
recently completed Fiscal Year of the general type included in the tables set forth under the following
headings in the Official Statement in such format as the Issuer deems appropriate:
(i)

FINANCIAL FACTORS – Debt Service Requirements (table showing debt
service requirements on Senior Lien Bonds and Bonds);

(ii)

FINANCIAL FACTORS – Summary of Revenues and Expenses (table showing
statement of revenues and expenses and changes in net position);

(iii)

FINANCIAL FACTORS – Historical Coverage (table showing Net Earnings
calculation and debt service coverage);

(iv)

THE ISSUER – Rates of the Issuer (schedule showing base fee and volumetric
fee); and

(v)

THE ISSUER – Historical Accounts of the Issuer (table showing total number of
accounts).

The Annual Report may consist of one or more documents. Any or all of the items listed above
may be included by specific reference to other documents, including official statements of debt issues of
the Issuer, which have been made available to the public on EMMA. The Issuer shall clearly identify each
such other document so included by reference.
Section 5 Reporting of Listed Events.
(a)
The Issuer shall promptly, and no later than 10 Business Days after the occurrence of one
of the following Listed Events, file a notice of such occurrence through EMMA:
(i)

principal and interest payment delinquencies;

(ii)

non-payment related defaults, if material;

(iii)

unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

(iv)

unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

(v)

substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

(vi)

adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed
or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of
the Series 2020 Bonds or other material events affecting the tax status of the
Series 2020 Bonds;
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(vii)

modification to the rights of the beneficial owners of the Series 2020 Bonds, if
material;

(viii)

bond calls, if material, and tender offers;

(ix)

defeasances;

(x)

release, substitution or sale of any property securing repayment of the Series
2020 Bonds, if material;

(xi)

rating changes;

(xii)

bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Issuer;

(xiii)

the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Issuer
or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer, other than in the
ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake
such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such
actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material;

(xiv)

appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a
trustee, if material;

(xv)

incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Issuer, if material, or agreement to
covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a
Financial Obligation of the Issuer, any of which affect security holders, if
material; and

(xvi)

default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other
similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the Issuer, any of
which reflect financial difficulties.

Section 6 Filing Format. All documents provided to the MSRB pursuant to this Disclosure
Certificate shall be submitted in electronic format and shall identify the Series 2020 Bonds by such
identifying information as described from time to time by the MSRB.
Section 7 Termination of Reporting Obligation. The Issuer’s obligations under this Disclosure
Certificate shall terminate upon the legal defeasance or payment in full of all of the Series 2020 Bonds,
provided, however, that if the Rule (or any successor provision) shall be amended, modified, or changed
so that all or any part of the information currently required to be provided thereunder shall no longer be
required to be provided thereunder, then such information shall no longer be required to be provided
hereunder; and provided further that if and to the extent the Rule (or any successor provision), or any
provision thereof, shall be declared by a court of competent and final jurisdiction to be, in whole or in
part, invalid, unconstitutional, null and void, or otherwise inapplicable to the Series 2020 Bonds, then the
information required to be provided hereunder, insofar as it was required to be provided by a provision of
the Rule so declared, shall no longer be required to be provided hereunder. Upon any legal defeasance,
the Issuer shall electronically file notice of such defeasance with the MSRB, and such notice shall state
whether the Series 2020 Bonds have been defeased to maturity or to redemption and the timing of such
maturity or redemption.
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Section 8 Dissemination Agent. The Issuer shall be the initial Dissemination Agent, and if at any
time there is not any other designated Dissemination Agent, the Issuer shall be the Dissemination Agent.
The Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination Agent to assist in its carrying out
its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or
without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. The Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible
in any manner for the content of any notice or report prepared by the Issuer pursuant to this Disclosure
Certificate. The designation of a Dissemination Agent shall not in any way affect any of the obligations,
liabilities, or responsibilities of the Issuer hereunder, and the Issuer shall be directly liable with respect to
any and all of its obligations, liabilities, and responsibilities hereunder notwithstanding its appointment of
a Dissemination Agent.
Section 9 Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure
Certificate, the Issuer may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and any provision of this Disclosure
Certificate may be waived, provided that the following conditions are satisfied:
(a)
If the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4 or 5(a) hereof, it
may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal
requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of an obligated person (within the
meaning of the Rule) with respect to the Series 2020 Bonds, or the type of business conducted;
(b)
This Disclosure Certificate, as amended or taking into account such waiver, would, in the
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the
time of the original issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or
interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and
(c)
The amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by the Holders in the same manner as
provided in the Resolution for amendments to the Resolution with the consent of the Holders, or (ii) does
not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the interests of the Holders
and Beneficial Owners of the Series 2020 Bonds.
In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of this Disclosure Certificate, the Issuer
shall describe such amendment in the next Annual Report, and shall include, as applicable, a narrative
explanation of the reason for the amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or in the case of a
change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of financial information or operating data being
presented by the Issuer. In addition, if the amendment relates to the accounting principles to be followed
in preparing financial statements, (i) notice of such change shall be given by filing with the MSRB and
(ii) the Annual Report for the year in which the change is made should present a comparison (in narrative
form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the financial statements as prepared on the basis
of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles.
Section 10 Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed to
prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in
this Disclosure Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other information in
any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this
Disclosure Certificate. If the Issuer chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of
occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure
Certificate, the Issuer shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Certificate to update such
information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event or any
other event required to be reported.
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Section 11 Default. In the event of a failure of the Issuer to comply with any provision of this
Disclosure Certificate, any holder or Beneficial Owner of the Series 2020 Bonds may take such actions as
may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandamus or specific performance by court order,
to cause the Issuer to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate. A default under this
Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed an event of default under the 2020 Series Resolution and shall
not result in the acceleration of the Series 2020 Bonds, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure
Certificate in the event of any failure of the Issuer to comply with this Disclosure Certificate shall be an
action to compel performance.
Section 12 Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent. The Dissemination Agent
shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Certificate, and the Issuer
agrees, to the extent the Issuer is not the Dissemination Agent and to the extent permitted by law, to
indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent, its officers, directors, employees, and agents harmless
against any loss, expense, and liabilities which it may incur arising out of or in the exercise or
performance of its powers and duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses (including attorneys’
fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but excluding liabilities due to the Dissemination Agent’s
gross negligence or willful misconduct. The obligations of the Issuer under this Section shall survive
resignation or removal of the Dissemination Agent and payment of the Bonds.
Section 13 Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of the
Issuer, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriter and Holders and Beneficial Owners from
time to time of the Series 2020 Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity. This
Disclosure Certificate is not intended to create any monetary rights on behalf of any person.
RENEWABLE WATER RESOURCES,
SOUTH CAROLINA
By: _____________________________________
Executive Director
Date: October __, 2020
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EXHIBIT A
NOTICE TO MUNICIPAL SECURITIES RULEMAKING BOARD
OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT

Name of Issuer:

Renewable Water Resources, South Carolina

Name of Bonds:

$___________ Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020C
$___________ Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020D
(Federally Taxable)

Date of Issuance:

October __, 2020

CUSIP:
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Issuer has not provided an Annual Report with respect to
the above-named bonds (the “Series 2020 Bonds”) on or before the date required by the Continuing
Disclosure Certificate executed by the Issuer with respect to the Series 2020 Bonds. The Issuer
anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by ______________.
RENEWABLE WATER RESOURCES, SOUTH CAROLINA

Date: ________________
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